



DEPARTMENT OF BIOMEDICAL AND BIOTECHNOLOGICAL SCIENCES

Ph.D. in BIOTECHNOLOGY

CURRICULUM IN BIOMEDICAL AND PRECLINICAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

XXXIV CYCLE

Alessandra Tempio

Role of 5-HT₇ receptors for serotonin in mitochondrial activity and in the pathophysiology of Fragile X Syndrome

PhD Thesis

Coordinator: Prof. Vito De Pinto Supervisor: Prof. Lucia Ciranna Co-Supervisors: Prof. Marcello Leopoldo, Dr. Lara Costa, Dr. Barbara Bardoni

ACADEMIC YEAR 2019-2022

Table of contents

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS			
AFFILIATIONS 4			
Abstract	·	. 5	
Sommar	io	. 6	
CHAPTE	R 1: Introduction	. 7	
1.1	Fragile X syndrome: genetic view	. 8	
1.2	Clinical aspects of Fragile X Syndrome	10	
1.3	Fragile X Syndrome diagnostic criteria	12	
1.4	Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP)	13	
1.5	Animal models of Fragile X Syndrome	20	
1.6	Synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus	24	
1.7	Metabotropic Glutamate receptor-induced long-term depression (mGluR-LTD)	29	
1.8	Alterations of dendritic morphology in Fragile X Syndrome	32	
1.9	Mitochondrial alterations in Fragile X Syndrome	33	
1.10	5-HT7 receptors	38	
1.11	The cAMP theory in Fragile X syndrome	42	
1.12	Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5)	43	
CHAPTE	R 2: Aim of the study	46	
CHAPTE	R 3: Materials and methods	48	
3.1 Ele	ectrophysiology	48	
3.2 Cell Culture			
3.3 Mitochondrial Enriched Fraction			
3.4 Western Blot analysis 49			
3.5 Complex IV activity measurements			
3.6 SH-SY5Y Membrane Preparation for Saturation-Binding Assay			
3.7 Sa	turation-Binding Assay	51	
3.8 Rapid Golgi staining			
3.9 Genotyping			
3.10 S	tatistical analysis	52	
CHAPTE	R 4: Results	53	
4.1 Blockade of Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 (Cdk5) in WT neurons enhanced mGluR-LTD and abolished 5- HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD53			
4.2 Blockade of Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 (Cdk5) abolished 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR- LTD also in Fmr1 KO neurons			
4.3 Inhibition of Akt abolished mGluR-LTD in wild-type but not in Fmr1 KO neurons			

4.4 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in Fmr1 KO neurons did not require activation of Akt
4.5 mGluR-LTD requires protein translation in wild-type but not in Fmr1 KO neurons
4.6 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in <i>Fmr1</i> KO neurons required protein translation 59
4.7 Two different isoforms of 5-HT7 receptors are located in the cytosolic and mitochondrial fractions in SH-SY5Y
4.8 Saturation-Binding Assay confirms the presence of 5-HT7Rs in mitochondria
4.9 Administration of SB-269970 (but not LP-211) to mitochondria weakly influences Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain (MRC) Cytochrome c Oxidase activity
4.10 Activation of GABA _A receptors induced comparable inhibitory effects in WT and <i>Kcc2</i> mutant hippocampal neurons
4.11 R857G mutation in <i>Kcc2</i> gene does not influence the KCC2 protein expression in hippocampus and in cortex
4.12 R857G mutation in Kcc2 gene does not influence the morphology of dendritic spines in terms of density and length in hippocampus and cortex between wild type and Kcc2 mutant mice
CHAPTER 5: Discussion
Conclusions
References
PUBLICATIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

4E-BPs	eiF4e-binding proteins
5-HT	Serotonin
5-HTR	5-HT receptor
аа	aminoacid
AC	Adenylate Cyclase
Ach	Acetylcholine
ADHD	Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder
AMPAR	Glutamatergic a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
	receptors
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
APRA	Antibody-positioned RNA amplification
Arc	Activity-regulated cytoskeletal associated protein
ASD	Autism spectrum disorders
ATP	Adenosine tri-phosphate
CA	Cornu ammonis
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CamKIIa	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type II alpha subunit
Cdk5	Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5
CE	Capillary electrophoresis
CFC	Contextual fear conditioning
CYFIP1	Cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein
CLIP	Crosslinking-Immunoprecipitation
CNS	Central nervous system
CoQ	Coenzyme Q
DG	Dentate gyrus
DHPG	Dihydroxyphenylglycine
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DRN	Dorsal raphe nuclei
EC	Entorhinal cortex
EF1a	Elongation factor 1a
EF2	Elongation factor 2
EF2K	Eukaryotic elongation factor 2 kinase
elF4	Eukaryotic initiation factor 4
ERK	Extracellular-signal regulated kinase
ES	Embryonic stem cells
FAD	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FC	Fear conditioning
FMRP	Fragile x mental retardation protein
FXAND	Fragile X-associated neuropsychiatric disorders
FXPOI	Fragile X-associated primary ovarian insufficiency
FXS	Fragile x syndrome
FXTAS	Fragile-X associated tremor/ataxia syndrome
G4 structures	G-quadruplex structures
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
gDNA	Genomic DNA

GPCRs	G protein-coupled receptors
GTP	Guanosine-5'-triphosphate
H3K4me3	Tri-methilation on the lysin in position 4 of the Histon H3
H3K36me3	Tri-methilation on the lysin in position 36 of the Histon H3
H4K8ac	Acetylation on the lysin in position 8 of Histone H4
H4K19ac	Acetylation on the lysin in position 19 of Histone H4
HITS-CLIP	High-throughput sequencing crosslinking-Immunoprecipitation
hnRNPs	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins
IA	Inhibitory avoidance
ID	Intellectual disability
IP ₃	Inositol trisphosphate
Kcc2	K ⁺ -Cl ⁻ cotrasporter
КО	Knockout
KSRP	KH-type splicing regulatory protein
LTP	Long term potentiation
LTD	Long term depression
m ⁷ GTP	7-methyl- Guanosine-5'-triphosphate
mAChRs	Acetylcholine (ACh) muscarinic receptors
MAP1B	Microtubule associated protein 1b
mG3P-DH	Mitochondrial Glycerol-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
mGluRs	Metabotropic glutamate receptors
mGluR-LTD	Metabotropic Glutamate receptor- mediated long-term depression
MAP	Microtubule associated protein
MAPK	Microtubule associated protein kinase
MK	MAP kinase-activated protein kinase
МКК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MNK	MAP kinase-interacting serine/threonine-protein kinase
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
miRNA	Micro ribonucleic acid
MRN	Median raphe nuclei
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
mTORC1	Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
neo	Neomycin
NES	Nuclear export sequences
NKCC1	Na-K-2Cl cotransporter isoform 1
NLS	Nuclear localization sequence
Nova	Neuro-oncological ventral antigen
NPR	Neuronal pentraxin receptor
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation
PC	Purkinje cells
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PF	Parallel fiber
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinases
PIKE	PI3K enhancer
РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase c

Phospholipase C
Peripheral nervous system
Perforant path
Protein Phosphatase 2A catalytic sub-unit
Post synaptic density
Arginine-glycine-glycine box
Ribonucleoprotein Immunoprecipitation
RNA-induced silencing complex
Reactive oxygen species
Ribonucleic acid
Ribosomal S6 kinase
Superoxide dismutase
Striatal-enriched tyrosine phosphatase
Tumor necrosis factor- α -converting enzyme
Tone fear conditioning
Transfer ribonucleic acid
Wild-type

Key words:

Fragile X Syndrome, Autism spectrum disorders, Mitochondria, Serotonin, 5-HT7, protein translation, Akt, Cdk5, LP-211, Synaptic plasticity, mGluR-LTD.

AFFILIATIONS

This work was supported by a fellowship by the PhD Program in Biotechnology from the University

of Catania (Catania, Italy).

The work for this thesis was carried out as a joint-PhD program in the laboratories of:



Prof. Lucia Ciranna

Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences

Via S. Sofia, 89,

95123 Catania (CT), Italy



Prof. Marcello Leopoldo

Dipartimento di Farmacia Via Edoardo Orabona, 4, Biofordrug s.r.l., 70126 Bari (BA), Italy 1 February 2019 – 31 July 2019

1 purc

Dr. Barbara Bardoni IPMC - CNRS UMR7275, Université Côte d'Azur, 660 Route des Lucioles, SOPHIA ANTIPOLIS 06560 Valbonne, France 1 May 2021 – 15 December 2021

Abstract

Fragile X syndrome (FXS) is a genetic cause of intellectual disability and autism. *Fmr1* knockout (*Fmr1* KO) mice, a murine model of FXS, exhibit impairment in mitochondrial activity and in synaptic plasticity, with an exaggerated long-term depression induced by activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR-LTD). Our research group has previously demonstrated that activation of serotonin 5-HT₇ receptors reverses the mGluR-LTD in the hippocampus of wild-type (WT) and *Fmr1* KO mice.

Here I highlighted some molecular mechanism involved in 5-HT₇-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in the synapse between CA3 and CA1 pyramidal neurons using the patch clamp technique on hippocampal slices from wild-type and *Fmr1* KO mice. My data indicate that the blockade of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) enhanced mGluR-LTD in WT hippocampal neurons to the level observed in *Fmr1* KO neurons and abolished the 5-HT₇-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD both in WT and *Fmr1* KO neurons, showing that Cdk5 is involved in 5-HT₇ –mediated reversal effect. In addition, my data indicate that Akt inhibition abolished the mGluR-LTD in WT, but not in *Fmr1* KO mice, pointing out that Akt is essential for mGluR-LTD only in WT slices. Moreover, in presence of an inhibitor of Akt, the effect induced by the activation of 5-HT₇ receptor on mGluR-LTD was not abolished; thereby 5-HT₇-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD. When the inhibitor of mRNA translation anisomycin was present in the intracellular solution, mGluR-LTD was abolished in WT but not in *Fmr1* KO neurons, indicating that protein translation is necessary for mGluR-LTD only in WT neurons. Additionally, my data show that 5-HT₇ -mediated effect on mGluR-LTD was abolished in the presence of anisomycin, thus required protein translation.

Lastly, I demonstrated for the first time that 5-HT₇ receptors are present in mitochondria of a neuroblastoma cell line and the application of a 5-HT₇ inverse agonist weakly influenced the mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase.

Sommario

La sindrome del cromosoma X fragile (FXS) è una malattia genetica ereditaria che causa disabilità intellettiva e autismo. Il modello murino della patologia, il topo *Fmr1* knock-out (KO), presenta alterazioni nella attività mitocondriale e nella plasticità sinaptica, fra cui una esagerata depressione a lungo termine mediata dall'attivazione dei recettori metabotropi per il glutammato (mGluR-LTD). Il nostro gruppo di ricerca ha precedentemente dimostrato che l'attivazione del recettore 5-HT₇ per la serotonina reverte mGluR-LTD nell'ippocampo di topi wild-type (WT) e *Fmr1* KO. Pertanto, durante il mio dottorato ho studiato alcuni meccanismi molecolari intracellulari implicati nella reversione della mGluR-LTD indotta dalla attivazione di recettori 5-HT₇ , utilizzando la tecnica del patch clamp in fettine di ippocampo di topi WT e *Fmr1* KO. I nostri dati indicano che il blocco della chinasi ciclina dipendente (Cdk5) aumentava mGluR-LTD in neuroni ippocampali WT ad un livello comparabile rispetto a quello osservato in neuroni *Fmr1* KO, indicando che l'attivazione di Cdk5 è necessaria per il meccanismo di reversione indotto dal recettore 5-HT₇.

Successivamente, ho valutato il ruolo della chinasi Akt nei meccanismi alla base della mGluR-LTD e nella sua reversione mediata da recettori 5-HT₇. L'inibizione di Akt aboliva la mGluR-LTD in neuroni WT ma non in neuroni *Fmr1* KO. Inoltre, l'attivazione del recettore 5-HT₇ era in grado di revertire mGluR-LTD nonostante la presenza di un inibitore della chinasi Akt, quindi l'attivazione di Akt non è necessaria per il meccanismo di reversione indotto dal recettore 5-HT₇.

Inoltre ho valutato il ruolo della sintesi proteica nella mGluR-LTD utilizzando l'anisomicina (un inibitore della sintesi proteica). In presenza di anisomicina, la mGluR-LTD era abolita in neuroni WT ma non in neuroni *Fmr1* KO e la reversione di mGluR-LTD mediata dall'attivazione del recettore 5-HT₇ era abolita, dimostrando che l'effetto indotto dai recettori 5-HT₇ richiede sintesi proteica.

Infine, i miei dati hanno dimostrato per la prima volta la presenza del recettore 5-HT₇ nei mitocondri isolati da una linea cellulare di neuroblastoma. L'attività di un agonista inverso per il recettore 5-HT₇ influenzava l'attività dell'enzima citocromo c ossidasi, conosciuto come il complesso IV della catena respiratoria mitocondriale.

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

Fragile X Syndrome (FXS) is a genetic form of intellectual disability associated with autism, mood disorders and epilepsy in about one third of patients (Berry-Kravis et al., 2011; Hagerman et al., 2017b). In FXS, the FMR1 gene is silenced; as a consequence, the expression of its gene product, the Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein (FMRP), is strongly reduced or entirely absent. FMRP rules the expression of a large number of synaptic proteins (Sidorov et al., 2013), which are essential for the correct function of cerebral circuits and for synaptic plasticity. Synaptic plasticity represents the ability of the nervous system to remodel the connectivity between neurons, modifying the functionality of synaptic networks. Among the different forms of synaptic plasticity described in the hippocampus, long-term depression induced by activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR-LTD) plays an important role in learning and behaviour (Lüscher and Huber, 2010). In FXS, the congenital lack of the FMRP protein causes abnormalities in the morphology of synapses and in synaptic plasticity in brain areas responsible for learning and memory, including the frontal cortex and hippocampus. In Fmr1 knockout (KO) mice, a murine model of this disease, dendritic spines display abnormal and immature morphology (Bakker et al., 1994; Comery et al., 1997), mGluR-LTD is exaggerated (Huber et al., 2002) and cortical mitochondria show an altered oxidative phosphorylation (D'Antoni et al., 2020; Griffiths et al., 2020; Licznerski et al., 2020).

Serotonin, or 5-hydroxytriptamine (5-HT), is a neurotransmitter involved in many physiological processes such as mood, perception, aggression, anxiety, appetite and respiratory stability (Abela et al., 2020; Cervantes-Durán et al., 2013; Cummings and Leiter, 2020; Hannon and Hoyer, 2008; Nichols and Nichols, 2008; Paulus and Mintz, 2016). 5-HT activates several receptor subtypes that influence the excitability of hippocampal neurons (Ciranna, 2006) and modulates hippocampus-dependent cognitive functions (King et al., 2008; Perez-Garcia and Meneses, 2008). The research group with whom I have worked during my PhD has demonstrated that activation of serotonin 5-HT7 receptors is able to reduce the excessive mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO hippocampal neurons (Costa et al., 2012) and rescue learning and behaviour impairment in *Fmr1* KO mice (Costa et al., 2018), thus might became a novel pharmacological strategy for FXS therapy.

In the experimental work for my PhD thesis, I have studied the effects of activation of serotonin 5-HT7 receptors on long term synaptic plasticity in a murine model of FXS and on mitochondrial functions in an immortalized neuronal cell line.

7

1.1 Fragile X syndrome: genetic view

Fragile X Syndrome (FXS, OMIM #300624), also known as Martin-Bell Syndrome, was first described by Martin and Bell in 1943 as a form of intellectual disability (ID) following an X-linked inheritance (Martin and Bell, 1943). The disease takes its name from a rare fragile site called FRAXA (Xq27.3) on the X chromosome (Sutherland and Baker, 2000). A chromosome fragile site is a chromosomal locus that tends to form a gap or break in condensed metaphase chromosome following exposure of cells to DNA replication stress (Bjerregaard et al., 2018; Durkin and Glover, 2007). Using folate deficiency, it was possible to recognise the FRAXA fragile site at the tip of the X chromosome long arm, in Xq27.3 locus. Folic acid plays a critical role in maintaining genomic stability; it is required for DNA repair, to prevent chromosome breakage and to reduce DNA methylation. In case of folate deficiency, the incorporation of uracil into DNA rather than thymine leads to accumulation of dUMP, causing singleand double-stranded DNA breaks, chromosome breakage, and micronucleus formation (Leopardi et al., 2006; Lindberg et al., 2007). In 1969, Lubs reported a fragile site on the X chromosome and the association of the Xq27.3 fragile site with X-linked intellectual disability was confirmed in 1991 (Lubs, 1969; Verkerk et al., 1991).

Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP), the protein coded by FMR1 gene silenced in FXS, is an RNA binding protein with a prominent role in the regulation of many mRNAs in neuronal postsynaptic membranes (Hagerman et al., 2017a). The absence of FMRP is due to the expansion of a CGG triplet repeat in the 5' untranslated region of the fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1) gene. This expanded CGG repeat coincided with the fragile site at the end of the X chromosome (Verkerk et al., 1991; Xie et al., 2016).

The FMR1 gene has about 40 kilobases (kb), encoding an mRNA of 3.9 kb, consisting of a ~0.2 kb 5' untranslated region, a 1.9 kb protein coding region, and a 1.8 kb 3' untranslated region (Verkerk et al., 1991). It is composed of 17 exons and its pre-mRNA transcript is subjected to alternative splicing of exons 12 and 14 (Ashley et al., 1993; Verkerk et al., 1993): those lacking the exon 12 sequences are major products, while those lacking exon 14 appear expressed at a very low level (Sittler et al., 1996). The longest human *FMR1* mRNA, which shares 97% sequence identity with the mouse *Fmr1* ortholog, at the amino acid level encodes for a protein of 71 kDa (kilodaltons) with 632 aminoacids that contains a variety of functional sequences and domains, many of which are influenced by alternative splicing of the pre-mRNA (Denman et al., 2004; Dolzhanskaya et al., 2006; Sittler et al., 1996).

The expansion of the trinucleotide CGG located in the 5'-untranslated promoter region of FMR1 gene above normal range (greater than 54 repeats) is responsible for the development of fragile X-associated disorders in individuals carrying the premutation (55–200 CGG repeats), including fragile-X associated tremor/ataxia syndrome (FXTAS) (Hagerman et al., 2001; Jacquemont et al., 2003), fragile X-associated primary ovarian insufficiency (FXPOI) (Sherman, 2000) and fragile X-associated neuropsychiatric disorders (FXAND) (Hagerman et al., 2018) and causes Fragile X Syndrome (FXS) in patients carrying the full mutation (greater than 200 CGG repeats) leading to methylation, transcriptional silencing and to either the absence or a deficiency of FMRP (Salcedo-Arellano et al., 2020). *FMR1* premutation is associated with disorders that are caused by excessive transcription of *FMR1* (Tassone et al., 2007), in contrast to the gene silencing caused by the full mutation in individuals with FXS (Tassone et al., 2000).

Some individuals with FXS have mosaicism of CGG repeat lengths, with some cells harbouring full mutation alleles and others harbouring premutation alleles (Hagerman et al., 2017a). Other individuals with FXS have methylation mosaicism, with some cells containing methylated *FMR1* alleles and others with unmethylated *FMR1* alleles. Both types of mosaicism will support the production of some FMRP, so those individuals might have less-severe cognitive and behavioural defects than patients with a full mutation that is completely methylated, in whom FMRP is absent. With the frequent use of high-throughput targeted screening techniques and whole-exome sequencing in clinical practice, an increasing number of individuals with a deletion or point mutation in *FMR1* have been reported, which represent <1% of individuals with FXS (Myrick et al., 2014; Quartier et al., 2017). These mutations lead to a dysfunction or absence of FMRP, inducing FXS features which can be either different or similar to those of FXS patients with the full mutation.

Males with a full mutation almost invariably express some features of FXS, whereas females with a full mutation have a broad spectrum of symptoms ranging from severe impairment to apparently normal function (Zeesman et al., 2004). Although the repeat is highly stable when transmitted from individuals with normal alleles (6–44 CGGs), premutation alleles (55–200 CGGs) are unstable and tend to increase in size when passed from generation to generation and frequently expand to the full mutation in one generation (Fu et al., 1991; Nolin et al., 2003). This risk of full mutation expansion increases with maternal CGG repeat length to nearly 100% for mothers with >90 CGGs (Nolin et al., 2011), whereas a 56-repeat allele is the smallest known to expand to a full mutation in one generation (Fu et al., 2009). Nevertheless, the AGGs interspersed within the

FMR1 repeat region increase the stability of the gene (Eichler et al., 1994). The presence of even a single AGG significantly reduced the risk of full mutation expansions for alleles with <80 repeats (Nolin et al., 2015). This effect is most evident for alleles <70 repeats. As the total repeat length increases beyond 70, the allele instability is substantial despite the presence of the AGG interruptions they may contain. Once the repeat length exceeds 90 repeats, there is no apparent effect of AGG interruptions.

The gender of the transmitting parent is an important factor in the transmission of fragile X syndrome. It has long been accepted that individuals with fragile X syndrome have received their mutant allele from their mothers: the expansion to a full mutation occurs in maternal transmissions; virtually all premutation alleles from males are passed to daughters as premutation alleles (Nolin et al., 2003; Nolin et al., 2008; Nolin et al., 2019) although two rare examples of full mutation transmissions from fathers have been reported (Alvarez-Mora et al., 2017; Zeesman et al., 2004). Males with full mutations have full mutation alleles in their somatic cells, but only premutation size alleles are present in sperm (Reyniers et al., 1993; Willems et al., 1992).

1.2 Clinical aspects of Fragile X Syndrome

In FXS, the lack of FMRP, a regulator of translation, leads to dysregulation of hundreds of proteins that affect synaptic plasticity and connectivity in the developing brain, leading to intellectual disability (ID) and other clinical features of the syndrome (Danesi et al., 2018; Gatto et al., 2014; Higashimori et al., 2013; Pilaz et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2004).

The manifestations of FXS are variable and depend on sex, age, background genetic effects, environmental influence, level of gene methylation and presence of mosaicism, which lead to differences in FMRP level production (Dyer-Friedman et al., 2002; Hagerman, 2002; Loesch et al., 2004). Females typically have less-severe manifestations than males, as *FMR1* on the other X chromosome can produce FMRP. Cognition impairment involves 30% of individuals with an IQ less than 70 (intellectual disability), 30% with an IQ in the borderline range (Kates et al., 1997; Reiss et al., 1994) and 30% with an IQ in the normal range (above 80), but anxiety and attentional problems frequently occur (Hagerman et al., 2017a).

10

The physical features of FXS include long face, broad forehead, high palate, prominent ears, and in males macroorchidism that develops during the puberty (Hagerman, 2002; Heulens et al., 2013; Kidd et al., 2014). However, classic facial characteristics have differences inherent to age and ethnicity (Lubala et al., 2018). In addition to commonly recognized characteristics, patients can present variable alterations of connective tissue, attributed to FMRP dysregulation of essential components of the extracellular matrix, including elastin. Other manifestations of FXS related to loose connective tissue include hernias, joint dislocations and flat feet with pronation (Hagerman, 2002; Kidd et al., 2014). Phenotypic findings related to connective problems include soft velvet-like skin, joint hyperextensibility, particularly in the fingers, double jointed thumbs, flat feet with pronation, mitral valve prolapse, dilated aortic root and occasional scoliosis (Ramírez-Cheyne et al., 2019).

Infants with FXS are often affected by hypotonia, emesis due to frequent reflux events, an initial poor latch or suck with breastfeeding (Hagerman, 2002). Most patients present delays in language development and emerging hyperactivity, anxiety and sensory over-reactivity in the second year of life (Berry-Kravis et al., 2010; Cordeiro et al., 2011; Hogan et al., 2017). Recurrent otitis media is observed in >60% of patients in the first few years of life and usually requires the insertion of ventilation tubes (pressure-equalization tubes) to normalize hearing. After the first year of life, tactile defensiveness begins to emerge, individuals have poor eye contact and a tendency to handflap with excitement; hand biting or chewing on clothes are also common. Up to 20% of patients have crossed eyes or lazy eyes and if this persists after the first year of life, ophthalmological treatment is needed (Hagerman, 2002). Many children with FXS have emerging anxiety and sensory hyperarousal in their second year of life, and once they are able to walk, they typically become hyperactive (Verkerk et al., 1991). Indeed, 80% of boys with FXS have substantial hyperactivity by 3–4 years of age and are diagnosed with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), whereas only 40% of girls with FXS are diagnosed with ADHD by school age (Cornish et al., 2013; Cornish et al., 2007). Subjects with FXS have stronger and more frequent responses and reduced habituation to sensory stimulations (e.g., olfactory, auditory, visual, tactile, and vestibular stimuli) as measured by electrodermal responses (Miller et al., 1999). Children begin overstuffing their mouth with food because of sensory deficits by 3 years of age, and obesity is reported in ~35% of patients by adolescence (McLennan et al., 2011). If hypotonia is a substantial problem during infancy, motor delays in sitting and walking might occur. Seizures occur in ~8–16% of males and 3–7% of females with FXS, typically present in the first 5 years of life, and are the most substantial medical problem

for children with FXS (Berry-Kravis et al., 2010; Kidd et al., 2014; Musumeci et al., 1999). Seizures are most commonly partial complex seizures but can also be generalized tonic-clonic or absence seizures. Symptoms of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) can develop during early childhood, and \sim 50–60% of males and 20% of females with FXS also have ASD (Harris et al., 2008; Kaufmann et al., 2004; Kaufmann et al., 2017; McDuffie et al., 2015; Roberts et al., 2009). Intellectual disability is common in males with FXS, although ~15% of males (predominantly those with mosaicism) and 70% of females have an IQ in the borderline to normal range but have learning and emotional problems (De Vries et al., 1996; Loesch et al., 2004). After puberty, there is a tendency for improvement of the most problematic behaviours during childhood, including aggression, hyperactivity and irritability. Nevertheless, many of the initial symptoms of FXS, such as anxiety and poor attention, persist into adulthood, and ~86% of males and 77% of females with FXS meet the diagnostic criteria for an anxiety disorder (Cordeiro et al., 2011). During adulthood, patients with FXS seem to have an increased risk of hypertension, obesity, gastrointestinal disorders, mood disorders and anxiety. 17% of patients with FXS can present with symptoms of parkinsonism and dementia (Sauna-Aho et al., 2018; Utari et al., 2010). However, patients with FXS have a normal life span. Individuals with FXS can also have sleep disturbances, mainly waking up in the middle of the night and not being able to go back to sleep, especially in the first 3–4 years of life (Hagerman, 2002).

1.3 Fragile X Syndrome diagnostic criteria

The diagnosis of FXS can only be confirmed using genetic testing through the identification of the CGG expansion. Prior to the identification of the *FMR1* gene, culturing cells in a folate-deficient medium followed by cytogenetic analysis was the method of choice for FXS diagnosis. However, this approach, while assessing for the presence of "fragile sites" (visualized as discontinuity of staining in the region of the gene) on the long arm of the X chromosome, proved to be difficult (Sutherland et al., 1985) as the fragile site was often seen only in small percent of cells. This was not as much as of a problem in males, where the fragile site could generally be seen in at least 10% of cells, but rather in female, where the mutation often could not be visualized.

The gold standard DNA methodologies for the diagnosis of FXS use a combination of polymerase chain reaction (PCR), particularly useful for CGG sizing within the premutation range and, Southern blot analysis for sizing larger alleles and for determining their methylation status (Tassone, 2015).

The genomic DNA (gDNA) can be isolated from whole blood, tissue, saliva or culture cells. Isolated gDNA can be amplified by PCR or digested with methylation sensitive restriction enzymes for

Southern blot analysis. Conventional PCR using primers that flank the CGG repeat can amplify *FMR1* alleles containing CGG repeat usually up the lower premutation range. The alleles can be visualized either on an agarose gel, on an acrylamide gel or by capillary electrophoresis (CE).

In particular, the use of the triplet-primed PCR assay is the preferred test worldwide, because it detects alleles throughout the expanded range, including the premutation in both males and females, and provides a much more accurate determination of allele size within the premutation range. Triple primer PCR assay utilizes two *FMR1* specific primers that flank the CGG repeat as well as a third primer that is complementary to the CGG repeat element (CGG primer). The PCR produces both full-length gene-specific *FMR1* amplicons as well as triplet repeat-specific products visualized on CE as a series of peaks. In addition, triplet-primed PCR enables the mapping of AGG interruption sequences, which are interspersed and present within the CGG region of *FMR1*.

Although several methodologies can amplify alleles throughout the full mutation range (Chen et al., 2010; Lyon et al., 2010; Saluto et al., 2005; Strom et al., 2007) they cannot determine methylation status, the epigenetic modification leading to FXS. This is of relevance for the diagnosis of FXS as the degree of methylation has been shown to be associated with the degree of intellectual disabilities and/or of the clinical involvement (Hagerman, 2002; Hagerman et al., 1994; McConkie-Rosell et al., 1993; Pretto et al., 2014; Snow et al., 1993). Methylation specific PCR approaches using bisulfite modification of the CGG repeat sequence are based on the conversion of unmethylated cytosine into uracil residues, with methylated cytosine remaining resistant to this modification (Susan et al., 1994). When amplified and sequenced, this "modified DNA" can provide information about methylation at specific CpG sites within the amplified DNA sequence (Laird, 2010).

1.4 Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP)

The origin of all changes that lead to the molecular, pathological and clinical symptoms shown by individuals with FXS is the absence or the deficiency of Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP). FMRP is the *Fmr1* gene product that belongs to the family of the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins (hnRNPs), whose function is the regulation of mRNA metabolism (Bassani et al., 2013). FMRP is distributed in neurons throughout the mouse brain at all ages (Gholizadeh et al., 2015). The expression patterns of FMRP during development shows a decrement in mice, with high levels of expression at PN 7–14 and thereafter a progressive reduction (Bonaccorso et al., 2015; Gholizadeh et al., 2004). During this period, FMRP is mainly present in neurons of cingulate cortex, hippocampus, striatum and cerebellum but it is also present in astrocytes,

microglia and oligodendrocytes precursor cells in the developing brain (Gholizadeh et al., 2015). The correlation of peak levels of FMRP expression with synaptic formation, consistent with FMRP localization in synaptic structures, highlight a crucial role for FMRP in the formation, maturation, stabilization and elimination of synapses. Consistent with this idea, loss of FMRP results in increased synaptic number and morphological differences during early postnatal development (Antar et al., 2006; Bilousova et al., 2009; Nimchinsky et al., 2001).

The FMR1 gene encodes a total of 11 known FMRP isoforms in humans, as a result of alternative splicing (Zhang et al., 2019). These FMRP isoforms share a highly conserved N-terminal block of ~400 residues and variable C-terminal sequences with varying mRNA-binding affinities.

The most prevalent form of FMRP in humans contains 632 amino acids and is a classic RNA binding protein containing at least three canonical RNA binding motifs : two hnRNP K homology (KH1 and KH2) domains and an arginine-glycine-glycine (RGG) box in the C-terminal region (Nelson et al., 2013). A GXXG loop in the KH1 and KH2 domains of FMRP is conserved in many RNA-binding KH domains, such as the KH-type splicing regulatory protein (KSRP) and neuro-oncological ventral antigen (Nova-1 and 2) proteins, further suggesting that FMRP KH domains play a role in binding-specific RNAs (Hollingworth et al., 2012; Nicastro et al., 2015). A third KH domain was discovered upstream of the KH1 domain through x-ray crystallography, termed KH0 (Fu et al., 1991; Hu et al., 2015; Myrick et al., 2015). FMRP predominantly binds long mRNA (Li et al., 2020; Sawicka et al., 2019; Van Driesche et al., 2019) to the coding regions of mRNAs rather than 5' or 3'-UTRs, unlike most other RNA binding proteins (Richter and Zhao, 2021).

The amino terminal region of FMRP contains two Agenet/Tudor domains that interact with RNA, chromatin and other proteins (Adinolfi et al., 2003; Myrick et al., 2015; Myrick et al., 2014). FMRP also contains nuclear localization (NLS) and nuclear export sequences (NES) that direct its shuttling between nucleus and cytoplasm (Eberhart et al., 1996). At steady state, however, the protein is predominantly cytoplasmic.

Unlike other KH motif-containing RNA binding proteins, all three FMRP KH domains weakly bind single stranded RNAs and may require higher order secondary structures to confer specificity (Athar and Joseph, 2020). In an initial study, 432 FMRP-bound RNAs were identified through a ribonucleoprotein Immunoprecipitation (RIP) and 8 of the 12 top ranked recognized targets have a

G-quadruplex (G4) structure (Brown et al., 2001; Schaeffer et al., 2001). The RNA G-quadruplex is a secondary structure formed by sequences where guanine is the predominant base (Fay et al., 2017). G-tetrads are formed when guanines are organized into planar quartets where each base is connected to two other bases. When three or more G-quartets stack onto one another, they form a stable righthanded helical structure and in such vertical stacking, metal ions such as monovalent cations can intercalate into the central anionic core of a G-tetrad to coordinate, stabilize hydrogenbonded tetrads, and enhance base-stacking interactions. The G-quadruplex regulates different steps of RNA metabolism; concerning FMRP interaction, it has also been shown to be involved in not only the regulation of translation but also mRNA transport along dendrites and axons (Beaudoin and Perreault, 2013; Melko and Bardoni, 2010). The FMRP RGG box can bind the G-quadruplex (Melko and Bardoni, 2010) which is present in several mRNAs, among which mRNAs coding for MAP1B (MicrotubuleAssociated Protein 1B), PP2Ac (Protein Phosphatase 2A catalytic sub-unit), APP, CamKIIa and Semaphorin3F (Darnell et al., 2001; Melko and Bardoni, 2010; Schaeffer et al., 2001).

The interaction between FMRP and the RNAs through a G-quadruplex structure was confirmed by another study where FMRP antibody-directed amplification of mRNA sequestered in FMRP-containing mRNPs (APRA) found G4 structures in many FMRP-bound mRNAs (Miyashiro et al., 2003). Nevertheless, RIP and APRA are lacking specificity and do not recognize the mRNA binding sites. In order to identify RNA-FMRP interaction, a crosslinking-immunoprecipitation (CLIP) was performed and a very large number of FMRP mRNA targets were identified in the mouse brain, most of which have been previously linked to autism (Maurin et al., 2018a).

Through a cumulative distribution of analysis, mRNA targets of FMRP carry a G4 forming motif. Thus FMRP regulates translation of mRNAs with G-quadruplex Structures (Edwards and Joseph, 2022) but not all mRNA targets harbour this motif (Melko and Bardoni, 2010).

The molecular bases of interaction between FMRP and RNA are still unknown. The sequence ACUK (K = G or U) and WGGA (W = A or U) are enriched in FMRP targets (Ascano et al., 2012) but they are essential but not sufficient to mediate the FMRP-RNA interactions (Maurin and Bardoni, 2018; Maurin et al., 2015; Suhl et al., 2014). Maurin and collegues identified a consensus sequence CTGKA bound by FMRP and two other less prominent motifs TAY and GWRGA (Maurin et al., 2018a). All the sequences can negatively modulate FMRP translational regulation consistent with the repressor function on translation made by FMRP. Nevertheless, FMRP was also found to stimulate translation of some target mRNAs. In addition to the RNA G-quadruplex secondary structure, FMRP can bind

mRNA through a SoSLIP (<u>Sod1 Stem Loop Interacting with FMRP</u>) structure (Bechara et al., 2009). SoSLIP is a triple stem-loop structure and acts as an FMRP-dependent translational enhancer and as a mild internal ribosome binding site (IRES) in an FMRP-independent manner. FMRP enhances translation of the superoxide dismutase 1 (*Sod1*) mRNA when it interacts with the SoSLIP structure. Sod1 is an oxidative-stress-mitigating enzyme and in absence of FMRP, the enzyme expression is reduced, leading to an increased oxidative stress in the brain.

FMRP target mRNAs encode for proteins involved in cell signalling and in cell communication (Miyashiro et al., 2003), synaptic transmission and neuronal activity (Darnell et al., 2011; Maurin et al., 2018a; Van Driesche et al., 2019), transcription signalling (Sawicka et al., 2019), microtubule organization for axon transport (Maurin et al., 2018a; Sawicka et al., 2019; Van Driesche et al., 2019), mechanisms of circadian rhythm (Sawicka et al., 2019), neurogenesis and both axonal and dendritic morphogenesis (Li et al., 2020; Sawicka et al., 2019).

FMRP is widely detected in all mammalian tissues, with the highest expression levels in the brain and testes (Devys et al., 1993). In the adult brain, FMRP is highly expressed in the hippocampus, nucleus basalis and in the granule layer of the cerebellum (Bardoni et al., 2001; Cornish et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2009). In neurons, FMRP is detectable in the nucleus as well as in dendrites and axons, at both pre- and postsynaptic sites (Christie et al., 2009). In addition, FMRP was detected in the developing processes of oligodendroglia progenitor cells (OPCs) and immature oligodendrocytes in the neonatal brain, in primary cultures of oligodendrocytes, as well as in oligodendrocyte cell lines. FMRP belongs to the fragile X-related (FXR) family proteins, together with fragile X-related protein 1 (FXR1) and fragile X-related protein 2 (FXR2), which are the highly homologous RNA binding proteins (Majumder et al., 2020). The genes codifying for these proteins are Fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1), FMR1 autosomal homolog 1 (FXR1) and FMR1 autosomal homolog 2 (FXR2), and are located on different chromosome, respectively in Xq27.3, 3q26.33 and 17p13.1. The FXR proteins share approximately 60% amino acid sequence identity (Siomi et al., 1996). All three proteins have conserved regions for nuclear localization (NLS) and nuclear export (NES), which suggests a function in shuttling between cytoplasm and nucleus (Eberhart et al., 1996; Feng et al., 1997; Siomi et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1995). They are involved in RNA binding by their two KH domains and an RGG box (Siomi et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1995). The paralogs FXR1 and FXR2 are expressed in the same tissue and share the cellular profile of FMRP with only slight differences

(Agulhon et al., 1999; Bakker et al., 2000). FXR1 is expressed more abundantly in cardiac and skeletal muscle compared with FMRP and FXR2 (Bakker et al., 2000; Mientjes et al., 2004). In adult human brain, the FXRs protein have a cytoplasmic localization and a high expression in Purkinje, cortical and brainstem neurons (Tamanini et al., 1997). They have been observed in the nucleus of hippocampal neurons (Bakker et al., 2000). In foetal human brain, FXR2, like FMRP, is expressed in the cytoplasm of the neurons, but the FXR2 expression is lower than in adult brain. In adult brain FXR1 is only found in the cytoplasm of the neurons, while in foetal brain a substantial number of neurons also showed a nuclear localization (Tamanini et al., 1997). In brain tissues of FXS patients, FXR1 and FXR2 expression is unchanged compared to the normal control (Tamanini et al., 1997). The three proteins have RNA-binding properties and a ribosomal association, which indicates a role in the ribosomal and RNA metabolism of neurons. (Tamanini et al., 1997) However, the absence of FMRP in FXS leads to mental retardation despite the normal expression of FXR1 and FXR2 in neurons of FXS patients. Therefore, FXR1 and FXR2 are not able to compensate the lack of FMRP, having independent, although similar, cellular functions.

FMRP loss caused by *FMR1* gene mutation leads to an alteration of translation. The observation that hippocampal slices derived from *Fmr1* knockout mice, an animal model of FXS, incorporate 15–20% more ³⁵S-methionine into protein compared to wild type mice has supported the suggestions that FMRP is primarily a translational inhibitor (Dölen et al., 2007; Feng et al., 1997; Khandjian et al., 1996). It is widely believed that excessive protein synthesis is a major contributor to the pathophysiology in FXS.

FMRP can regulate the translation of its target mRNAs through multiple mechanisms: it can directly bind RNAs, regulate the translation initiation, bind polyribosomes and interact with RNA-Induced silencing complex (RISC).

Translation involves three broad steps: initiation, elongation and termination (Groppo and Richter, 2009). Initiation of translation begins with the eukaryotic initiation factor 4F (eIF4F), a multiprotein complex formed by eIF4E, eIF4G and eIF4A: eIF4E, also known as cap-binding protein, is responsible for binding the 5'-terminal 7-methyl-GTP (m⁷GTP) cap found on all eukaryotic mRNAs; eIF4A is a subunit of an RNA helicase that unwinds secondary structure in the mRNA and eIF4G is the scaffolding subunit to which the other subunits bind and has a binding site for eIF3, which links the eIF4F-mRNA complex to the 40S ribosomal subunit. The 40S subunit scans the 5' untranslated region

until the initiation codon, after which the 40S subunit is joined by the 60S ribosomal subunit to form an 80S ribosome that can elongate the polypeptide chain. Finally, the termination of translation occurs when the 80S ribosome dissociates from the mRNA at the termination codon, releasing the completed polypeptide. The inhibition of the translation process occurs when elF4E-binding proteins (4E-BPs) bind to elF4E. If 4E-BPs are phosphorylated by mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1), the translation can start through the association of elF4E with elF4G (Gingras et al., 2001). In addition to this, elF4E can be phosphorylated by MAP kinase-interacting serine/threonine-protein kinase 1 and 2 (MNK1-2), increasing the affinity of elF4E for capped mRNA and for an associated scaffolding protein, elF4G. This process leads to an enhancement of mRNA translation (Waskiewicz et al., 1999).

FMRP-mediated repression of translation requires an interaction with Cytoplasmic FMRP Interacting Protein CYFIP1 (Schenck et al., 2003; Schenck et al., 2001), which is known to be a non-canonical 4E-BP (Napoli et al., 2008). In the brain, FMRP helps recruit and stabilize CYFIP1 on the 5' end of specific mRNAs to repress translation. This interaction is modulated by the activation of MNK1-2, which have a regulatory effect on long lasting synaptic plasticity (Panja et al., 2014). In *Fmr1*-KO mice, interactions between eIF4E and eIF4G are increased (Ronesi et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 2010), as well as eIF4E phosphorylation (Gkogkas et al., 2014). Thus, FMRP can directly and indirectly regulate translation initiation.

FMRP has a role in regulation of protein elongation through an interaction with polyribosomes: different studies have shown that FMRP co-sediments with polyribosomes during a sucrose gradient ultracentrifugation, suggesting a direct interaction with the translational apparatus (Corbin et al., 1997; Khandjian et al., 2004; Stefani et al., 2004). FMRP might inhibit translation at the level of polypeptide elongation slowing or stalling ribosome transit, thereby reducing the rate of the protein synthesis (Stefani et al., 2004). FMRP-regulated translation on polypeptide elongation might occur through the direct binding of the protein to the RNA, acting as a simple roadblock. In addition to this, FMRP can blocks tRNA association with the ribosome and regulate RNA degradation by optimal codon recognition (Shu et al., 2020). The use of 3-letter codons in mRNA leads to 64 codons that encode for 20 amino acids and translation stop signals (Hanson and Coller, 2018). This has caused the degeneracy in the genetic code, where different codons code for a single amino acid. These codons are recognized by the ribosome, which is characterized by a property called *codon optimality*, which refers to the non-uniform decoding rate of the ribosome. A codon can be defined as optimal or non-optimal depending on how efficiently the appropriate tRNA can be selected from

the cytoplasmic pool of tRNAs by the ribosomes. Codon bias is the propensity for some codons to be disproportionately represented in the transcriptome for codifying an aminoacidic and it is partially defined by codon optimality. This phenomenon affects ribosome translocation and RNA stability (Ascano et al., 2012; Hanson and Coller, 2018). Ribosome stalling has been shown to occur on RNAs with nonoptimal codons. The role of FMRP is to modulate the relationship between ribosome stalling and codon optimability (Shu et al., 2020); in particular, FMRP associates with optimal codons on the RNAs. Moreover, FMRP also prevents RNA degradation by inhibition of not yet known nucleases. FMRP does not associate with the translational machinery on RNAs with nonoptimal codons. On these RNAs, ribosome translocation is normal, but the mRNAs tend to be unstable because there is no FMRP to block nuclease attack. In FMRP-deficient cortex, RNAs with optimal codons are associated with normally translocating ribosomes, but the RNAs are unstable because there is no FMRP to block nucleases. Therefore, FMRP deficiency can lead to either increased or decreased RNA stability depending on their codon optimality status, which impacts the gene network controlling cellular functions (Shah et al., 2020b).

FMRP also regulates translation through its interactions with micro RNAs (miRNAs), the Argonaute Ago, also called Eif2c (Sasaki et al., 2003), **p**rotein of the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (Edbauer et al., 2010; Jin et al., 2004; Muddashetty et al., 2011), Dicer and miRNA precursors (Cheever and Ceman, 2009).

In mice, FMRP is associated with the RISC and/or miRNAs such as miR-125a, miR-125b and miR-132 that cooperate to regulate protein synthesis involved in dendritic spine morphology (Edbauer et al., 2010; Muddashetty et al., 2011). FMRP regulates the accessibility of miRNA target sequence that are involved in the secondary structure of mRNA (Stefanovic et al., 2015). In absence of FMRP, dysregulation of miRNAs was demonstrated in Fmr1-KO mice (Liu et al., 2015) and in human FXS induced pluripotent stem cell derived neurons (Halevy et al., 2015).

FMRP also has deep effects on nuclear events such as DNA damage response, transcription, and splicing. Different studies point out that FMRP controls RNA synthesis through regulated translation of critical transcriptional factors or chromatin modulators (Korb et al., 2017; Shah et al., 2020a). Most of the RNA identified by Darnell and colleagues (Darnell et al., 2011) code for proteins with nuclear functions (110 out of 842), many of which modify chromatin, particularly histone acetylation

and methylation (Korb et al., 2017). Indeed, Fmr1-KO neurons have an enhancement of methylation on the lysin in position 4 of the Histon H3 (H3K4me3) and an increment of acetylation on the lysin in position 8 and 19 of Histone H4 (H4K8ac and H4K19ac). FMRP regulates chromatin-modifying proteins in addition to synaptic proteins. In particular, Brd4 is overexpressed in *Fmr1* KO mice and JQ1, a molecule that is able to inhibit Brd4, reduced gene expression of critical genes in *Fmr1* KO neurons. JQ1 also reversed behavioural phenotypes of *Fmr1* KO mice and mitigated aberrant dendritic spine density. Another chromatin modifier SETD2 is regulated by FMRP (Shah et al., 2020b). This protein induces trimethylation of lysine 36 on histone H3 (H3K36me3), mediating alternative splicing. When FMRP is absent, translation of SETD2 mRNA is elevated with an enhancement of H3K36me3 in *Fmr1* KO hippocampus, leading to mis-splicing events, which were also observed in human postmortem autistic brain (Corley et al., 2019).

Not only does FMRP modify chromatin through the regulation of mRNAs encoding for epigenetic and transcription factors, it also acts directly in the nucleus to bind and alter chromatin structure 85. By way of its Agenet domain, FMRP regulates the levels and positioning of gammaH2A.x, a histone H2 subtype associated with cell death, in response to replicative stress in mouse embryo fibroblasts and mammalian spermatocytes. Without FMRP, spermatocytes are unable to undergo DNA repair and resolve single stranded chromatin intermediates at the pachytene stage, a necessary event for meiotic progression. Whether FMRP directly regulates chromatin in neurons and if so whether it plays a role in activity and/or stress-induced cellular responses has not been assessed.

1.5 Animal models of Fragile X Syndrome

A better understanding of Fragile X Syndrome has been achieved thanks to the development of animal models, providing an increased knowledge about molecular, cellular and behavioural mechanisms underlying the pathology.

Animal models of FXS have been developed in various species, such as the Drosophila fruit fly, zebrafish, mouse, and rat (Bakker et al., 1994; Hamilton et al., 2014; McBride et al., 2012; Tucker et al., 2004). They show several symptoms in common with human patients such as defects in neuronal development, dendritic spine morphology, synaptic plasticity, and behaviour.

Much effort has focused on the characterization of mouse models of FXS, in particular the *Fmr1* knockout (KO) mouse. Mice and men share almost 99% of their genes (Waterston et al., 2002) as well as most physiological functions and pathogenic mechanisms (Eilam, 2014; Tecott,

20

2003). Since mice are also easy to keep, they became the most widely used model organism in life sciences.

The first *Fmr1* KO mouse was created and characterized by the Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium (Bakker et al., 1994). The model was generated using a homologous recombination targeting vector, pMG5, containing a disrupted *Fmr1* DNA: exon 5 was interrupted by the positive selection marker gene neomycin (neo) while the negative selection marker inserted was the thymidine kinase gene. The vector pMG5 was introduced into the embryonic stem cells (ES). A clone was injected into C57BL/6J blastocysts and transferred to pseudo-pregnant females. This *Fmr1* KO mice harbouring this mutation did not produce FMRP protein but did possess detectable levels of *Fmr1* mRNA because of the presence of Fmr1 promoter (Yan et al., 2004). To remove the Fmr1 mRNA, a second generation model was created known as Fmr1-KO2 (Mientjes et al., 2006), where the first exon was modified to remove the promoter region. This second-generation model has been largely used for brain studies, focusing on understanding the neurobiological underpinnings of FXS.

Fmr1 KO2 mice share different features with FXS patients such as having significantly heavier testes than wildtype controls, but normal structural morphology (Mientjes et al., 2006), probably due to an increase in the proliferative activity of Sertoli cells in the seminiferous tubules, which increases the number of germs cells in the testicles, and therefore, their weight.

In spite of patients suffering from FXS, *Fmr1* KO mice have not been reported to display spontaneous seizures, but are more susceptible to audiogenic seizures, induced by exposure to a 125 decibel, high-intensity siren (Musumeci et al., 2000). This audiogenic seizure vulnerability in *Fmr1* KO mice is a readout of seizure susceptibly in FXS patients. Electrophysiological recordings from auditory cortex of *Fmr1* KO mice revealed an enhancement of responses to auditory tones, demonstrating that neurons of *Fmr1* KO mice are hyper-responsive to stimuli (Rotschafer and Razak, 2013). These data are consistent with the increased responses to pure tones seen in individuals with FXS (Rojas et al., 2001).

In line with the clinical features of FXS patients, attention and impulsivity were evaluated in *Fmr1* KO mice through the five choice serial reaction time test (Winstanley et al., 2006). This test assesses attentional performance by the detection of a brief visual stimulus presented randomly across several spatial locations, in five nose-poke holes box: the animal is required to perform a nose-poke response to obtain a food response in one of five response apertures only when a stimulus light located there is illuminated. After beginning a trial and prior to illumination of a stimulus light, there is a 5-s inter-trial interval during which the animal must withhold from responding in the apertures.

21

Any responses made during this time are described as premature responses and are punished. These premature responses provide another way of measuring motor impulsivity. At the end, mice were subjected to two final tests, one to measure sustained attention and one to measure inhibitory control. *Fmr1* KO mice were impaired in the acquisition of a visuospatial discrimination task but did not display deficits in sustained attention or inhibitory control compared to wild-type mice. In addition to this, *Fmr1* KO mice demonstrated heightened perseveration and responding during novel rule acquisition, which normalized with training (Kramvis et al., 2013).

Nevertheless, in other attention tests, *Fmr1* KO mice displayed altered inhibitory control, having a higher rate of premature responses than wildtype mice (Moon et al., 2006). This was associated with changes in task contingencies, suggesting that inhibitory control in *Fmr1* KO mice may be affected by stress or novelty. In addition to this, *Fmr1* KO mice are characterized by an enhancement of locomotor activity compared to wild-type controls in the open field test (Bakker et al., 1994; Dahlhaus and El-Husseini, 2010; Ding et al., 2014; Mineur et al., 2002; Peier et al., 2000; Pietropaolo et al., 2011; Restivo et al., 2005; Spencer et al., 2005).

Fmr1 KO mice also exhibited higher levels of self-grooming, a repetitive behaviour, than wild-type controls (McNaughton et al., 2008; Pietropaolo et al., 2011). These behavioural features are consistent with perseveration and repetitive behaviour found in FXS patients (Hagerman et al., 2017b). Additionally, as a ratio of repetitive behaviour (Thomas et al., 2009), in the marble burying test *Fmr1* KO mice buried more marbles (Gholizadeh et al., 2014; Spencer et al., 2011).

Anxiety is a main trait of FXS in young and adult patients. Evaluation of anxiety levels in *Fmr1* KO mice leads to contrasting results depending on the different protocols, genetic background and on tested age. To evaluate the level of anxiety it is possible to use the elevated plus-maze: this test uses an elevated, plus-shaped (+) apparatus with two open and two enclosed arms: the animals prefers to spend more time in darker enclosed arms rather than stay in the lighted open arms (Lister, 1987) and exploration in open area is associated with decreased anxiety. Some studies show that *Fmr1* KO mice spent significantly more time in the open arms and less time in the closed arms compared to wild-type littermates (Heulens et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2011; Peier et al., 2000; Yuskaitis et al., 2010), suggesting reduced anxiety which is contrary to human findings (Cordeiro et al., 2011; Ezell et al., 2019). It has been suggested that increased open arm exploration is potentially indicative of increased locomotor activity or hyperactivity rather than decreased anxiety (Heulens et al., 2012). Otherwise in some studies, no behavioural differences were detected in *Fmr1* KO mice as compared to wild-type littermates in the elevated plus-maze (Mineur et al., 2002; Nielsen et al., 2002; Yan et

al., 2004). Using the zero-maze test, a modification of the plus-maze with the advantage of lacking the ambiguous central area of the elevated plus-maze, *Fmr1* KO mice spent more time in the open area (Liu et al., 2011; Liu and Smith, 2009). Results obtained using the open field test are contrasting. In this test, wild-type mice display a natural aversion to brightly lit open areas, thereby the time spent in the centre of the open arena is considered as an indicator for low anxiety. In some studies, Fmr1 KO mice spent more time in the centre of the open field (Peier et al., 2000; Spencer et al., 2005; Yan et al., 2004; Yuskaitis et al., 2010), but in others *Fmr1* KO mice avoid to stay in the centre of the open field (Restivo et al., 2005) and in others no differences were noticed between Fmr1 KO and wild-type (Veeraragavan et al., 2011a; Veeraragavan et al., 2011b; Veeraragavan et al., 2012). Individuals affected by FXS suffer from social phobia and avoidance (Cohen et al., 1988; Cordeiro et al., 2011; Hagerman et al., 2017b; Hall et al., 2009). Studying the social behaviour of FXS murine model, data show contradictory results. In the three-chamber sociability test, which aims to assess cognition in the form of general sociability and interest in social novelty, rodents normally prefer to spend more time with another rodent (sociability) and will investigate a novel intruder more often than a novel object stimulus (Yang et al., 2011). In some studies, Fmr1 KO mice have normal social behaviour, preferring to spend more time exploring the novel mouse (Liu et al., 2011; Liu and Smith, 2009; McNaughton et al., 2008; Pietropaolo et al., 2011). On the other hand, other studies show that *Fmr1* KO mice do not display a preference for the novel mouse over the novel object (Dahlhaus and El-Husseini, 2010) and spend less time to sniff the novel mouse during social interactions (McNaughton et al., 2008; Pietropaolo et al., 2011). Another readout of social interactions in mice is the pup ultrasonic vocalization (Ehret, 2005; Fischer and Hammerschmidt, 2011): Fmr1 KO pups show a decrease in terms of emitted vocalization (Gholizadeh et al., 2014; Rotschafer et al., 2012; Roy et al., 2012)

Several cognitive tests were performed to characterize the intellectual ability of the murine FXS model. Passive avoidance is an associative learning task depending on hippocampus (Lorenzini et al., 1996) and amygdala (Slotnick, 1973), in which the animal makes an active choice to avoid entering in a dark compartment associated with an aversive event like a foot shock. Passive avoidance appears to be disrupted in *Fmr1* KO mice (Ding et al., 2014; Michalon et al., 2014; Michalon et al., 2012; Veeraragavan et al., 2011a; Yuskaitis et al., 2010). In addition to this, passive avoidance extinction happens faster in *Fmr1* KO mice than in wild-type (Dölen et al., 2007; Michalon et al., 2014). Fear conditioning is another behavioural test used to characterize emotional aspects of cognition in rodents. It could be contextual or delay-cued: the first requires the amygdala and the

hippocampus, while the second solely depends on the amygdala (Fanselow et al., 1994; Logue et al., 1997; Phillips and LeDoux, 1992). In delay-cued fear conditioning, an altered behaviour was reported in *Fmr1* KO mice (Ding et al., 2014; Paradee et al., 1999), but other studies did not observe any difference between wild-type and *Fmr1* KO mice (Dobkin et al., 2000; Uutela et al., 2012; Van Dam et al., 2000). In contextual fear conditioning, results are also contrasting: some studies have shown a deficit in contextual discrimination (Auerbach et al., 2011) but in other studies no differences were detected (Dobkin et al., 2000; Peier et al., 2000; Van Dam et al., 2000). In the water maze test, a hippocampus-mediated task where visual spatial abilities are tested, mice must learn to find a hidden platform in a pool of opaque water. A learning deficit for *Fmr1* KO mice was observed in the reversal phase of the test where the position of the hidden platform is suddenly changed (Bakker et al., 1994; Boda et al., 2014; Kooy et al., 1996; Nolan and Lugo, 2018). To test the cortex- and hippocampus-dependent novelty detection ability, novel object recognition test was performed (Broadbent et al., 2010). This test is based on the spontaneous tendency of mice to spend more time exploring a novel object than a familiar one. The choice to explore the novel object reflects the efficiency of learning and recognition memory, which are impaired in Fmr1 KO mice (Costa et al., 2018; Franklin et al., 2014; Gomis-González et al., 2016; King and Jope, 2013; Ventura et al., 2004), since less time is spent exploring the novel object. This data is consistent with human studies demonstrating alterations of novelty preferences in autism spectrum disorder (Hagerman et al., 2017b).

1.6 Synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus

The hippocampus is a brain region playing a crucial role in the formation and storage of episodic and semantic declarative memories (Scoville and Milner, 1957; Squire et al., 2004). A famous study conducted by Dr. Brenda Milner on H.M. patient confirmed that two different kinds of memory exist: the declarative memory, allowing the formation of memories about experiences, and the procedural memory, which controls behaviour without awareness of learning. H.M. suffered from epilepsy not pharmacologically treatable, therefore his hippocampus was surgically removed in both brain hemispheres. After the surgery, the epilepsy improved but an anterograde amnesia for declarative memory was manifested, while procedural memory remained intact. This study revealed that the hippocampus plays a critical role in formation and retrieval of declarative memory.

The hippocampus consists of dentate gyrus (DG), cornu ammonis (CA) 1, CA2, CA3 and CA4 (Amaral and Witter, 1989; Swanson et al., 1978). Input from the entorhinal cortex (EC) is transmitted to the DG, CA1 and CA3 regions via perforant path fibers; DG neurons project to CA3 pyramidal neurons via mossy fibers, CA3 neurons send fibers to CA1 pyramidal neurons via Schaffer collaterals), and CA1 neurons in turn project back to the cortex unidirectionally forming the "tri-synaptic hippocampal circuit". Each pathway contributes to synaptic transmission and plasticity in the hippocampus, by forming synaptic circuits for storage, consolidation and retrieval of declarative, spatial, and associative long-term memory (Burgess et al., 2002; Gold and Kesner, 2005; Nakazawa et al., 2001; Squire et al., 2004). The main source of excitatory glutamatergic signals to the hippocampus come from the EC. The EC directs spatial and non-spatial information to the hippocampus (Van Strien et al., 2009), in particular layer 3 cells project to CA1 as the temporoammonic pathway, while layer 2 cells of EC project excitatory axons through the perforant path (PP) to granule cells in the DG (Kerr et al., 2007). The hippocampal CA1 region provides an output from the hippocampus, sending signals to several parts of the brain, such as the subiculum, lateral septum, ventral striatum, amygdala, prefrontal cortex and retrosplenial cortex (McNaughton et al., 1996; Squire et al., 2004; Van Groen and Wyss, 1990; Wyass and Van Groen, 1992). All together this studies show that the hippocampus recruits several brain regions to form learning and memory circuits (Duncan et al., 2012; Lisman and Grace, 2005).

Memory formation and learning require a plastic arrangement of synaptic connectivity based on modifications in the strength and number of synapses (Kessels and Malinow, 2009; Middei et al., 2014). By modifying the synaptic connection network and the structural and morphological organization of neurons, the nervous system can either strengthen or weaken the efficacy of a specific neuronal circuit, based on functional requests. Synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus assists with consolidation and storage of long-lasting memories.

Synaptic strengthening and weakening depend on exocytosis and endocytosis of glutamatergic aamino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs) for glutamate (Malinow and Malenka, 2002). In excitatory synapses, AMPARs go through translocation into or removal from synapses (Lu et al., 2009). These receptors are made of tetramers of GluA1-4 subunits. In the hippocampus, the main subunits are GluA1 and GluA2 and in the CA1 region GluA1/2 heterodimer is predominant (Clem and Barth, 2006; Plant et al., 2006). The presence of GluA2 leads to lack of permeability to Ca²⁺ flux through AMPARs. Sensory experience or long-term potentiation plasticity

25

cause an expression of AMPARs without GluA2 in hippocampal region. Exocytosis and endocytosis of AMPARs are influenced by the activity of kinase and phosphatase: phosphorylation of GluA1 induces the exposure of AMPARs to synapses, whereas GluA1 de-phosphorylation is associated with AMPARs endocytosis and related synaptic weakening. Increased expression and phosphorylation of GluA1 subunit in AMPARs in brain regions involved in long-term plasticity support the persistent of memory. For example, inhibitory avoidance (IA) learning (a hippocampus-dependent task during which rodents learn to avoid the dark compartment of a two-chamber apparatus after administration of an electric foot-shock delivered during the IA training) induced an increase of AMPARs trafficking into hippocampal synapses (Whitlock et al., 2006). In particular, a fast and transient increase of GluA1 and GluA2 subunits in synaptosomal fractions were observed with an enhancement of phosphorylation of GluA1 at Ser831, a reaction that is associated with AMPARs delivery to synapses (Hayashi et al., 2000; Heynen et al., 2000). Fear memory also leads to synaptic trafficking of GluA1-containing AMPARs into dendritic spines, which are going to grow to support the formation of a new memory circuit. In different fear conditioning protocols, rodents learn to associate an electric foot-shock with a sound (tone fear conditioning, TFC), or with a context (contextual fear conditioning, CFC) in which the shock takes place. 24 hours after TFC, newly synthesized GluA1 are recruited in dendritic spines of hippocampal CA1 neurons due to memory formation, going back to the control condition 72 h after TFC training (Matsuo et al., 2008). The same results were obtained during the CFC, with an enhancement of dendritic spines density (Restivo et al., 2008), GluA1 levels and phosphorylation of Ser845 and Ser831 in isolated CA1 hippocampal Post Synaptic Densities (PSDs), a dense ore of dendritic spines containing receptors and scaffolding proteins (Middei et al., 2012).

After the acquisition, a memory can be consolidated, becoming a medium- or a long-term memory: following re-exposition to reminders of the original episode, a stored memory can be recalled. Thereby memory can either stabilize to persist, a process known as reconsolidation, or be extinguished. The expression of GluA1 is also involved in consolidation, since the level of GluA1 in the hippocampus follows a two wave fluctuation: a peak happens 1 hour after the FC training in mice, followed by a decrease 3 days after and back to an enhancement 28 days later (Thoeringer et al., 2012).

Reconsolidation and extinction can be tested in fear conditioning or in inhibitory avoidance protocols. During reconsolidation, a fluctuation is observed in the expression of GluA2, which are

removed from hippocampal synapses 1 h after protocol re-exposure. GluA2 internalization is associated to a synaptic weakening, measured by recordings of glutamate-mediated post synaptic current in the CA3-CA1 synapse. During the maintenance of reconsolidation phase, the level of GluA2 become stable (Rao-Ruiz et al., 2011).

Both potentiation and depression of synaptic plasticity lead to structural changes such as modulation of the number, size and shape of dendritic spines (Matsuzaki et al., 2004; Okamoto et al., 2004), which are specialized for synaptic transmission.

Other forms of plasticity occurring in hippocampus are short-term plasticity phenomena, which can either potentiate or weaken a circuit from milliseconds to several minutes, being respectively a short-term facilitation and short-term depression. These forms of plasticity are considered to be important for short-term memory (Citri and Malenka, 2008; Zucker and Regehr, 2002).

Metaplasticity, an additional kind of synaptic plasticity, was also discovered in the hippocampus (Abraham and Bear, 1996) and is also called "the plasticity of synaptic plasticity", because it involves activity-dependent changes in neuronal function that modulate synaptic plasticity. However, several reports have indicated that it may also serve to stabilize synapses (Baione et al., 2020; Crestani et al., 2019; Gebhardt et al., 2019; Hegemann and Abraham, 2019; Lutzu and Castillo, 2021; Yang et al., 2014).

A further type of plasticity that controls the total synaptic strength of a neuron is homeostatic plasticity (Turrigiano and Nelson, 2004). It can either increase or decrease the strength of all synaptic inputs of a neuron to keep homeostasis over a wide range of spatial and temporal scales. Homeostatic plasticity regulates synaptic scaling and is thought to stabilize synaptic strength at the level of a single neuron.

Synaptic strengthening and weakening persisting for several hours are respectively defined as long term potentiation (LTP) or long term depression (LTD) (Kessels and Malinow, 2009). LTP and LTD are two well-known cellular events for synaptic changes thought to occur during mnesic processes.

LTP and LTD can be elicited by activation of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) (Collingridge et al., 1983). NMDARs are ionotropic receptors permeable to sodium, potassium and calcium: at negative membrane potentials close to the resting membrane potential, magnesium ions enter the pore of the NMDAR, blocking the passage for all other ions (Lüscher and Malenka, 2012). Upon depolarization the magnesium is expelled from the pore, allowing sodium, potassium, and, importantly, calcium ions to pass. The activation mode of NMDA and the amount of Ca²⁺ influx are the discriminating factors to induce LTP or LTD. For example, in acute hippocampal slices, high frequency stimulation (100 Hz) of Schaffer collateral fibers causes a large depolarization of the postsynaptic cell that is sufficient to remove the Mg²⁺ block of NMDARs and allow increases of cytosolic Ca²⁺ up to 5 μ M in CA1 neurons, inducing the activation of protein kinases which are responsible for induction and maintenance of LTP. Conversely, stimulation at 1 Hz causes a Ca²⁺ influx across NMDARs up to 1 μ M, leading to activation of protein phosphatases which dephosphorylate AMPA receptors, increasing their endocytosis.

Moreover, LTD or LTP can be induced by activation of different types of G protein-coupled receptors, such as M1 and M3 muscarinic receptors or I group metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR1 and mGluR5). Acetylcholine (ACh) muscarinic receptors (mAChRs) can induce plasticity at excitatory and inhibitory synapses and are essential in learning and memory processes (Fernández de Sevilla et al., 2021). M1 and M3 mAChRs are coupled to phospholipase C (PLC) via G-proteins (Gq/11). The activation of PLC catalyzes the phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate hydrolysis and inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol are produced. IP3 receptor (IP3R) activation induces Ca2+ release from endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stores (Rose and Konnerth, 2001). It has been shown that M1 and M3 mAChRs activation triggers IP3 production and Ca2+ release from the ER in CA1 pyramidal neurons, resulting in LTP at Schaffer's collaterals synapses. This LTP is NMDAR independent and is expressed postsynaptically by an increase of AMPARs in spines and an enhanced NMDA response. In addition, activation of mAChRs can also induce LTD (mAChR-LTD) of excitatory synaptic transmission in various brain regions, such as visual cortex (McCoy et al., 2008), perirhinal cortex (Jo et al., 2006) and hippocampus (Volk et al., 2007). The activation of M1 receptors results in an LTD that is dependent on the activity of protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs), but is independent of Ca²⁺, PKC, serine/threonine protein phosphatases and protein synthesis (Dickinson et al., 2009).

As well as muscarinic receptor, group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) can induce LTP and LTD. The mGluR-LTP activation of Type I mGluRs and depends crucially on protein synthesis controlled by Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein and on Arc signaling (Wang et al., 2016a). Although group I of mGluRs modulate the induction of NMDAR-LTP in different synapses (Abraham, 2008), LTP that exclusively needs the mGluRs but not NMDARs has only been identified in the subiculum (Fidzinski et al., 2008).

1.7 Metabotropic Glutamate receptor-induced long-term depression (mGluR-LTD)

A particular form of LTD can be triggered by the activation of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs), which includes mGluR1 and mGluR5 (Palmer et al., 1997). mGluR1 expression is high in Purkinje cells in the cerebellum, in mitral and tufted cells in the olfactory bulb and in the cell body of hippocampal stratum radiatum neurons (Ferraguti and Shigemoto, 2006). In addition, they are expressed in cell body neurolateral septum, pallidum and in the thalamus. mGluR5 is present in the cerebral cortex, subiculum, olfactory bulb, striatum, nucleus accumbens, lateral septal nucleus and in dendrites of stratum radiatum of hippocampus. Both receptors are mainly expressed in postsynaptic neurons in an area surrounding the ionotropic receptors (Lujan et al., 1996).

mGluR-LTD was first described at the granule cell parallel fiber (PF) synapses onto Purkinje cells (PC) in the cerebellum and was later observed in diverse brain regions such as the hippocampus, neocortex, dorsal and ventral striatum and spinal cord (Bellone et al., 2008; Gladding et al., 2009).

Hippocampal long-term depression has an important role in hippocampal-dependent learning: administration of group I mGluR antagonists or even deletion of group I mGluRs in animal models alters the acquisition and extinction of hippocampus-dependent learning tasks, such as radial arm maze or Morris water maze (Manahan-Vaughan and Braunewell, 2005; Naie and Manahan-Vaughan, 2004; Xu et al., 2009). Hippocampal localization of LTD induction can change based on the nature of the novel cues: small novel features induce LTD in the CA1 region, suggesting that LTD in CA1 play a role to encode spatial arrangement of novel objects; on the other side, large novel orientation cues facilitate LTD in the dentate gyrus (Kemp and Manahan-Vaughan, 2008).

Long-term depression mediated by group I mGluRs can be induced either pharmacologically or through synaptic stimulation. In hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons, mGluR-LTD takes place when CA3 Schaffer axons are stimulated either at low frequency (between 1–3 Hz for 5–15 min) or by pharmacologic application of R,S-dihydroxyphenylglycine (DHPG), a selective group I mGluR agonist (Bolshakov and Siegelbaum, 1994; Huber et al., 2000; Kemp and Bashir, 1999; Manahan-Vaughan, 1997; Naie and Manahan-Vaughan, 2005; Palmer et al., 1997; Volk et al., 2007).

mGluR1 and mGluR5 are coupled to a heterometric $G\alpha q/11$ protein (Ferraguti and Shigemoto, 2006), which activates phospholipase C (PLC), inducing the production of inositol trisphosphate (IP₃).

This event leads to the release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores and subsequent Protein Kinase C (PKC) activation. Hippocampal mGluR-LTD occurs independently of postsynaptic Ca²⁺ increases, IP₃ sensitive Ca²⁺ stores, PLC or PKC activity (Fitzjohn et al., 2001; Moult et al., 2006). Nevertheless, the presence of the endoplasmic reticulum is essential in dendrites to induce synaptic functional changing: dendritic spines with endoplasmic reticulum are susceptible to mGluR-LTD, have a greater volume, respond to glutamate with bigger post-synaptic currents and show larger mGluR-mediated Ca²⁺ increases with respect to dendritic spines that do not have endoplasmic reticulum proteins. This suggests that Ca²⁺ in the intracellular endoplasmic reticulum plays a role in hippocampal mGluR-LTD (Holbro et al., 2009).

The expression mechanism of mGluR-LTD in CA1 neurons consists of an increase in the endocytosis of AMPA receptors containing GluA1 and GluA2 subunits, which are removed from the post-synaptic membrane (Nakamoto et al., 2007). This event relies on tyrosine dephosphorylation of the GluA2 subunit. In addition to this, mGluRs activation stimulates the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) TACE (tumor necrosis factor- α -converting enzyme): TACE cleaves the intramembrane protein NPR (neuronal pentraxin receptor), releasing the extracellular pentraxin domain, which in turns stimulates the endocytosis of AMPARs through an extracellular interaction (Cho et al., 2008).

The cellular mechanism of hippocampal mGluR-LTD crucially relies on rapid (in minutes) protein synthesis that occurs in dendrites (Huber et al., 2000; Waung and Huber, 2009): mGluRs activation stimulates the rapid synthesis of new proteins, known as LTD proteins, that participate in the regulation of AMPARs endocytosis (Volk et al., 2007). However, it is important to note that protein translation dependence of mGluR-LTD was reported to change with age: inhibition of protein translation did not affect mGluR-LTD induction in neonatal rats (Nosyreva and Huber, 2005) and in hippocampal slices obtained from 10 to 15 week rats mGluR-LTD occurred independently of protein translation, using either synaptic induction protocols or DHPG (Moult et al., 2008).

Group I mGluRs regulate translation during initiation and elongation processes (Costa-Mattioli et al., 2009; Waung and Huber, 2009). Translation initiation is stimulated by mGluRs through ERK-MAPK and PI3K–Akt-mTOR pathways (Gallagher et al., 2004; Hou and Klann, 2004). mGluRs induce phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) and eIF4E binding protein (4EBP), stimulating the association of translation initiation (eIF4F) complex and increasing protein synthesis (Banko et al., 2006; Ronesi and Huber, 2008). Activation of Akt and ERK pathways also induces

phosphorylation of ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK); RSK in turn increases translation of a subset of mRNAs that encode ribosomes and translation factors (Antion et al., 2008; Ronesi and Huber, 2008).

One of the LTD proteins synthetized in response to mGluR-mediated pathways is Arc (Activityregulated cytoskeletal associated protein) (Park et al., 2008; Waung et al., 2008). Arc associates with dynamin 2 and endophilin, inducing AMPAR endocytosis from the post—synaptic membrane (Chowdhury et al., 2006; Shepherd et al., 2006; Verde et al., 2006). Activation of group I mGluRs leads to the rapid translation of Arc in dendrites and this rapid synthesis is required to maintain decreases in surface AMPARs (Link et al., 1995; Steward et al., 1998; Steward and Worley, 2001). Consistent with its role in the induction of mGluR-LTD, Arc levels remain elevated for the duration of LTD (Park et al., 2008).

Another LTD protein is microtubule-associated protein 1B (MAP1B) and its mRNA is a FMRP target (Waung and Huber, 2009). DHPG treatment of hippocampal neurons increases MAP1B levels in dendrites (Davidkova and Carroll, 2007). MAP1B interacts with GluR2 with the scaffold GRIP1, a protein that stabilizes surface GluRs. The synthesis of MAP1B serves to sequester GRIP1 away from the synapse and destabilize GluR surface expression.

PSD-95 is a scaffold protein which regulates the trafficking of AMPARs at the synapse (Opazo et al., 2012; Won et al., 2017). AMPARs interact with the PSD-95 through transmembrane AMPAR regulatory proteins (TARPs), (Chen et al., 2000). The TARP—PSD-95 interaction reduces the mobility of AMPARs at the synapse, and disrupting this interaction allows AMPARs to diffuse away from the synapse, still bound to TARPs (Bats et al., 2007).

FMRP contributes to group I mGluR-induced translational activation of specific mRNAs (Ronesi and Huber, 2008; Waung and Huber, 2009) and regulates mGluR-dependent protein synthesis and plasticity acting predominantly as translational suppressor. Indeed many of the mRNAs that are translated in response to group I mGluRs interact with FMRP, including PSD-95 (Todd et al., 2003), amyloid precursor protein (*APP*) (Westmark and Malter, 2007), elongation factor 1a (*Ef1a*) (Huang et al., 2005), MAP1b (Davidkova and Carroll, 2007; Hou et al., 2006) and Arc (Park et al., 2008; Waung et al., 2008).

In *Fmr1* KO mice, the absence of FMRP causes an overproduction of LTD proteins, which in turn induce excessive AMPARs internalization. As a result of this process, *Fmr1* KO mice show an increase in hippocampal mGluR-LTD (Huber et al., 2002), which in turn affects learning and memory (Malenka and Bear, 2004).

31

1.8 Alterations of dendritic morphology in Fragile X Syndrome

Dendritic spines, small protrusions along neuronal dendrites, are the sites receiving excitatory synaptic input: they contain receptors and signalling molecules that are essential for synaptic neurotransmission (Nimchinsky et al., 2002). Dendritic spines undergo shrinkage following endocytosis of AMPARs and decreases in AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission in mGluR-LTD. At dendritic spines, actin is in monomeric globular (G)-actin form and filamentous (F)-actin form, and the shift between these two arrangements leads to changes in spine morphology (Cingolani et al., 2008). Dendritic spine morphology is strictly associated with synaptic plasticity: indeed, molecules that inhibit both polymerization and depolymerization of actin have been shown to block mGluR-LTD (Morishita et al., 2005; Moult et al., 2006; Xiao et al., 2001). Moreover, AMPAR endocytosis after the induction of mGluR-LTD and actin reorganization are correlated (Eales et al., 2014; Vanderklish and Edelman, 2002; Zhou et al., 2004).

An important regulator of cytoskeleton structure during mGluR-LTD is cofilin1. Preventing the activation of cofilin1 blocks mGluR-LTD (Asrar and Jia, 2013; Zhou et al., 2011), showing a role of cofilin1 in actin remodelling for synaptic plasticity (Hotulainen and Hoogenraad, 2010; Mizuno, 2013). Some upstream regulators of cofilin1 during mGluR-LTD have been identified, among which Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac), p-21-activated kinase, and LIM kinase (Chevy et al., 2015). In addition, p38-MK2 cascade is required to regulate cofilin1 activity in hippocampal neurons (Eales et al., 2014). These results are consistent with the idea that mGluR-LTD is associated with cytoskeleton reorganization resulting in spine morphological changes.

Essential for mGluR-LTD is the interaction of AMPAR subunit GluA2 with N-cadherin, a cell adhesion element (Zhou et al., 2011). This interaction is important to stimulate the cofilin1-dependent actin reorganization during the mGluR-LTD. Moreover, the activation of the ERK1/2 pathway could also induce changes in actin reorganization via the STEP-βcatenin-Rac-p-21-activated kinase pathway to regulate cofilin1 activity (Asrar and Jia, 2013).

In post-mortem analysis of human cortical tissue, individuals who suffered from Fragile X Syndrome had an increased density of dendritic spines with elongated and immature shape (Galvez and Greenough, 2005; Greenough et al., 2001; Hinton et al., 1991; McKinney et al., 2005; Rudelli et al., 1985; Wisniewski et al., 1991). Similar altered dendritic spine density and morphology have been

found in *Fmr1* KO mice (Comery et al., 1997; Grossman et al., 2006; Irwin et al., 2002; Nimchinsky et al., 2001).

Developmental studies revealed an increase in spine density and length in brain cortex of *Fmr1* KO mice compared to controls (Nimchinsky et al., 2001). In addition, a hippocampal CA1-specific altered protrusion phenotype was observed, which was absent in the CA3 region of the hippocampus (Levenga et al., 2011), indicating that the lack of FMRP differently influences dendritic spine morphology in distinct brain areas.

To summarize, as a negative regulator of mRNA translation, FMRP influences protein synthesis and therefore affects the synaptic components located in dendritic spines. Given the importance of FMRP for the regulation of synaptic proteins, it is unsurprising that loss of FMRP results in abnormalities in the structure and functionality of neuronal synapses.

1.9 Mitochondrial alterations in Fragile X Syndrome

Mitochondria are present in axons and dendrites of neurons and are play a prominent role in synaptic plasticity (Mattson, 2007). Indeed, synaptic activation and LTP induce changes in mitochondria (Mattson and Liu, 2003), such as an enhancement of energy production (Wieraszko, 1982), of calcium pump activity (Stanton and Schanne, 1986) and of gene expression (Williams et al., 1998).

Mitochondria are ubiquitous dynamically motile organelles with their own DNA and independent mitochondrial translation system (Protasoni and Zeviani, 2021; Trigo et al., 2022). They are involved in energy metabolism as main cellular ATP producers and regulate cellular functions such as Ca²⁺ homeostasis in cooperation with the endoplasmic reticulum (Rowland and Voeltz, 2012) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) signalling, which modulates immune responses (Singer and Chandel, 2019).

Mitochondria have two phospholipidic membranes, the outer and the inner mitochondrial membrane, which divide the organelle into two spaces, the matrix and the intermembrane space (Kühlbrandt, 2015). The two membranes show a different lipid composition: the outer membrane is more similar to eukaryotic cell membranes, whereas the inner membrane is characterized by a higher protein/lipid ratio and forms highly packed invaginations in the matrix, called cristae (Ernster and Schatz, 1981). Anchored in the cristae, respiratory chain complexes perform oxidative
phosphorylation (OXPHOS) (Trigo et al., 2022). During this process, oxygen is metabolized to generate energy in form of ATP through a series of reductive steps at the inner mitochondrial membrane via the electron transport chain, composed by the respiratory chain complexes I to IV, associated with transport of protons across the mitochondrial membrane (van der Bliek et al., 2017).

The first complex, NADH dehydrogenase, catalyses the oxidation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) into NAD+ by ubiquinone, also called as coenzyme Q10, conserving the free energy of the reaction as a transmembrane proton gradient (Hirst, 2009). Complex II, or succinate dehydrogenase, has a role in the tricarboxylic acid cycle and in the electron transport chain, linking the two essential energy-producing processes of the cell (Ackrell, 2000; Cecchini, 2003; Saraste, 1999). In tricarboxylic acid cycle, it oxidises the succinate to fumarate, while as a component of the respiratory complex, it transfers electrons from succinate to ubiquinone, through flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) (Tomitsuka et al., 2009). Ubiquinone provides electrons from complexes I and II to complex III (ubiquinone-cytochrome c oxidoreductase), which in turn brings electrons to cytochrome c, a mobile protein that transfers them to complex IV (cytochrome c oxidase) (Solmaz and Hunte, 2008). Finally complex IV enables the terminal reduction of O₂ to H₂O. Complexes I, III, and IV pump H⁺ into the mitochondrial intermembrane space, creating a strong proton gradients that drives ATP synthesis by complex V or ATP synthase complex (Payne and Chinnery, 2015).

The by-products of oxidative phosphorylation are ROS, generating from a premature electron leak along the electron transport chain from complex I, II and III (Liu et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2019). These electrons are transferred to O_2 , producing superoxide (O_2^-). This is an extremely reactive free radical which is turned into H_2O_2 by the mitochondrial or cytosolic superoxide dismutase (SOD) (Cadenas and Davies, 2000; Chance et al., 1979). O_2^- and H_2O_2 are kept at low concentrations (from 10^{-11} to 10^{-8} M) (Chance et al., 1979; Giorgio et al., 2007; Sies et al., 2017), but when they reach high levels, ROS cause oxidative damage of proteins, lipids and nucleic acids (Sies, Berndt, & Jones, 2017).

FMRP specifically binds *Superoxide Dismutase 1* (*Sod1*) mRNA via a motif called SoSLIP, composed of three stem loops separated by a short sequence (Bechara et al., 2009). The absence of FMRP results in decreased expression of Sod1 in polyribosomes, leading to a reduced expression in the brain of *Fmr1* KO mice. The decreased expression of Sod1 leads to a more sensitive mitochondrial oxidative stress in neurons.

The human brain necessitates of 20% of the whole organism metabolic production (Attwell and Laughlin, 2001), using glucose that undergoes glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation to produce ATP and to assist synaptic transmission (Yin et al., 2016).

Thanks to generating energy, mitochondria rule important processes in neuron such as neuroplasticity, neurotransmitter release, axonal polarity and outgrowth (Cheng et al., 2010; Lee and Peng, 2008; Mattson, 2007; Verstreken et al., 2005). Dendritic, axonal, and presynaptic regions have different energy requests, which mean an adaptation of ATP production due to a strict connection between neuronal and mitochondrial activity (Kann and Kovács, 2007). Mitochondria are present along the length of axons and in presynaptic terminals; they are located mainly in the dendritic shafts and occasionally associated with spines (Popov et al., 2005). To adapt to variable energy requests, mitochondria move within and between neural regions involved in neuroplasticity.

During neurogenesis, a process in which neuronal stem cells differentiate into neurons, there is an involvement of mitochondria in regulating an adaptive response to environmental energy demand (Kempermann et al., 2004; Kitamura et al., 2009). In neurogenesis, neurons start to make axons, dendrites and synapses and mitochondria bunch up at the active growing cone of the developing neurites (Mattson and Partin, 1999). As soon as the axon is made, mitochondria migrate into the new neurite, following an anterograde movement in growing axons and retrograde movement in non-growing axons (Ruthel and Hollenbeck, 2003).

When ATP production is altered in mitochondria, axogenesis is abolished although the growth of dendrites remains unaffected (Mattson and Partin, 1999). The axonal and dendritic behaviour of mitochondria are also different in hippocampal neuron cultures, where mitochondria are more motile but less active in axons, whereas in dendrites they are less motile but more metabolically active (Overly et al., 1996). An altered mitochondrial ATP production and an enhancement of free radicals due to a leak of electrons from the mitochondrial chain complexes are key aspects in a large amount of neurological diseases (Breuer et al., 2013; Sai et al., 2012) characterized by developmental delay (Gibson et al., 2010). Defective mitochondria especially affect tissues that are more sensitive to oxidative stress, particularly the brain (Wallace and Fan, 2010). Alterations in dendritic spine densities due to dysfunctional mitochondria or impaired ROS homeostasis are indicated to be culprits in neurodevelopment diseases such as Down syndrome, Rett syndrome, Fragile X Syndrome (Valenti et al., 2014).

In the last years increasing attention was paid to mitochondrial dysfunctions. Growing evidence suggests that mitochondrial dysfunctions and defects in oxidative phosphorylation play a central role in Fragile X syndrome. FMRP regulates microtubules formation in neurites (De Diego Otero et al., 2002) and recently it has been reported that drosophila FMRP regulates microtubule network formation and axonal transport of mitochondria (Yao et al., 2011). Moreover, it has been recently demonstrated an altered expression of mitochondrial genes and increased oxidative stress that contribute to deficits in dendritic maturation and behaviour in *Fmr1* KO mice (Shen et al., 2019). Consistent with the latter result, an increased oxidative stress has been described in Drosophila lacking FMRP (Weisz et al., 2018). An alteration in the balance between fission and fusion was also shown in *Fmr1* KO mice, leading to structural and functional abnormalities in mitochondria (Shen et al., 2019) which might compromise mitochondrial bioenergetic efficiency. This hypothesis was confirmed by a significant reduction in the rate of mitochondrial ATP production in the brain cortex of *Fmr1* KO mice (D'Antoni et al., 2020). Analysing the activity of mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes, there was an increasing activity of all five complexes in the range between 40% and 50% in the cortex of post-natal day 21- and 12-month-old Fmr1 KO mice. In line with these results, an enhancement in the activity of mitochondrial complexes was observed in the striatum and in the cerebellum of 12-month-old Fmr1 KO mice (D'Antoni et al., 2020). These data are consistent with the evidence of mitochondrial hyperactivity and greater susceptibility to oxidative stress reported in ASD (Rose et al., 2017). The hyperactivation of mitochondrial complexes could be caused by FMRP absence, since FMRP is able to bind mRNAs encoding for some components of mitochondria respiratory chain complexes (Ascano et al., 2012; Maurin et al., 2018a). One of FMRP targets is the mRNA coding for mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (mG3P-DH) (Ascano et al., 2012; Maurin et al., 2018a), an enzyme of glycerophosphate shuttle which links lipid and glucose catabolism to OXPHOS (Mráček et al., 2013). In the brain cortex of *Fmr1* KO mice, increased activity and expression of mG3P-DH have been observed, that likely lead to glycerophosphate shuttle potentiation (D'Antoni et al., 2020), with possible metabolic implications. Indeed, glycerol-3phosphate dehydrogenase competes with glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase, which is implicated in lipid synthesis, leading to a defect in lipid production and storage in FXS (Weisz et al., 2018). In addition, the mitochondrial respiratory chain and mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase are producer of ROS, and their hyperactivation induced an increased oxidative stress (Bechara et al., 2009; Davidovic et al., 2011; de Diego-Otero et al., 2009; El Bekay et al., 2007).

Beyond the increased activity of the mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes, fragile X neurons show an enhancement in some glycolytic enzymes including hexokinase II, pyruvate kinase M2 variant and lactate dehydrogenase and also in enzymes required for tri-carboxylic acids cycle and NAD⁺/NADH metabolism, including enzymes of the malate/aspartate shunt and isocitrate dehydrogenase (Licznerski et al., 2020). High glycolytic activity and lactate production, but also increases in TCA cycle enzymes are hallmark features of immature and developing cells (Fame et al., 2019), suggesting that mitochondrial abnormalities could be emblematic of neuronal immaturity (Licznerski et al., 2020). It was recently shown that forebrain mitochondria from the *Fmr1* knock out mice brains have inefficient thermogenic respiration due to a coenzyme Q-regulated proton leak, leading to synaptic spine and behavioral abnormalities (Griffiths et al., 2020). Fmr1 KO forebrain mitochondria show an increased Complex II and Complex V kinetic activity compared to control, whereas the activities of Complex I + III and Complex II + III within forebrain mitochondria were significantly decreased than control, suggesting CoQ deficiency. Consistent with these results, levels of CoQ via HPLC were quantified, showing a decreased level of this CoQ in *Fmr1* KO mitochondria. A readout of the appropriate function of the electron transport chain is the mitochondrial inner membrane potential (Licznerski et al., 2020). The mitochondrial membrane potential is generated by proton pumps (Complexes I, III and IV) and it serves as an intermediate form of energy storage which is used by ATP synthase to make ATP. (Zorova et al., 2018). FXS mitochondria has less than half of the membrane potential in WT mitochondria (Licznerski et al., 2020).

To produce ATP, H⁺ ions move across the mitochondrial ATP synthase (complex V) and cause a conformational change in the enzyme, making ATP. ATP synthase (F_0F_1) is a large protein complex located in the inner membrane, where it catalyzes ATP synthesis from ADP, P_i, and Mg²⁺ at the expense of an electrochemical gradient of protons generated by the electron transport chain (Pedersen et al., 2000). The mammalian ATP synthase has 15 subunit types (BUCHANAN and WALKER, 1996; Catterall and Pedersen, 1971; Ko et al., 2000), forming the F₁ catalytic unit (Catterall & Pedersen, 1971), an ATP hydrolysis-driven motor and F₀. F₀, containing subunits a and c, is anchored in the inner membrane to form a proton-driven motor, and a second part composed of subunits b and F₆ (Collinson et al., 1994; Golden and Pedersen, 1998; Ko et al., 2000). Pathological opening of the channel may occur upon conformational change of the ATP synthase (Gerle, 2016; Gu et al., 2019; Mnatsakanyan and Jonas, 2020; Vlasov et al., 2019), separation of the F₁ from the F₀ (Alavian et al., 2014) or loss of F₁ (Chen et al., 2019).

In *Fmr1* KO neurons, the level of ATP synthase, b-subunit and c-subunit levels were highly elevated compared to those measured in control mitochondria (Licznerski et al., 2020). The mRNA of b-subunit is a target of FMRP (Darnell et al., 2011). Through RT-PCR experiment, the mRNAs codifying for b-subunit and c-subunit were increased in Fmr1 KO synapses compared to those of WT synapses (Licznerski et al., 2020). These results elucidate the influence of the lack of FMRP on the transcription of ATP synthase subunits: only b-subunit, but not c-subunit, translation is to be regulated by FMRP. The abnormal levels of ATP synthase c-subunit in FXS mitochondria lead to a mitochondrial inner membrane leak.

1.10 5-HT7 receptors

Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) acts as a monoamine neuro-hormone and neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS), with a role in regulation of mood, perception, circadian rhythm, nociception, hormone secretion, aggression, anxiety, appetite and sexual behaviour, (Abela et al., 2020; Cervantes-Durán et al., 2013; Cummings and Leiter, 2020; Hannon and Hoyer, 2008; Nichols and Nichols, 2008; Paulus and Mintz, 2016), and in peripheral nervous system (PNS), where it controls intestinal motility (Foxx-Orenstein et al., 1996) and immune/inflammatory response (Ahern, 2011). 5-HT has also been linked to cognition, memory, learning, and attention (Pourhamzeh et al., 2021).

During neuronal development, 5-HT influences synapse formation and has a modulatory role in proliferation, migration, differentiation, maturation of postmitotic neurons (Daubert and Condron, 2010). Notably, 5-HT also regulates cell adhesion molecules, which influences neuronal plasticity in both developing and adult brains (Dalva et al., 2007) and controls adult hippocampal neurogenesis (Duman and Monteggia, 2006).

In the CNS, serotonergic neurons are located in two groups of nuclei of dorsal and median raphe (DRN and MRN), and in part of the reticular formation in the brain stem (Abela et al., 2020) and project their axons to cortical, limbic, midbrain, and hindbrain regions (Huang et al., 2019).

In the PNS, 5-HT is synthesized by both gut neurons and enterochromaffin cells, located in the gastrointestinal (GI) system, and serves several roles as a hormone, autocrine, or paracrine factor. Because 5-HT cannot cross blood–brain barrier (BBB), these two central and peripheral 5-HT systems are entirely independent (Sahu et al., 2018). 5-HT exerts a large number of effects by activation of seven subtypes of transmembrane receptors (5-HT₁₋₇). 5-HT₃ receptors are ligand-gated ion channels mediating fast depolarization (Sugita et al., 1992). All the other 5-HT receptors are G protein-coupled metabotropic receptors: 5-HT₁ and 5-HT₅ receptors inhibit adenylate cyclase, 5-HT₄, 5-HT₆ and 5-HT₇ receptors instead stimulate adenylate cyclase, whereas the 5-HT₂ receptor family is positively linked to phospholipase C (Hannon and Hoyer, 2008; Millan et al., 2008; Pytliak et al., 2011). Autoreceptors are present presynaptically on the soma (5-HT_{1A}Rs) or on axon terminals (5-HT_{1B} and 5-HT_{1D} receptors) of serotonergic neurons and control 5-HT release via regulation of neuronal firing rate and negative feedback in concordance with the function of 5-HT transporters. Moreover, the activity of serotonergic neurons is regulated by 5-HT_{2B}Rs (Belmer et al., 2018) and 5-HT₇Rs (Martín-Cora and Pazos, 2004).

5-HT₇R belongs to the family of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Hoyer et al., 2002). It is expressed in different area of mice and rat brain, among which thalamus, hypothalamus, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, amygdala, raphe nuclei, suprachiasmatic nucleus, and spinal cord (Dogrul and Seyrek, 2006; Hedlund and Sutcliffe, 2004; Thomas and Hagan, 2004). 5-HT₇R expression in the human brain is similar to that found in mice (Hagan et al., 2000; Martín-Cora and Pazos, 2004; Varnäs et al., 2004). However the human 5-HT₇R is also expressed in caudate nucleus, putamen and substantia nigra (Martín-Cora and Pazos, 2004), where mice have no expression of this receptor. 5-HT₇R brain expression level is age-related: in mice, the amount of 5-HT₇R in neurons is high at birth and then decreases progressively during development (García-Alcocer et al., 2006; Kobe et al., 2012; Muneoka and Takigawa, 2003). However 5-HT₇ receptors exert important functions also in the adult: it has been implicated in the regulation of sleep, circadian rhythm, body temperature control, learning, memory and cognition (Gellynck et al., 2013; Matthys et al., 2011). The role of 5-HT₇ receptors has been studied using the 5-HT₇ receptor knock-out (5-HT₇ KO) mice (Guscott et al., 2005; Roberts et al., 2004; Sarkisyan and Hedlund, 2009; Witkin et al., 2007).

Behavioural studies on 5-HT₇ KO mice (Roberts et al., 2004; Sarkisyan and Hedlund, 2009) and on wild-type animals (Eriksson et al., 2012; Manuel-Apolinar and Meneses, 2004; Perez-García and Meneses, 2005) point out a pro-cognitive action exerted by activation of 5-HT₇ receptors. 5-HT₇ KO mice have no memory alteration in operant food conditioning tests, a kind of hippocampus-independent memory, and Barnes maze, which in contrast is a hippocampus-dependent spatial learning. However, these mice displayed a memory deficit in the fear conditioning test, which involves hippocampus-dependent contextual learning with an emotional component. These studies suggest that 5-HT₇ receptors do not influence hippocampus-independent memory, whereas they

have a specific role in hippocampus-dependent learning with a strong emotional part. The specific contextual learning impairment of 5-HT7 KO mice was consistent with a decrease of CA1 hippocampal LTP. However, 5-HT₇ KO mice show normal recognition of novel objects (Sarkisyan and Hedlund, 2009), which is a cortex – dependent memory based on visual stimuli and that correspond to human declarative episodic memory. A study on allocentric spatial memory (a hippocampusdependent memory which encodes information about the location of an object respect to other objects in the space and independent from the observer), showed that either 5-HT₇ KO mice or wild type mice treated with the 5-HT₇ antagonist SB-269970 have an impairment in the recognition of a novel location, whereas no alteration was found about the egocentric memory, which is a striatumdependent memory in which the location of an object is related to the observer (Sarkisyan and Hedlund, 2009). During the passive avoidance test, a contextual learning, in vivo administration of a 5-HT₇ agonist induced a pro-cognitive effect; this effect was abolished and replaced with a learning impairment when 5-HT₁ receptors were activated (Eriksson et al., 2008; Eriksson et al., 2012). 5-HT₇ receptors are able to influence learning based on Pavlonian and instrumental tasks (Perez-García and Meneses, 2005). During an instrumental learning task, a rodents pressed a lever and a food reward was rapidly delivered, while a food reward was delivered with a short delay following a light signal during conditioned learning. The activation of 5-HT₇ receptors by a subcutaneous injection of agonist AS-19 increased memory formation in adult rats.

The 5-HT₇ receptor gene contains several introns in the coding region (Ruat et al., 1993) that cause a significant number of functional splice variants. Three 5-HT₇ isoforms were identified in human tissues which possess different C-terminal tails: 5-HT_{7a} (445-aa), 5-HT_{7b} (432-aa) and 5-HT_{7d} (479-aa) (Heidmann et al., 1997). All the isoforms are coupled to G_s protein and also interact with G₁₂ protein (Kvachnina et al., 2005; Riobo and Manning, 2005; Strathmann and Simon, 1991).

The activation of G_s protein, leads to the stimulation of Adenylate Cyclase (AC), which in turn causes an increase in intracellular cAMP level (Shen et al., 1993). The 5-HT₇R can also stimulate ACs without the activation of G_s proteins: the 5-HT₇(a) isoform stimulates ACI and ACVIII, which are present exclusively in the brain and are G_s -insensitive (Wirth et al., 2017); their activation depends on intracellular calcium concentration and on Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent signalling pathways. The activation of all types of AC produces cAMP, which stimulates protein kinase A (PKA), triggering the activation of the kinases ERK and Akt, both depending on the activation of Ras and involved in morphogenic changes. In particular, Akt activation necessitates an enhancement of both [cAMP] and intracellular [Ca2+], while ERK is inhibited by Ca²⁺ increasing level and can be induced in a PKA- independent pathway or by EPAC exchange protein that is directly activated by cAMP (Grimes et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2003). Another kinase linked to ERK is Cdk5: this kinase activates ERK by phosphorylation at threonine 202 and tyrosine 204, leading to neurite outgrowth in cortical and striatal neurons isolated from embryonic rats, as well as in cortical, striatal, and hippocampal neurons from embryonic mice (Speranza et al., 2013). Stimulation of 5-HT₂Rs can also activate mTOR-mediated pathway; this mechanism was shown to influence the expressions of proteins involved in synaptogenesis such as CamKII and Shank3 (Bhattacharya et al., 2012) and to modulate synaptic plasticity and memory formation (Odajima et al., 2011).

As already mentioned, in addition to Gs the 5-HT₇R is coupled to the Ga12 subunit of the G12/13 protein family (Wirth et al., 2017). The main downstream effectors of the G12/13 proteins are Rho small G proteins (Chen et al., 2005; Fukuhara et al., 1999). The Rho family of GTPases belongs to a subfamily of the Ras superfamily (Boureux et al., 2007). The major members of the Rho family are Cdc42, Rac1, and RhoA (Fukuhara et al., 2001). These Rho GTPases modulate cell morphology and in particular actin cytoskeleton organization, influencing the neural branch dynamics, dendritic development, and neurite outgrowth through the cell rounding and filopodia formation in the neurons (Li et al., 2000; Ruchhoeft et al., 1999; Sit and Manser, 2011; Zipkin et al., 1997). Rac1 and Cdc42 activities promote neurite extension and branching, while RhoA causes neurite retraction and growth cone collapse (Ponimaskin et al., 2007).

Conditions determining a preferential activation of either G_s or G_{12} by 5-HT₇Rs are not clear, but some indication exists. Palmitoylation of 5-HT₇ receptors can influence the G_s -mediated constitutive activity but has no effect on G_{12} -mediated stimulation (Gorinski and Ponimaskin, 2013; Kvachnina et al., 2009), suggesting that post-translational modifications of 5-HT₇ receptors are able to influence the intracellular pathway activated, thus changing their final effect. In addition, there is a different expression of G proteins coupled to 5-HT₇R during neuro-development: the amount of G_{12} is higher at early post-natal age, whereas the expression of G_s remains constant during development (Kobe et al., 2012).

5-HT₇ receptors play an important role in actin cytosketon remodelling: 5-HT₇R activation in cultured hippocampal neurons enhanced neurite length, promoted dendritic spine formation, enhanced the number of structurally intact synapses, and increases both the general level of AMPA receptor expression as well as the number of synaptic AMPA receptors, increasing the amplitude of excitatory postsynaptic potentials (Kobe et al., 2012; Kvachnina et al., 2005). In addition, the number of

dendritic protrusions and synapse density in $G_{\alpha 12}$ knockout (KO) neurons were reduced compared to wild type neurons, showing that morphogenic synaptic changes are mediated by 5-HT₇R/G₁₂ (Kobe et al., 2012).

Activation of 5-HT₇R increased neurite length, the number of dendritic protrusions, and the number of synaptic contacts in cultured striatal and cortical neurons (Speranza et al., 2017), consistent with results on primary hippocampal neurons (Kobe et al., 2012; Kvachnina et al., 2005). Moreover, Speranza and colleagues observed that cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) and Cdc42 are required to maintain 5-HT₇R-mediated spine formation, acting as downstream effectors of 5-HT₇R of striatal neurons (Speranza et al., 2017).

5-HT₇-mediated effects on synapse morphology also involve extracellular matrix remodelling: a very interesting study shows that 5-HT₇ receptors increase neuronal outgrowth and promote elongation of dendritic spines by activation of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9), leading to cleavage of CD44 followed by Cdc42 activation (Bijata et al., 2017).

5-HT₇R/G₁₂ signalling influences neuronal morphology especially during early development (Herlenius and Lagercrantz, 2001). As already mentioned, the expression of 5-HT₇R and G₁₂ are downregulated during later development (Kobe et al., 2012). Therefore, 5-HT₇R/G₁₂ signalling influences dendrite morphogenesis, synaptogenesis, and functional plasticity of hippocampal networks during early stages of development and a disruption of serotonergic transmission participates to the onset of neurodevelopmental disorders.

Nevertheless, 5-HT₇R-mediated modulation of neural plasticity is not restricted to embryonic and early postnatal development but also occurs in adulthood (Ciranna and Catania, 2014).

1.11 The cAMP theory in Fragile X syndrome

Several studies have reported an aberrant cAMP pathway in patients suffering from FXS (Berry-Kravis and Huttenlocher, 1992; Kelley et al., 2007). Blood platelets from FXS patients have a reduced basal level of cAMP (Berry-Kravis and Huttenlocher, 1992; Berry-Kravis and Sklena, 1993) and a reduced cAMP production induced by forskolin (Kelley et al., 2007). Importantly, as already mentioned, in absence of FMRP, PDE2A, a cAMP degradative enzyme and FMRP target, is overexpressed in cortical and hippocampal FXS neurons leading to low cAMP levels (Maurin et al.,

42

2018a). Consistent with the cAMP theory for FXS, exaggerated mGluR LTD in *Fmr1* KO mice was corrected by blockade of mGluR2 (Choi et al., 2016; Choi et al., 2011), by inhibition of PDE4 (Choi et al., 2016; Choi et al., 2015) and by inhibition of PDE2A (Maurin et al., 2018b), all increasing intracellular cAMP level.

In agreement with the studies above indicated, results from our laboratories show that excessive mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO mice was corrected by activation of 5-HT₇R and PACAP receptors, both stimulating adenylate cyclase (Costa et al., 2018). In the same work, we show that in WT neurons, following blockade of adenylate cyclase the amount of mGluR-LTD became comparable to that observed in *Fmr1* KO slices, suggesting that exaggerated mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO mice might be related to reduced cAMP production.

Taken together these results suggest that Gs-coupled receptors might correct the cAMP deficit in FXS and represent a new pharmacological strategy for FXS therapy.

1.12 Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5)

Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) belongs to a large family of cyclin-dependent kinases and is involved in 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated effects on axonal and dendritic growth (Speranza et al., 2013; Speranza et al., 2015; Speranza et al., 2017). Cdk5 is a proline-directed serine/threonine protein kinase, which was first discovered thanks to its close sequence homology to the human cell division cycle protein 2 (Cdc2, also known as Cdk1), a regulator protein of cell cycle (Hellmich et al., 1992; Lew et al., 1992; Meyerson et al., 1992). Unlike the other cyclin-dependent kinases, Cdk5 is not involved in the cell cycle, being mostly expressed in post-mitotic neurons, and plays a crucial role in the brain controlling neuronal differentiation and migration during development, cytoskeletal and microtubule regulation and synaptic plasticity (Kawauchi, 2014; Shah and Rossie, 2018; Ximerakis et al., 2019). Unlike other Cdks, which are expressed at high levels during development, Cdk5 is expressed not only during development (Pao and Tsai, 2021) but also in adult mouse brain (Tsai et al., 1993). As a Cdk family member, Cdk5 activity relies on the association with specific partners to become active. Cdk5 activators present only in neurons are the intracellular membrane-bound peptides p35 and p39 (Ko et al., 2001). The expression of Cdk5 and p35 match during the same period in the developing mouse neocortex, and p35 is primarily expressed in the post-mitotic neurons like Cdk5 (Tsai et al., 1994). The other regulatory subunit, p39, was discovered thanks to its high sequence identity to p35 (Tang et al., 1995). P39 is highly expressed in the brain (Humbert et al., 2000; Ko et al., 2001; Tang et al., 1995), but shows differences from p35: during neural development, the expression of p35 is high from embryonic stage to postnatal stage, whereas p39 is more expressed postnatally (Takahashi et al., 2003). In addition, p35 and p39 are differently located in the brain: p35 is most present in the cerebral cortex and cerebellum, whereas p39 is predominantly localized in the cerebellum, brain stem, and spinal cord. Moreover, p39 protein is more stable than p35 but has lower binding affinity for Cdk5 (Minegishi et al., 2010; Yamada et al., 2007). The lack of p39 or Cdk5 in cultured neurons causes impairment in dendritic morphogenesis whereas no alteration was observed in cultured neurons lacking p35 expression (Ouyang et al., 2020). Cdk5/p39 also plays an important role in Rac1-induced remodelling of cytoskeleton (Ito et al., 2014).

Cdk5 has different roles in neuronal migration, neurite outgrowth, axonal guidance, and synaptic plasticity (Pao and Tsai, 2021). In particular, this kinase influences microtubule and cytoskeleton-related function (Xie et al., 2003), promoting axon formation (Fang et al., 2011) (Nikolic et al., 1998) (Duhr et al., 2014) (Furusawa et al., 2017), and regulating neural migration (Nikolic et al., 1998; Nishimura et al., 2014; Perlini et al., 2015; Xie et al., 2003; Ye et al., 2014). Moreover Cdk5 was shown to affect synaptic functions increasing clathrin-mediated endocytosis (Floyd et al., 2001; Tomizawa et al., 2003), increasing vesicle release (Shuang et al., 1998), regulating synaptic plasticity (Huang et al., 2017; Lai et al., 2012; Li et al., 2001; Morabito et al., 2004; Seeburg et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2003) and calcium influx (Su et al., 2012; Tomizawa et al., 2002). p35-null mice show impairment in axonal and dendritic organization (Chae et al., 1997) and in long-term depression and display a depotentiation of long-term potentiation (Ohshima et al., 2005), showing a role for the Cdk5/p35 complex in synaptic plasticity.

Cdk5 is also involved in BDNF-TrkB signalling phosphorylation of TrkB on Ser 478 by Cdk5 increases activity-dependent structural plasticity and spatial memory (Lai et al., 2012).

In some pathological conditions, the cleavage of p35 to a shorter activator peptide p25 causes an aberrant Cdk5 activity. Moreover, p25 lacks the myristoylation signal that normally anchors Cdk5 to the membrane. Neurotoxic insults cause calcium influx and trigger the activation of a cysteine protease named calpain (Lee et al., 2000). p35 is cleaved by calpain at Phe⁹⁸/Ala⁹⁹ sequence producing an accumulation of p25 into cytoplasm and nucleus, causing an constitutive activation and a mislocalization of Cdk5 (Allnutt et al., 2020) due also to a 5- to 10-fold longer protein half-life compared to p35 (Patrick et al., 1999). Aberrant p25/Cdk5 signalling is involved in neurotoxicity,

neuroinflammation (Sundaram et al., 2012), neurodegeneration (Cheung and Ip, 2004), Alzheimer's disease (Patrick et al., 1999; Shukla et al., 2012; Tseng et al., 2002) and Parkinson's disease (He et al., 2020).

Moreover, Cdk5 has an influence in regulation of mitochondrial fission. Mitochondria are dynamically interconnected, allowing them to share membranes, solutes, metabolites and proteins (Liu et al., 2020). Mitochondria separate and merge using fission and fusion processes to respond to changes in energy and stress status: fusion happens when two adjacent mitochondria join, while fission separates one mitochondria into two, facilitating the removal of damaged components through mitophagy (Giacomello et al., 2020). Cdk5 hyperactivity leads to abnormal mitochondrial fission in pathological conditions, such as neurotoxic insults and neurodegenerative diseases (Cherubini et al., 2015; Jahani-Asl et al., 2015; Meuer et al., 2007; Park et al., 2019; Park et al., 2020; Rong et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2020). Excessive mitochondrial fission is associated with mitochondrial defects and neuronal death.

CHAPTER 2: Aim of the study

FXS is classified as a synaptopathy, since the lack of FMRP, an mRNA binding protein regulating translation of a large amount of synaptic protein(Pfeiffer and Huber, 2009), leads to alterations of synaptic morphology and function. The murine model of the disease, the *Fmr1* KO mouse, shows abnormal synaptic plasticity, aberrant maturation of dendritic spines and altered mitochondrial functions. At present, no specific therapy is available for FXS patients: the failure of numerous clinical trials underlines the urgency to identify new therapeutic targets.

Our research group has demonstrated that activation of 5-HT₇ receptors is able to reverse mGluR-LTD in wild type mouse hippocampal neurons and to reduce excessive mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO mouse neurons, thus correcting a typical synaptic malfunction in a FXS mouse model. Moreover, *in vivo* administration of a selective agonist for 5-HT₇ receptors, LP-211, can rescue learning and behaviour in *Fmr1* KO mice, suggesting that 5-HT₇ receptor agonists might became pharmacological tools for a possible therapy of Fragile X syndrome.

In this perspective, the aim of my PhD studies was to investigate the intracellular molecular pathways involved in 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD. On this purpose, I used the patch clamp technique on hippocampal slices from wild-type and *Fmr1* KO mice to record mGluR-LTD in the synapse between CA3 and CA1 pyramidal neurons. In particular, I focused on two main points: 1) a possible involvement of Cdk5 and Akt kinases, which were shown to be involved in 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated effects on maturation of dendritic spines; 2) a possible role of protein translation in 5-HT₇-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD.

In addition, *Fmr1* KO neurons show an enhancement of oxidative stress, an aberrant mitochondrial respiratory chain activity and an alteration in the ATP production (D'Antoni et al., 2020). Therefore, I have investigated whether the activation of 5-HT₇ receptors could influence mitochondrial activity. On this purpose, I have studied 5-HT₇ receptor expression and effects in a neuroblastoma cell line, a widely used *in-vitro* cellular model to study neuro-pathologies.

During my abroad period at the IPMC (Institute Pharmacology Moléculaire Et Cellulaire) in Valbonne, I have characterized a new murine model of intellectual disability. The Dr. Bardoni's research group identified a spontaneous R857G mutation in the *Kcc2* gene (unpublished data). The new variant causes the onset of seizures only in 4 months old mice with just the movement of the cage. Therefore, I investigated if this spontaneous mutation in the Kcc2 gene could affect the

expression of KCC2 protein in different brain region and influence neural activity and dendritic spine shape in the brain of *Kcc2* mutated mice.

CHAPTER 3: Materials and methods

3.1 Electrophysiology

Experiments were performed on mice *Fmr1* KO mice from C57BL/6J strain from a breeding colony kept at the University of Catania. Mice were maintained with a controlled temperature $(21 \circ C \pm 1 \circ C)$ and humidity (50%) on a 12 h light/dark cycle, with ad libitum food and water. Acute hippocampal slices were prepared from wild type and *Fmr1* KO mice (postnatal age 14 – 23 days). The brains were removed, placed in oxygenated ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF; in mM NaCl 124; KCl 3.0; NaH2PO4 1.2; MgSO4 1.2; CaCl2 2.0; NaHCO3 26; D-glucose 10, pH 7.3) and cut into 300 µm slices with a vibratome. Slices were continually perfused with oxygenated ACSF and viewed with infrared microscopy. Schaffer collaterals were stimulated with negative current pulses (duration 0.3 ms, delivered every 15 s). Evoked excitatory post synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded under wholecell configuration from CA1 pyramidal neurons (holding potential –70 mV). Data were acquired and analysed using Signal software. The recording micropipette was filled with intracellular solution (in mM: K-gluconate 140; HEPES 10; NaCl 10; MgCl2 2; EGTA 0.2; Mg-ATP 3.5; Na-GTP 1; pH 7.3). To isolate AMPA receptor-mediated EPSCs, bath solution contained (-)-bicuculline methiodide (5 μ M) and D-(-)-2-Amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (D-AP5, 50 µM). (S)-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine (DHPG; 100 µM) and LP-211 (10 nM) were dissolved in ACSF and applied by bath perfusion, whereas anisomycin (10 µM), Akt inhibitor III (1 µM) or roscovitine (1.6 µM) were included in the intracellular solution in different sets of experiments.

Experiments of spiking activity were performed in brain slices from mice obtained from a breeding colony kept at the IPMC (Institute Pharmacology Moléculaire Et Cellulaire) in Valbonne. We used *Kcc2* mutant and WT mice from C57BL/6J strain. Mice were maintained with a controlled temperature ($21^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$) and humidity (50%) on a 12 h light/dark cycle, with ad libitum food and water. Acute hippocampal slices were prepared from wild type and *Kcc2* mutant mice on a C57BL/6J background (postnatal age 20 –30 days). The brains were removed, placed in oxygenated ice-cold cutting solution (cutting solution; in mM; Sucrose 195 KCl 5.0; NaH2PO4 1.25; MgCl2 1.0; CaCl2 2.0; NaHCO3 25; D-glucose 25, Sucrose pH 7.3) and cut into 300 µm slices with a vibratome. Individual slices were transferred into store chamber with oxygenated artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF, in mM NaCl 125; KCl 5.0; NaH2PO4 1.25; MgCl 1; CaCl2 2.0; NaHCO3 25; D-glucose 15, pH 7.3) at 37°C. Cell-attached recording was performed on CA3 neurons using long-shank borosilicate micropipettes (5–10 M Ω), that were pulled with a P-97 puller (Sutter) and filled with ACSF. Micropipettes were installed on a MultiClamp 700B headstage (Molecular Devices). Minimal seal resistance was 20 M Ω .

Data were acquired under 'I = 0' mode (zero current injection) with a Multiclamp 700B. CA3 neurons were recorded for 5 minutes to obtain a stable baseline, isoguvacine (10 uM) was bath applied for 3 minutes and washed out for at least 10 minutes.

3.2 Cell Culture

SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells were cultured in a 1:1 mixture of Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium and Ham's F12 Medium. This medium was supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum, 1% (v/v) Glutamine and 1% (v/v) Penicillin – Streptomycin. Cells were cultivated in T75 flasks at 37°C with 5% CO_2 at saturated humidity and kept below 25 passage to avoid senescence.

3.3 Mitochondrial Enriched Fraction

The medium was removed from T75 flasks and collected in a 50 ml polypropylene tube. Cells were washed once with DPBS and detached using 0.05% (wt/v) trypsin – EDTA. After cell detachment, trypsin was blocked adding medium and the cell suspension was transferred in a 50 ml polypropylene tube. Then the medium and cell suspension were centrifugated at 125 g for 5 minutes, the supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in Ringer NaCl buffer (NaCl 135 mM, HEPES 20 mM, MgSO₄ 0.8 mM, KCl 3 mM, CaCl₂ 1.8 mM, D-Glucose 11 mM, pH=7.5) (Palacino et al., 2004). Afterward cells were centrifuged at 125g for 5 minutes, suspended in A buffer (Sucrose 320 mM, Tris-HCl 5 mM, EGTA 2 mM, pH=7.4) and homogenized with a glass-teflon grinder kept in ice. The homogenate was centrifuged at 4°C for 6 minutes at 2000 g to removed nuclei and tissue particles, while the supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 4°C for 15 minutes at 12000 g to pellet mitochondria. Finally, the pellet was washed with A Buffer to reduce the cytosolic contamination.

3.4 Western Blot analysis

The mitochondrial enriched fraction, obtained as above described, was treated with RIPA buffer and protease inhibitor cocktail. The mitochondrial lysate was centrifugated at 4°C for 15 minutes at 12000 g and protein concentration in the supernatant was dosed with DC protein Assay. Denatured proteins were separated through SDS-PAGE using Mini protean TGX stain free gels at 10% of polyacrylamide and transferred in a 0.2 um PVDF membrane using Trans Turbo Blot Transfer System. The membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk in TBS-Tween 20 0.1% for 1 hour at room temperature and incubated overnight with an anti-5-HT₇, anti- β -tubulin and anti- β -ATP synthase antibody. The membranes were rinsed three times in TBS-Tween 20 0.1% and incubated with anti-

mouse or anti-rabbit antibody. Blots were revealed using Clarity Western ECL Substrate through UVITEC Cambridge Chemiluminescence imaging system.

Denaturated protein gel electrophoresis on hippocampal and cortex of Kcc2 mutant and WT mice was performed with NuPAGE Bis-Tris Mini Gel. Samples were combined with NuPAGE LDS Sample Buffer (4x) and NuPAGE Reducing Agent (10x) and incubated at 95°C for 10 minutes. Samples were run for about 1,5 h (150V; 1x NuPAGE MOPS SDS Running Buffer). After gel electrophoresis, proteins were transferred on a NC-membrane for 1.5 h (at 0,25A). Subsequently, membranes were saturated in 5% milk for 1 h and incubated with primary antibodies overnight anti-GAPDH (calbiochem, 1:5000); anti-KCC2 (Invitrogen, 1:1000). Membranes were washed 3 times in PBS-0.1% Tween and incubated with secondary antibodies (1:5000) for 1h. After 3 washes in PBS-0.1% Tween, membranes were revealed with Immobilon Western (Millipore Ref. P90720).

3.5 Complex IV activity measurements

To estimated cytochrome *c* oxidase (complex IV) activity, we performed spectrophotometric assays with and without administration of 5-HT₇ agonist LP-211 (1 μ M) and 5-HT₇ antagonist SB-269970 (1 μ M) using a standard method (Spinazzi et al., 2012) with some modifications. Isolated mitochondria, obtained as described above, were subjected to three cycles of freeze and thaw in hypotonic potassium phosphate buffer (20 mM, pH = 7,4) to maximize the enzymatic rates. Then mitochondria were added to 250 μ I of potassium phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH= 7.5), 5 μ I of n-dodecyl- β -D-maltoside 150 mM and distilled water in a 1 ml cuvette. The reactions started with the addition of 50 μ I of reduced cytochrome *c* (1 mM) and it was followed by a decrease in absorbance at 550 nm due to oxidation of cytochrome *c*. Complex IV specific activity was checked by adding 20 μ I of KCN 60 mM. LP-211 and SB-269970 at 1 μ M in ethanol 10% were incubated with mitochondria for 3 minutes before to start reaction by adding reduced cytochrome *c*.

3.6 SH-SY5Y Membrane Preparation for Saturation-Binding Assay

The membrane preparation was carried out as described by Colabufo et al. with minor modifications (Colabufo et al., 2004). SH-SY5Y cells were cultured to 80% confluence; then, the medium was removed, and cells were rinsed in PBS. After detaching, cells were suspended in ice-cold 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), containing 0.32 M of sucrose and homogenized in a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer (Teflon pestle). The homogenate was centrifuged at 31,000 g for 15 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was discarded. The final pellet was resuspended in ice-cold 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) and stored at -80 °C until use. 4.7. Saturation-Binding Assay Saturation experiments were carried out as

previously reported with minor modification (Lacivita et al., 2020). 5-HT7Rs were radiolabeled using [3H]-SB269970 (PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA, USA) at concentrations in the range of 0.1–20 nM. Samples containing 100 μ g of SH-SY5Y cells membranes or 70 μ g of SH-SY5Y cells mitochondrial-enriched fraction, radioligand, and 10 μ M SB-269970 (Tocris Bioscience, Bristol, UK) to determine nonspecific binding were incubated in a final volume of 0.5 mL (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 4 mM MgCl2, 0.1% ascorbic acid, 10 μ M pargyline hydrochloride) for 20 min at 37 °C. The suspension was filtered through a Whatman GF/C glass microfiber filter (presoaked in 0.3% polyethylenimine for at least 20 min prior to use). Filters were washed 3 times with 1 mL of ice-cold buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4). Scatchard parameters (Kd and Bmax) and Hill slope (nH) were determined by nonlinear curve fitting, using Prism version 5.0 GraphPad software.

3.7 Saturation-Binding Assay

Saturation experiments were carried out as previously reported with minor modification (Lacivita et al., 2020). 5-HT7Rs were radiolabeled using [3H]-SB269970 (PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA, USA) at concentrations in the range of 0.1–20 nM. Samples containing 100 μ g of SH-SY5Y cells membranes or 70 μ g of SH-SY5Y cells mitochondrial-enriched fraction, radioligand, and 10 μ M SB-269970 (Tocris Bioscience, Bristol, UK) to determine nonspecific binding were incubated in a final volume of 0.5 mL (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 4 mM MgCl2, 0.1% ascorbic acid, 10 μ M pargyline hydrochloride) for 20 min at 37 °C. The suspension was filtered through a Whatman GF/C glass microfiber filter (presoaked in 0.3% polyethylenimine for at least 20 min prior to use). Filters were washed 3 times with 1 mL of ice-cold buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4). Scatchard parameters (Kd and Bmax) and Hill slope (nH) were determined by nonlinear curve fitting, using Prism version 5.0 GraphPad software.

3.8 Rapid Golgi staining

Golgi Staining was perfomed as described in (Du, 2019). Kcc2 mutant and WT mice brains were removed, rinsed twice in Milli-Q water and immersed in impregnation solution, prepared by mixing equal volume of solution A and B. The samples were stored at room temperature for two weeks. Then, samples were transferred into Solution C and stores at room temperature in the dark. After 3 days, the brains were cut into 100 µm sections using a vibratome (Leica VT 1000 S). Slices were rinsed twice in Milli-Q water and placed in the staining solution, composed by solution D and E, for 10 minutes. Then slices were rinsed in Milli-Q water 2 times for 4 min each rinse and dehydrated in sequential rinses of 50%, 75%, 95% and 100% ethanol, 4 min each rinse. Afterward, the sections

were cleared in xylene 3 times for 4 min each rinse. The slices were analysed through a bright-field microscope. Spine density and length were quantified using ImageJ as software.

3.9 Genotyping

Fragments of mouse tails were incubated overnight at 55 °C in lysis buffer (Tris pH=8 0,1M, EDTA 10mM; 0,1% SDS; 0,5% NP40) with addition of proteinase K. After inactivation of proteinase K for 10 min at 96 °C, DNA was diluted 10x and used directly for PCR reaction with primers (Seq-mSlc12a5-Rev = 5'-TCATCCACTGACGGCTATGG; Seq-mSlc12a5-For = 5'-ACGGGACCTTTCTTTTGGGA). PCR products were purified with QIAGEN MinElute PCR Purification Kit (Cat. No. 28004) and subjected to Sanger sequencing. Chromatograms were analyzed with SnapGene Viewer.

3.10 Statistical analysis

For electrophysiology experiments, peak amplitude values of EPSCs were averaged over 1 min and expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude (calculated from EPSCs recorded during at least 15 min before DHPG application). % EPSC values from groups of neurons were pooled (mean \pm standard error of mean, SEM) and graphically represented as a function of time (GraphPad Prism 7). One-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test were used to compare three groups of data, whereas unpaired Student's t test was used to compare two groups of data. Statistical significance was accepted at p < 0.05 (*p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

Spiking activity measured by current clamp (I=0) recordings in loose patch configuration were normalized and analysed through the the one-sample Wilcoxon signed rank test and Mann-Whitney test (*p < 0.05).

Scatchard analysis data were analysed by applying one-way repeated-measures analysis of variance (ANOVA test), and unpaired t test followed as a post hoc test. Results were reported as mean \pm SEM (standard error of the mean) of at least two to three independent experiments, performed in triplicate. Statistical significance was accepted at p < 0.05.

Cytochrome c oxidase activity data, represent mean rates (nmol/min/mg) \pm SEM obtained from at least four independent experiments. *, p < 0.05, nonparametric Wilcoxon test between mitochondria administered with LP-211 and SB-269970, and nontreated mitochondria.

CHAPTER 4: Results

4.1 Blockade of Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 (Cdk5) in WT neurons enhanced mGluR-LTD and abolished 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD

Excitatory post synaptic currents (EPSCs) mediated byAMPA receptors were recorded from CA1 pyramidal neurons in whole-cell patch clamp. In wild-type hippocampal slices, application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min), an agonist of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs), induced a long-term depression(mGluR-LTD) of AMPA receptor-mediated EPSCs (EPSC amplitude 40 min after DHPG: 79 ± 10% with respect to baseline EPSC amplitude prior to DHPG application, *n* = 11; Figure 1 A). In another group of recordings, the Cdk5 inhibitor roscovitine (1.6 μ M) was included in the intracellular pipettesolution. In this condition, the amount of mGluR-LTD induced by DHPGwas significantly enhanced respect to control conditions (EPSC amplitude: 51 ± 9%, *n* = 7, versus 79 ± 10%, *n* = 11, wild-type DHPG + roscovitine versus wild-type DHPG, p = 0.04, *t* = 1.821, *df* = 16; unpaired *t* test; Figure 1 A and B). We have previously shown that activation of 5-HT7 receptors reverses mGluR-LTD in wild-type and in *Fmr1*KO neurons (Costa et al., 2018; Costa et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2012). In the presence of intracellular roscovitine (1.6 μ M), application of the 5-HT7 receptor agonist LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min) was unable to reverse mGluR-LTD in wild-type slices (EPSC amplitude: 51 ± 9%, *n* = 7, versus 49 ± 9%, *n* = 6; wild-type DHPG + roscovitine versus wild-type DHPG

Wild type



Figure 1 Blockade of Cdk5 enhanced mGluR-LTD in CA1 neurons from wild-type mice and abolished 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal on mGluR-LTD. AMPA receptor-mediated excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded in the presence of D-AP5 (50 μ M) and bicuculline (5 μ M) under whole-cell patch clamp in the CA3-CA1 synapses in hippocampal slices from wild-type mice. (A) Bath application of the group I mGluR agonist DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced a long-term depression (mGluR-LTD) of EPSC amplitude (white dots, n = 11). When theCdk5 inhibitor roscovitine (1.6 μ M) was added to intracellular solution, DHPG-induced mGluR-LTD was enhanced (light grey dots, n = 7) respect to control. In the presence of intracellular roscovitine (1.6 μ M), application of LP-211 did not modify the amount of mGluR-LTD (black dots, n = 6). (B) The bar graph shows that the amount of mGluR-LTD measured 40 min after DHPG application (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude; EPSC values of single neurons are displayed for each bar) in the three different experimental conditions (One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test; *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

4.2 Blockade of Cyclin-dependent Kinase 5 (Cdk5) abolished 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD also in Fmr1 KO neurons

In *Fmr1* KO slices, the amount of mGluR-LTD induced by application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min)in control conditions and in the presence of intracellular roscovitine (1.6 μ M) was similar (EPSC amplitude: 53 ± 10%, *n* = 8 versus 50 ± 3%, *n* = 6; *Fmr1* KO DHPG versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + roscovitine; *p* = 0.39, *t* = 0.2670, *df* = 12; Figure 2 A and B). The intracellular presence of roscovitine induced a comparable amount of mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO and WT neurons (EPSC amplitude 51 ± 9%, *n* = 7 versus 50 ± 3%, *n* = 6; wild-type DHPG + roscovitine versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + roscovitine; *p* = 0.78, *t* = 0.2817, *df* = 11; compare the grey dots columns in Figure 2 B and Figure 2 B). In *Fmr1* KO neurons, application of LP-211 (10 nM,5 min) significantly reversed mGluR-LTD (Costa et al., 2018; Costa et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2012) but had no effect in the presence of roscovitine, (EPSC amplitude: 51 ± 12%, *n* = 7, versus 50 ± 3, *n* = 6; *Fmr1* KO DHPG + roscovitine + LP-211 versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG +

roscovitine; p = 0.47, t = 0.07344, df = 11; Figure 2 A and B). 5-HT₇-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD was completely abolished by roscovitine in wild-type and in *Fmr1* KO to a comparable extent (EPSC amplitude: $49 \pm 9\%$, n = 6, versus $51 \pm 12\%$, n = 7, wild-typeDHPG + LP-211 + roscovitine versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + LP-211 + roscovitine, p = 0.896, t = 0.1336, df = 11; un- paired t test; compare Figures 1 B and 2 B).



Fmr1 KO

Figure 2 Blockade of Cdk5 did not modify mGluR-LTD in CA1 neurons from *Fmr1* KO mice and abolished 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal on mGluR-LTD. AMPA receptor-mediated excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded from CA1 neurons in the presence of D-AP5 (50 μ M) and bicuculline (5 μ M) in hippocampal slices from *Fmr1* KO mice. (A) Bath application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced mGluR-LTD (white dots; *n* = 8). In the presence of intracellular roscovitine (1.6 μ M) the amount of mGluR-LTD was not modified (grey dots, *n* = 6) respect to control conditions. The application of LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min) had no effect on mGluR-LTD in the presence of intracellular roscovitine (black dots, *n* = 7). (B) The bar graph shows the amount of mGluR-LTD measured 40 min after DHPG application (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude; EPSC values of single neurons are displayed for each bar) in the three different experimental conditions (One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test; *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

4.3 Inhibition of Akt abolished mGluR-LTD in wild-type but not in Fmr1 KO neurons.

To study the role of Akt kinase in the mGluR-LTD pathway, we measured the amount of mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO and WT slices in presence of intracellular Akt inhibitor III (1 μ M). When Akt inhibitor III was present in the intracellular solution, mGluR-LTD was inhibited in WT (Figure 3 A) but not in *Fmr1* KO neurons (Figure 3 B), indicating that Akt activation is necessary for mGluR-LTD only in WT slices (EPSC amplitude after 40 min from application of DHPG: 106.5 ± 35.19%, *n* = 6, versus 43.66 ± 14.09%, *n* = 6; WT DHPG + Akt inhibitor III versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + Akt inhibitor III; *p* = 0,029; t=2.641; df=8; Figure 3 C).



Figure 3 Blockade of Akt abolished mGluR-LTD in WT but not in Fmr1 Knockout (KO) slices. AMPAR-mediated excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded in the presence of D-AP5 (50 μ M) and bicuculline (5 μ M) under whole-cell configuration in the CA3–CA1 synapses in hippocampal slices from Fmr1 KO and WT mice in presence of intracellular Akt inhibitor III (1 μ M). (A) Bath application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced mGluR-LTD. In the presence of intracellular Akt III inhibitor, mGluR-LTD was abolished in wild-type neurons (white dots, n = 6). (B) DHPG-mediated mGluR-LTD was still observed in *Fmr1* KO slices in the presence of intracellular Akt III inhibitor (black dots, n=6). (C) The bar graph shows the amount of mGluR-LTD in WT and *Fmr1* KO neurons in the presence of Akt inhibitor III (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude) (Unpaired t test; *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

4.4 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in Fmr1 KO neurons did not require activation of Akt

We studied a possible involvement of Akt in 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD. Bath application of LP-211, was still able to reverse mGluR-LTD in presence of intracellular Akt inhibitor III (1 μ M) in *Fmr1* KO neurons (EPSC amplitude after 40 min from application of DHPG: 44,71 ± 14,09%, n=6, versus 85,44 ± 9,138%, n=6; *Fmr1* KO DHPG + Akt inhibitor versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + Akt inhibitor + LP-211; *p* = 0,0359; t=2,425 df=10; Figure 4 B). This result indicates that 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO neurons does not require Akt.



Figure 4 Blockade of Akt did not influence the 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in CA1 neurons from *Fmr1* KO mice. AMPA receptor-mediated excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded from CA1 neurons in the presence of D-AP5 (50 μ M) and bicuculline (5 μ M) in hippocampal slices from *Fmr1* KO mice. Bath application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced mGluR-LTD. The application of LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min) reversed mGluR-LTD in the presence of intracellular Akt inhibitor III (grey dots, n = 8). (B) The bar graph shows the amount of mGluR-LTD measured 40 min after DHPG application in *Fmr1* KO neurons (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude), without and with the application of LP-211 in the presence of Akt inhibitor III (Unpaired t test; *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

4.5 mGluR-LTD requires protein translation in wild-type but not in Fmr1 KO neurons

We measured the amount of mGluR-LTD in hippocampal *Fmr1* KO and WT neurons in the presence of intracellular anisomycin (10 μ M), a protein translation inhibitor. mGluR-LTD was inhibited in WT (Figure 5 A) but not in *Fmr1* KO neurons (Figure 5 B) when anisomycin was present in the intracellular solution (EPSC amplitude after 40 min from application of DHPG: 102 ± 10.69%, *n* = 4, versus 60.58 ± 7.96%, *n* = 5; WT DHPG + anisomycin versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + anisomycin; *p* = 0,0214; t=2; df=9; Figure 5 C). This result confirms previous data (Nosyreva and Huber, 2005) showing that protein translation is necessary for mGluR-LTD in WT but not in *Fmr1* KO slices.



Figure 5 Inhibition of protein synthesis abolished mGluR-LTD in WT but not in Fmr1 Knockout (KO) slices. AMPAR-mediated excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded in the presence of D-AP5 (50 μ M) and bicuculline (5 μ M) under whole-cell configuration in the CA3–CA1 synapses in hippocampal slices from *Fmr1* KO and WT mice in the presence of intracellular anisomycin (10 μ M). (A) Bath application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced mGluR-LTD. In the presence of intracellular anisomycin the mGluR-LTD was abolished (white dots, n = 4) in wild-type neurons. (B) The DHPG-mediated mGluR-LTD in hippocampal Fmr1 KO neurons was maintained in Fmr1 Knockout (KO) slices in presense of intracellular anisomycin (black dots, n=6). (C) The bar graph shows the amount of mGluR-LTD measured 40 min after DHPG application (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude) in the two different conditions (Unpaired t test; *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

4.6 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO neurons required protein translation

We tested the effect of LP-211 on mGluR-LTD in presence of intracellular anisomycin (10 μ M): in these conditions, activation of 5-HT₇ receptors was unable to reverse mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO slices (Fig. 6 A and B), indicating that 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated effect required protein synthesis (EPSC amplitude 40 min after application of DHPG: 70.8 ± 15.89%, *n* = 6, versus 50.15 ± 10.25%, *n* = 6; Fmr1 KO DHPG + anisomycin versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + anisomycin + LP-211; *p* = 0,29 t=1.13; df=9; Figure 6 B).



bicuculline (5 μ M) in hippocampal slices from Fmr1 KO mice. Bath application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced mGluR- LTD. The application of LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min) had no effect on mGluR-LTD in the presence of intracellular anisomycin (grey dots, n = 6). (B) The bar graph shows the amount of mGluR-LTD measured 40 min after DHPG application (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude), without and with the application of LP-211 in presence of anisomycin (Unpaired t test; *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

4.7 Two different isoforms of 5-HT₇ receptors are located in the cytosolic and mitochondrial fractions in SH-SY5Y

We first investigated 5-HT₇ receptor localization in SH-SY5Y cell line through an immunoblotting analysis of the cytosolic and the mitochondrial enriched fractions using a rabbit polyclonal antibody against a sequence identical for all human receptor splice variants. To ensure that there were no issues in our western blotting protocol, as positive control we used membranes obtained from HEK 293 cells, stably transfected with cDNA for 5-HT₇ receptor. These membranes were used in radioligand binding assay. The Western Blot analysis revealed that 5-HT₇ receptor was present in both cytosolic and mitochondrial fractions (Fig. 7 A). Two bands, with molecular masses of 40 and 50 KDa, were detected: the 50 KDa isoform in mitochondrial enriched fraction and the 40 KDa

isoform localizing in the cytosol. This pattern of data was observed in at least three independent experiments. Therefore, the results show that two protein forms of the 5-HT₇ receptor are expressed in human neuroblastoma cells. In order to rule out cytosolic contamination in mitochondrial fraction and *vice-versa*, we performed western blot analysis on the different fractions using an anti β -ATP synthase and an anti β -tubulin antibodies (Fig. 7 B). β ATP synthase is a mitochondrial protein while β - tubulin is mainly expressed in the cytosol. Our results show that the β ATP synthase band was absent in the cytosolic fraction (Fig. 7 B) and the β - tubulin band was not detected in the mitochondrial fraction (Fig. 7 B), indicating that there was no contamination in the analysed fractions.



Figure 7 (A) Expression of 5-HT7R in cytosolic (cyto) and mitochondrial (mito) enriched fractions obtained from SH-SY5Y cell line. Positive control represented by membranes (mem) obtained from 5-HT7R-stably transfected HEK 293 cells. (B) Same fractions of SH-SY5Y analyzed to detect β -ATP synthase (mitochondria marker) and β -tubulin (cytosol marker) expression by sequential reprobing on same blot. Molecular mass markers (KDa) indicated on the left.

4.8 Saturation-Binding Assay confirms the presence of 5-HT7Rs in mitochondria

The presence of 5-HT7R in the SH-SY5Y cell line was investigated with saturation-binding analysis. The assay was performed on both whole SH-SY5Y cell membranes and SH-SY5Y cell mitochondrial fractions. Results demonstrated the presence of 5-HT7R in both preparations, albeit with different expressions. SH-SY5Y cell membrane Bmax was 0.51 pmol/mg of protein (Fig. 8 A), whereas SH-SY5Y cell mitochondrial fraction Bmax was 0.081 pmol/mg of protein (Fig. 8 B). Furthermore, experiments gave different Kd values for [³H]SB-269970 in whole SH-SY5Y cells (Kd = 6.55 nM) and

SH-SY5Y cells mitochondrial-enriched fraction (Kd = 1.90 nM). For comparative purposes, saturation-binding analysis, performed with membranes obtained from HEK 293 cells stably transfected with cDNA for 5-HT7R, is reported in Figure 8 C. Schild regression analysis indicated the presence of a single binding site in the SH-SY5Y cells' mitochondrial-enriched fraction and the presence of an additional binding site in whole SH-SY5Y cell membranes.



Figure 8 Scatchard analysis with selective 5-HT7R radioligand [³H]SB-269970 on (A) whole SH-SY5Y cell membranes, (B) mitochondrial-enriched fractions obtained from SH-SY5Y cell line, and (C) membranes of 5-HT7R-transfected HEK 293 cells.

4.9 Administration of SB-269970 (but not LP-211) to mitochondria weakly influences Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain (MRC) Cytochrome c Oxidase activity

To investigate whether mitochondrial functions are influenced by activation of 5-HT₇ receptors located on mitochondria in human neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y, we measured the MRC complex IV activity of mitochondria after incubation with selective 5-HT₇ agonist LP-211 and the 5-HT7 antagonist SB-269970 (Fig. 9). Cytochrome c oxidase activity was 258.6 ± 4.28 nmol/min/mg in H₂O and 286.9 ± 29.41 nmol/min/mg in 10% ethanol in H₂O. Lastly, we studied the effect of the selective 5-HT₇ antagonist SB-269970 on the mitochondrial enriched fraction. The incubation of mitochondria with SB-269970 resulted in a weak increase in cytochrome c oxidase activity compared to control. Upon treatment with SB-269970, cytochrome c oxidase activity was 303.63 ± 30.48 nmol/min/mg (Fig. 9).



Figure 9. SB-269970 weakly stimulate cytochrome c oxidase activity, which was spectrophotometrically measured in mitochondrial fractions from SH-SY5Y cells incubated with LP-211 and SB-269970 3 min before measurements. Values represent mean rates (nmol/min/mg) ± SEM obtained from at least four independent experiments. * p < 0.05, nonparametric Wilcoxon test between mitochondria administered with SB-269970 and nontreated mitochondria in two controls. Ctrl-EtOH, 10% EtOH in H₂O.

4.10 Activation of GABA_A receptors induced comparable inhibitory effects in WT and *Kcc2* mutant hippocampal neurons

To evaluate whether the spontaneous mutation R857G detected in the *Kcc2* gene *Slc12a5* can influence the neural activity of hippocampus, we analysed the effect of this mutation on spiking activity of CA3 hippocampal neurons in acute slices prepared from WT and *Kcc2* mutant mice. The effect of a brief application of the GABA_A agonist isoguvacine on neuronal firing recorded in cell-attached mode inhibited neuronal activity in WT neurons with respect to the baseline (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test; p<0.0001; two-tailed; sum of positive - negative ranks 0, -153; sum of signed ranks -153; n=17; Fig. 10 A). The selective activation of GABA_A receptor also induced a reduction in the spiking activity of pyramidal CA3 neurons recorded in *Kcc2* mutant hippocampal slices (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed ranks -45; n=10; Fig. 10 B). To determine if there was any difference in terms of inhibition of action potential frequency between WT and *Kcc2* mutant neurons, we performed a Mann-Whitney test: spiking activity of CA3 neurons under isoguvacine was not significantly different between WT and *Kcc2* mutant neurons (Mann Whitney test; p=09803; Two-

tailed; Mann-Whitney U 84; sum of rank in Kcc2 mutant neurons, WT neurons 139,239; median of WT neurons 0.209 n=17; median of Kcc2 neurons 0.1246 n=10; Fig 10 C).



Figure 10 The activation of GABA _A receptors has an inhibitory effect on WT and *Kcc2* CA3 neurons. Spiking activity measured by current clamp (I=0) recordings in loose patch configuration in Wild-type (A) and Kcc2 (B) mutant mice. Cells were recorded for 5 minutes to obtain a stable baseline, isoguvacine (10 uM) was bath applied for 3 minutes and washed out for at least 10 minutes. The graphs show the analysis of spiking frequency (s⁻¹) normalized on baseline of WT (n=17) (A) and *Kcc2* mutant mice (n=10) (B) CA3 pyramidal neurons upon isoguvacine application. The one-sample Wilcoxon signed rank test, *p<0,05; Mann-Whitney test, *p<0,05.

4.11 R857G mutation in *Kcc2* gene does not influence the KCC2 protein expression in hippocampus and in cortex

To investigate if the mutation R857G in the *Kcc2* gene affects the KCC2 protein level in hippocampus and cortex, we performed a Western blot analysis in wild type and *Kcc2* mutant mice at the age of 12 months.

Through the quantification of the intensity of KCC2 signal in hippocampus, we highlighted that gene mutation did not influence protein expression between WT and *Kcc2* mutant mice in hippocampus (Mann Whitney test; p= 0.4206; two-tailed; sum of ranks in WT and *Kcc2* mutant hippocampus 32, 23; Mann-Whitney U 8; median of WT hippocampus 1.032 n=5; median of *Kcc2* mutant hippocampus 0.7794 n=5; Fig. 11 A, B) or in cortex (Mann Whitney test; p= 0.4206; two-tailed; sum of ranks in WT and *Kcc2* mutant cortex 23, 32; Mann-Whitney U 8; median of WT cortex 0.9616 n=5; median of Kcc2 mutant cortex 1.268 n=5; Fig 11 C, D).



Figure 11. The mutation R857G in *Kcc2* gene does not affect the expression of the protein in hippocampal and cortical region between wild-type and *Kcc2* mutant (*Kcc2* mut) mice. (A) Western blot analysis of KCC2 protein in hippocampus of wild-type and *Kcc2* mutant mice at the age of 12 months. (B) Quantification of western blot analysis of KCC2 protein in hippocampus of wild-type (n=5) and *Kcc2* mutant mice (n=5) at the age of 12 months. (C) Western blot analysis of KCC2 protein in cortex of wild-type and *Kcc2* mutant mice at the age of 12 months. (D) Quantification of western blot analysis of KCC2 protein in cortex of wild-type (n=5) and *Kcc2* mutant mice (n=5) at the age of 12 months. (D) Quantification of western blot analysis of KCC2 protein in cortex of wild-type (n=5) and *Kcc2* mutant mice (n=5) at the age of 12 months. Mann-Whitney test, *p<0,05.

4.12 R857G mutation in Kcc2 gene does not influence the morphology of dendritic spines in terms of density and length in hippocampus and cortex between wild type and Kcc2 mutant mice.

Lastly, we studied a possible influence of the mutation R857G in *Kcc2* gene on dendritic spine morphology. Using the Golgi staining technique, we highlight the structure of dendritic spines in wild type and in *Kcc2* mutant mice (Fig. 12 A, D, G, L). Quantifying the density and the length of the dendritic spines through the software ImageJ, we discovered that the presence of the mutation does not affect the dendritic spine morphology in cortex (Fig 12 M, N) and neither in the three regions of hippocampus DG, CA1 and CA3 (Fig. 12 B, C, E, F, H, I) in *Kcc2* mutant mice compared to wild-type.



Figure 12 The mutation R857G in *Kcc2* gene does not influence the morphology of dendritic spines in cortical and hippocampal region in wild-type and *Kcc2* mutant mice. Pictures of wild type (n=3) and *Kcc2* mutant (n=3) dendritic spine morphology in the dentate gyrus DG (A), cornu ammonis 1 CA1 (B), cornu ammonis 3 CA3 (B) and cortex Cx (C). Spine density and length were quantified in the dentate gyrus DG (B, C), cornu ammonis 1 CA1 (E, F), cornu ammonis 3 CA3 (H, I) and cortex Cx (M, N). Mann-Whitney test, *p<0,05.

CHAPTER 5: Discussion

Fmr1 KO mice, a murine model of Fragile X Syndrome, display a large number of malfunctions in synaptic transmission and plasticity, among which exaggerated mGluR-LTD in the hippocampus (Huber et al., 2002). The abnormal enhancement of mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO neurons is considered as a readout of synaptic malfunction and is believed to account for learning and behavioural impairment (Sanderson et al., 2016).

Our research group has previously shown that mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO mice can be rescued by activation of serotonin 5-HT₇ receptors, which activate adenylate cyclase leading to stimulation of protein kinase A (Costa et al., 2018; Costa et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2012). The rescue effect of 5-HT₇ receptors is in line with with the "cAMP theory" of Fragile X syndrome (Kelley et al., 2007) and with the important finding that phosphodiesterase 2 (PDE) is a major FMRP target and is overexpressed in *Fmr1* KO neurons, leading to reduced cAMP levels (Maurin et al., 2018b).

In my PhD experimental work, I have studied additional intracellular mechanisms involved in 5-HT₇Rmediated reversal of mGluR-LTD, focusing on the role of the kinases Cdk5 and Akt. Cdk5 is related to synaptic plasticity and to the development of dendritic spines and was found to be involved in several effects mediated by 5-HT₇ receptors. As a matter of fact, Cdk5 is involved in 5-HT₇ receptorinduced axonal outgrowth and dendritic spine formation in cultured neurons from rodent brain cortex, hippocampus and striatum (Speranza et al., 2013; Speranza et al., 2015; Speranza et al., 2017). Interestingly, Cdk5 activation might be related to the cAMP pathway, since cAMP elevation induced by 5-HT₇ receptors was shown to stimulate p35 expression and Cdk5 activity in rat cultured neurons (He et al., 2016).

Therefore, I investigated the role of Cdk5 on mGluR-LTD and on 5-HT₇R-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD. Our results show that in physiological conditions Cdk5 exerts a negative modulation on mGluR-LTD, since the Cdk5 inhibitor roscovitine increased mGluR-LTD in WT neurons to a level similar to exaggerated mGluR-LTD measured in *Fmr1* KO slices. Our results also suggest that either the expression or the function of Cdk5 in *Fmr1* KO neurons might be reduced compared to wild-type and that reduced Cdk5 function might account for enhanced mGluR-LTD. Consistent with our hypothesis, the expression of Cdk5 in the hippocampus of *Fmr1* KO mice was found to be reduced (Zhang et al., 2020).

Then we tested if application of LP-211, a selective agonist for 5-HT₇ receptors, was able to rescue mGluR-LTD in presence of the Cdk5 inhibitor roscovitine. Following Cdk5 blockade, 5-HT₇R activation

did not reverse mGluR-LTD either in wild type or in *Fmr1* KO neurons, leading to the conclusion that Cdk5 activation is involved in 5-HT₇ receptor mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD.

We next studied a possible involvement of Akt in 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in wild-type and in *Fmr1* KO mice. Akt is a serine/threonine kinase with three isoforms (Akt I,II,III) encoded by different genes, although the proteins share a high degree of structural homology (Kumar and Madison, 2005). The kinase regulates cell growth, proliferation and metabolism; in neurons, the Akt pathway has a significant impact on stress responses, neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity (O'Neill, 2013). Akt is involved in the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway controlling protein synthesis. In addition, Akt activation has been correlated with different forms of LTP and LTD (Horwood et al., 2006; Hou and Klann, 2004), including mGluR-LTD (Levenga et al., 2017). Our results show that Akt inhibition abolished mGluR-LTD in WT but not in *Fmr1* KO neurons, leading to the conclusion that Akt is necessary for mGluR-LTD only in WT slices. As a possible explanation, it was shown that in FMRP-deficient neural cells *de novo* protein synthesis is elevated and this increase is associated with elevated ERK1/2 and Akt signalling (Utami et al., 2020). In line with these findings, we might speculate that inhibition of Akt that we induced in *Fmr1* KO neurons might have been unable to compensate the aberrant and hyperactivated of Akt signalling, resulting in the persistence of mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO slices.

We next tested if Akt plays a role in 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD, since Akt activation is involved in other effects mediated by 5-HT₇ receptors, among which actin filament remodelling (Guseva et al., 2014). On this purpose, we used *Fmr1* KO slices because, in the presence of Akt inhibitor III, mGluR-LTD was present only in *Fmr1* KO: in these conditions, 5-HT₇ receptor activation was still able to reverse mGluR-LTD, thus did not require Akt activation.

Another important aim of our study was to investigate a possible role of 5-HT₇ receptors on neuronal protein syntesis. FMRP is a RNA binding protein with a predominant inhibitory effect on mRNA translation; as a matter of fact, impaired local dendritic translation was recognized as a major mechanism of pathogenesis in FXS, where FMRP is absent (Osterweil et al., 2010). In our study, we tested the hypothesis that dendritic mRNA translation is required for 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated effect on mGluR-LTD. In the presence of intracellular anisomycin, a protein translation inhibitor, mGluR-LTD was inhibited in WT but not in *Fmr1* KO neurons, indicating that protein translation is necessary for mGluR-LTD only in WT slices. This result is consistent with previous data, showing that mGluR-LTD was abolished by protein synthesis inhibitors in WT neurons but persisted in *Fmr1* KO neurons (Nosyreva and Huber, 2005). Therefore, we confirm data from Huber and colleagues,

suggesting that mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO neurons does not need new protein synthesis because an excess of "LTD proteins" is already present in dendrites. In the presence of intracellular anisomycin, activation of 5-HT₇ receptors was unable to reverse mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO slices, indicating that 5-HT₇ receptor-mediated effect required protein synthesis. This result indicates that 5-HT₇ receptor activation stimulates the synthesis of one or several proteins, which ultimately reverse mGluR-LTD; the protein(s) involved in 5-HT₇R-mediated effect remain to be investigated.

The 5-HT₇ receptor is a G-protein coupled receptor, positively linked to adenylate cyclase through the stimulatory Gs protein and additionally linked to G12 (Kvachnina et al., 2005). Some GPCRs are associated with mitochondria: for example purinergic receptors were shown to influence the regulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake (Belous et al., 2004) and serotonin 5-HT₃ and 5-HT₄ receptors, both present on cardiac mitochondria, regulate mitochondrial activities and cellular functions (Wang et al., 2016b). Interestingly, the 5-HT₇ receptor agonist LP-211 is able to rescue the mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction and the oxidative phosphorylation deficiency in murine models of Rett syndrome (Valenti et al., 2017) and CDKL5 deficiency (Vigli et al., 2019); the mechanism of action remains unclear. We demonstrate for the first time that $5-HT_7$ receptors are present in both cytosol and mitochondria of a SH-SY5Y cell line. In our results, two bands with molecular masses of approximately 40 and 50 KDa were detected, the former present in the cytosolic fraction and the latter in the mitochondrial fraction. As a possible explanation, 5-HT₇R undergoes alternative splicing at the second intron, located in the carboxyl terminus, giving rise to three splice variants in humans (a,b,d) (Heidmann et al., 1997). The 45–50 KDa range that we detected was consistent with the expected molecular mass of 5-HT7R. It should also be considered that 5-HT₇ receptors undergo different post-translational modifications, having two consensus sequences for N-linked glycosylation sites in the extracellular N-terminal region (Lovenberg et al., 1993) and for attachment of saturated fatty acids (i.e., palmitate) to cysteine residues within the protein via thioesterification (S-palmitoylation) (Gorinski and Ponimaskin, 2013). The 40 KDa cytosolic form that we detected might be explained by the presence in SH-SY5Y cells of a form of the receptor not subjected to post-translational modifications (Mahé et al., 2004).

To our knowledge, this is the first demonstration that 5-HT7Rs are expressed in the mitochondrial membrane of SH-SY5Y cells.

Subsequently, we tested if the 5-HT₇R agonist LP-211 or the 5-HT₇R antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 influenced the activity of cytochrome c oxidase, which is a critical regulator of oxidative phosphorylation and is used as a marker of neural functional activity (Hevner and Wong-Riley, 1989;

Hüttemann et al., 2012). Recently, it has been demonstrated that activation of mitochondrial cannabinoid receptor 1 in mouse hippocampus, which is coupled to an intracellular Gi protein, reduced the mitochondrial level of cAMP, causing a decrease of oxidative phosphorylation and thereby of ATP production (Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2016). Our result demonstrated that 5-HT₇R antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 weakly increased cytochrome c oxidase activity, as estimated on mitochondria isolated and purified from the investigated cells. The weak increase in cytochrome c oxidase activity elicited by 5-HT₇R inverse agonist SB-269970 might be linked to a reduction in the intramitochondrial levels of cAMP, consistent with previous findings in which variations of intramitochondrial cAMP levels may upregulate or downregulate cytochrome c oxidase activity (Valsecchi et al., 2013).

Mitochondrial impairments are also present in a murine model of Fragile X syndrome. The murine model of the pathology shows an increased oxidative stress in neurons (Shen et al., 2019), impairments in mitochondrial respiratory chain and altered ATP production (D'Antoni et al., 2020). FMRP binds mRNAs of the mitochondrial respiratory chain components and its absence causes an enhancement of the mitochondrial complex activity (Ascano et al., 2012; Maurin et al., 2018a). In future studies, it would be interesting to test whether LP-211 can rescue the mitochondrial impairment in a mouse model of Fragile X syndrome.

During the period that I spent abroad at the IPMC (Institute Pharmacology Moléculaire Et Cellulaire), I was involved into a project based on the characterization of a new spontaneous mutation in the *Slc12a5* gene codifying for the K⁺- Cl⁻ cotransporter KCC2, affecting the C-terminal region of the protein (Bardoni et al., unpublished). The same KCC2 variant was also found in a human patient affected by epilepsy and intellectual disability (Saito et al., 2017). Other variants in the C-terminal region have been identified and most of them are related to the ASD and neurodevelopmental phenotype in patients, suggesting that alteration in the KCC2 functions contributes to the pathogenesis of ASD. ASD show well-established strong associations with other neuropsychiatric disorders, such as epilepsy (Keller, Basta, Salerno, & Elia, 2017). Both epilepsy and autism have as major hallmark altered synaptic structure and function and for this reason are often named as synaptopathies (Bagni and Zukin, 2019). KCC2 is a cotransporter implicated in brain excitation/inhibition balance; thus mutations of Kcc2 gune might impair the transporter function. In other to investigate the influence of the Kcc2 mutation on the function of KCC2 transporter, I recorded the spiking activity of CA3 neurons in acute hippocampal slices from adult wild-type and Kcc2 mutant mice. After isoguvacine application (a selective agonist of GABA_A receptors), the firing

69
activity of wild-type and KCC2 mutated CA3 neurons decreased, but there was no significant difference between the action potential frequency in WT respect to KCC2 mutated hippocampal neurons. This absence of difference in the firing frequency could depend on the same amount of KCC2 expressed in the two strains. Our hypothesis was confirmed through a western blot analysis of the hippocampal region: the mutation in *Kcc2* gene does not influence the expression of protein in cortex and hippocampus. KCC2 regulates a number of processes that are crucial for development, such as maturation of dendritic spines (Fiumelli et al., 2013; Gulyás et al., 2001; Li et al., 2007), remodelling the actin filament through the interaction between its C-terminal domain and the synaptic protein, independently from its role as cotransporter (Llano et al., 2015). For this reason, I studied the influence of KCC2 mutated protein on dendritic spine morphology; however, the mutation did not influence dendritic spine morphology in WT and Kcc2 mutant mouse brain, neither in hippocampus nor in cortex. Further studies should be performed to study how the mutations in Kcc2 gene might affect the activity of KCC2 transporter.

Conclusions

To date, no specific therapy is available for patients who suffer from Fragile X syndrome and the clinical treatment focuses on the symptomatic treatment of psychiatric problems and of comorbidities. Several clinical trials in FXS are currently being carried out, although many trials have failed (Berry-Kravis et al., 2016; Youssef et al., 2018). Sertraline, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), is widely used to treat anxiety in patients with FXS, in line with the finding that serotonin production is reduced in the brains of young children with autism (Chugani, 2002; Hanson and Hagerman, 2014) and metabolomic studies of lymphoblastoid lines of all types of ASD, including those with FXS, demonstrate down-regulation of the enzymes leading to serotonin production from tryptophan (Boccuto et al., 2013). Sertraline may therefore be considered a targeted treatment for FXS. Our results suggest that in addition to SSRIs, enhancing overall serotonergic transmission, a selective activation of 5-HT₇ receptors using specific agonists may represent a novel strategy for a possible therapy of Fragile X Syndrome.

In the next future it will be interesting to study the role of 5-HT₇ receptors in the mitochondrial respiratory chain of the murine model of FXS, investigating the possibility to rescue the mitochondrial impairments typical of the pathology using a 5-HT₇ agonist.

In addition, our data on the molecular mechanisms of 5-HT₇-mediated rescue of synaptic plasticity in *Fmr1* KO mice might be translated to human models, using iPSC-derived neurons obtained from FXS patients.

References

- Abela, A.R., C.J. Browne, D. Sargin, T.D. Prevot, X.D. Ji, Z. Li, E.K. Lambe, and P.J. Fletcher. 2020. Median raphe serotonin neurons promote anxiety-like behavior via inputs to the dorsal hippocampus. *Neuropharmacology*. 168:107985.
- Abraham, W.C. 2008. Metaplasticity: tuning synapses and networks for plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. 9:387-387.
- Abraham, W.C., and M.F. Bear. 1996. Metaplasticity: the plasticity of synaptic plasticity. *Trends in neurosciences*. 19:126-130.
- Ackrell, B.A. 2000. Progress in understanding structure–function relationships in respiratory chain complex II. *FEBS letters*. 466:1-5.
- Adinolfi, S., A. Ramos, S.R. Martin, F. Dal Piaz, P. Pucci, B. Bardoni, J.L. Mandel, and A. Pastore. 2003. The Nterminus of the fragile X mental retardation protein contains a novel domain involved in dimerization and RNA binding. *Biochemistry*. 42:10437-10444.
- Agulhon, C., P. Blanchet, A. Kobetz, D. Marchant, N. Faucon, P. Sarda, C. Moraine, A. Sittler, V. Biancalana, A. Malafosse, and M. Abitbol. 1999. Expression of FMR1, FXR1, and FXR2 genes in human prenatal tissues. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*. 58:867-880.
- Ahern, G.P. 2011. 5-HT and the immune system. Current opinion in pharmacology. 11:29-33.
- Alavian, K.N., G. Beutner, E. Lazrove, S. Sacchetti, H.A. Park, P. Licznerski, H. Li, P. Nabili, K. Hockensmith, M. Graham, G.A. Porter, Jr., and E.A. Jonas. 2014. An uncoupling channel within the c-subunit ring of the F1FO ATP synthase is the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 111:10580-10585.
- Allnutt, A.B., A.K. Waters, S. Kesari, and V.M. Yenugonda. 2020. Physiological and Pathological Roles of Cdk5: Potential Directions for Therapeutic Targeting in Neurodegenerative Disease. *ACS chemical neuroscience*. 11:1218-1230.
- Alvarez-Mora, M.I., M. Guitart, L. Rodriguez-Revenga, I. Madrigal, E. Gabau, and M. Milà. 2017. Paternal transmission of a FMR1 full mutation allele. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A*. 173:2795-2797.
- Amaral, D.G., and M.P. Witter. 1989. The three-dimensional organization of the hippocampal formation: a review of anatomical data. *Neuroscience*. 31:571-591.
- Antar, L.N., C. Li, H. Zhang, R.C. Carroll, and G.J. Bassell. 2006. Local functions for FMRP in axon growth cone motility and activity-dependent regulation of filopodia and spine synapses. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences*. 32:37-48.
- Antion, M.D., L. Hou, H. Wong, C.A. Hoeffer, and E. Klann. 2008. mGluR-dependent long-term depression is associated with increased phosphorylation of S6 and synthesis of elongation factor 1A but remains expressed in S6K-deficient mice. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 28:2996-3007.
- Ascano, M., N. Mukherjee, P. Bandaru, J.B. Miller, J.D. Nusbaum, D.L. Corcoran, C. Langlois, M. Munschauer,
 S. Dewell, and M. Hafner. 2012. FMRP targets distinct mRNA sequence elements to regulate protein expression. *Nature*. 492:382-386.
- Ashley, C.T., J.S. Sutcliffe, C.B. Kunst, H.A. Leiner, E.E. Eichler, D.L. Nelson, and S.T. Warren. 1993. Human and murine FMR-1: alternative splicing and translational initiation downstream of the CGG-repeat. *Nature genetics*. 4:244-251.
- Asrar, S., and Z. Jia. 2013. Molecular mechanisms coordinating functional and morphological plasticity at the synapse: role of GluA2/N-cadherin interaction-mediated actin signaling in mGluR-dependent LTD. *Cellular signalling*. 25:397-402.
- Athar, Y.M., and S. Joseph. 2020. RNA-binding specificity of the human fragile X mental retardation protein. *Journal of molecular biology*. 432:3851-3868.
- Attwell, D., and S.B. Laughlin. 2001. An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*. 21:1133-1145.
- Auerbach, B.D., E.K. Osterweil, and M.F. Bear. 2011. Mutations causing syndromic autism define an axis of synaptic pathophysiology. *Nature*. 480:63-68.
- Bagni, C., and R.S. Zukin. 2019. A Synaptic Perspective of Fragile X Syndrome and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Neuron*. 101:1070-1088.

- Baione, V., D. Belvisi, A. Cortese, I. Cetta, M. Tartaglia, E. Millefiorini, A. Berardelli, and A. Conte. 2020. Cortical M1 plasticity and metaplasticity in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*. 38:101494.
- Bakker, C., C. Verheij, R. Willemsen, R. Van Der Helm, and F. Oerlemans. 1994. Ver-925 mey M, et al. Fmr1 knockout mice: a model to study fragile X mental 926 retardation. *Cell*. 78:23-33.
- Bakker, C.E., Y. de Diego Otero, C. Bontekoe, P. Raghoe, T. Luteijn, A.T. Hoogeveen, B.A. Oostra, and R. Willemsen. 2000. Immunocytochemical and biochemical characterization of FMRP, FXR1P, and FXR2P in the mouse. *Experimental cell research*. 258:162-170.
- Banko, J.L., L. Hou, F. Poulin, N. Sonenberg, and E. Klann. 2006. Regulation of eukaryotic initiation factor 4E by converging signaling pathways during metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression. *J Neurosci*. 26:2167-2173.
- Bardoni, B., A. Schenck, and J.L. Mandel. 2001. The Fragile X mental retardation protein. *Brain research bulletin*. 56:375-382.
- Bassani, S., J. Zapata, L. Gerosa, E. Moretto, L. Murru, and M. Passafaro. 2013. The neurobiology of X-linked intellectual disability. *The Neuroscientist : a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry*. 19:541-552.
- Bats, C., L. Groc, and D. Choquet. 2007. The interaction between Stargazin and PSD-95 regulates AMPA receptor surface trafficking. *Neuron*. 53:719-734.
- Beaudoin, J.-D., and J.-P. Perreault. 2013. Exploring mRNA 3'-UTR G-quadruplexes: evidence of roles in both alternative polyadenylation and mRNA shortening. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 41:5898-5911.
- Bechara, E.G., M.C. Didiot, M. Melko, L. Davidovic, M. Bensaid, P. Martin, M. Castets, P. Pognonec, E.W. Khandjian, H. Moine, and B. Bardoni. 2009. A novel function for fragile X mental retardation protein in translational activation. *PLoS Biol*. 7:e16.
- Bellone, C., C. Luescher, and M. Mameli. 2008. Mechanisms of synaptic depression triggered by metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Cellular and molecular life sciences*. 65:2913-2923.
- Belmer, A., E. Quentin, S.L. Diaz, B.P. Guiard, S.P. Fernandez, S. Doly, S.M. Banas, P.M. Pitychoutis, I. Moutkine, and A. Muzerelle. 2018. Positive regulation of raphe serotonin neurons by serotonin 2B receptors. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 43:1623-1632.
- Belous, A., A. Wakata, C.D. Knox, I.B. Nicoud, J. Pierce, C.D. Anderson, C.W. Pinson, and R.S. Chari. 2004. Mitochondrial P2Y-Like receptors link cytosolic adenosine nucleotides to mitochondrial calcium uptake. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*. 92:1062-1073.
- Berry-Kravis, E., V. Des Portes, R. Hagerman, S. Jacquemont, P. Charles, J. Visootsak, M. Brinkman, K. Rerat, B. Koumaras, and L. Zhu. 2016. Mavoglurant in fragile X syndrome: Results of two randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. *Science translational medicine*. 8:321ra325-321ra325.
- Berry-Kravis, E., A. Knox, and C. Hervey. 2011. Targeted treatments for fragile X syndrome. *J Neurodev Disord*. 3:193-210.
- Berry-Kravis, E., M. Raspa, L. Loggin-Hester, E. Bishop, D. Holiday, and D.B. Bailey Jr. 2010. Seizures in fragile
 X syndrome: characteristics and comorbid diagnoses. *American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities*. 115:461-472.
- Berry-Kravis, E., and P.R. Huttenlocher. 1992. Cyclic AMP metabolism in fragile X syndrome. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society. 31:22-26.
- Berry-Kravis, E., and P. Sklena. 1993. Demonstration of abnormal cyclic AMP production in platelets from patients with fragile X syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics*. 45:81-87.
- Bhattacharya, A., H. Kaphzan, A.C. Alvarez-Dieppa, J.P. Murphy, P. Pierre, and E. Klann. 2012. Genetic removal of p70 S6 kinase 1 corrects molecular, synaptic, and behavioral phenotypes in fragile X syndrome mice. *Neuron*. 76:325-337.
- Bijata, M., J. Labus, D. Guseva, M. Stawarski, M. Butzlaff, J. Dzwonek, J. Schneeberg, K. Böhm, P. Michaluk, and D.A. Rusakov. 2017. Synaptic remodeling depends on signaling between serotonin receptors and the extracellular matrix. *Cell Reports*. 19:1767-1782.
- Bilousova, T.V., L. Dansie, M. Ngo, J. Aye, J.R. Charles, D.W. Ethell, and I.M. Ethell. 2009. Minocycline promotes dendritic spine maturation and improves behavioural performance in the fragile X mouse model. *J Med Genet*. 46:94-102.

- Bjerregaard, V.A., Ö. Özer, I.D. Hickson, and Y. Liu. 2018. The Detection and Analysis of Chromosome Fragile Sites. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*. 1672:471-482.
- Boccuto, L., C.-F. Chen, A.R. Pittman, C.D. Skinner, H.J. McCartney, K. Jones, B.R. Bochner, R.E. Stevenson, and C.E. Schwartz. 2013. Decreased tryptophan metabolism in patients with autism spectrum disorders. *Molecular autism*. 4:1-10.
- Boda, B., P. Mendez, B. Boury-Jamot, F. Magara, and D. Muller. 2014. Reversal of activity-mediated spine dynamics and learning impairment in a mouse model of Fragile X syndrome. *The European journal of neuroscience*. 39:1130-1137.
- Bolshakov, V.Y., and S.A. Siegelbaum. 1994. Postsynaptic induction and presynaptic expression of hippocampal long-term depression. *Science*. 264:1148-1152.
- Bonaccorso, C., M. Spatuzza, B. Di Marco, A. Gloria, G. Barrancotto, A. Cupo, S. Musumeci, S. D'Antoni, B. Bardoni, and M. Catania. 2015. Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) interacting proteins exhibit different expression patterns during development. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*. 42:15-23.
- Boureux, A., E. Vignal, S. Faure, and P. Fort. 2007. Evolution of the Rho family of ras-like GTPases in eukaryotes. *Molecular biology and evolution*. 24:203-216.
- Breuer, M., W. Koopman, S. Koene, M. Nooteboom, R. Rodenburg, P. Willems, and J. Smeitink. 2013. The role of mitochondrial OXPHOS dysfunction in the development of neurologic diseases. *Neurobiology of disease*. 51:27-34.
- Broadbent, N.J., S. Gaskin, L.R. Squire, and R.E. Clark. 2010. Object recognition memory and the rodent hippocampus. *Learning & memory*. 17:5-11.
- Brown, V., P. Jin, S. Ceman, J.C. Darnell, W.T. O'Donnell, S.A. Tenenbaum, X. Jin, Y. Feng, K.D. Wilkinson, and J.D. Keene. 2001. Microarray identification of FMRP-associated brain mRNAs and altered mRNA translational profiles in fragile X syndrome. *Cell*. 107:477-487.
- BUCHANAN, S.K., and J.E. WALKER. 1996. Large-scale chromatographic purification of F1F0-ATPase and complex I from bovine heart mitochondria. *Biochemical Journal*. 318:343-349.
- Burgess, N., E.A. Maguire, and J. O'Keefe. 2002. The human hippocampus and spatial and episodic memory. *Neuron*. 35:625-641.
- Cadenas, E., and K.J. Davies. 2000. Mitochondrial free radical generation, oxidative stress, and aging. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 29:222-230.
- Catterall, W.A., and P.L. Pedersen. 1971. Adenosine triphosphatase from rat liver mitochondria: I. Purification, homogeneity, and physical properties. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 246:4987-4994.
- Cecchini, G. 2003. Function and structure of complex II of the respiratory chain. *Annual review of biochemistry*. 72:77-109.
- Cervantes-Durán, C., H.I. Rocha-Gonzalez, and V. Granados-Soto. 2013. Peripheral and spinal 5-HT receptors participate in the pronociceptive and antinociceptive effects of fluoxetine in rats. *Neuroscience*. 252:396-409.
- Chae, T., Y.T. Kwon, R. Bronson, P. Dikkes, E. Li, and L.H. Tsai. 1997. Mice lacking p35, a neuronal specific activator of Cdk5, display cortical lamination defects, seizures, and adult lethality. *Neuron*. 18:29-42.
- Chance, B., H. Sies, and A. Boveris. 1979. Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs. *Physiological reviews*. 59:527-605.
- Cheever, A., and S. Ceman. 2009. Translation regulation of mRNAs by the fragile X family of proteins through the microRNA pathway. *RNA biology*. 6:175-178.
- Chen, L., D.M. Chetkovich, R.S. Petralia, N.T. Sweeney, Y. Kawasaki, R.J. Wenthold, D.S. Bredt, and R.A. Nicoll. 2000. Stargazin regulates synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors by two distinct mechanisms. *Nature*. 408:936-943.
- Chen, L., A. Hadd, S. Sah, S. Filipovic-Sadic, J. Krosting, E. Sekinger, R. Pan, P.J. Hagerman, T.T. Stenzel, and F. Tassone. 2010. An information-rich CGG repeat primed PCR that detects the full range of fragile X expanded alleles and minimizes the need for southern blot analysis. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*. 12:589-600.
- Chen, R., H.A. Park, N. Mnatsakanyan, Y. Niu, P. Licznerski, J. Wu, P. Miranda, M. Graham, J. Tang, A.J.W. Boon, G. Cossu, W. Mandemakers, V. Bonifati, P.J.S. Smith, K.N. Alavian, and E.A. Jonas. 2019.

Parkinson's disease protein DJ-1 regulates ATP synthase protein components to increase neuronal process outgrowth. *Cell death & disease*. 10:469.

- Chen, Z., W.D. Singer, P.C. Sternweis, and S.R. Sprang. 2005. Structure of the p115RhoGEF rgRGS domain– Gα13/i1 chimera complex suggests convergent evolution of a GTPase activator. *Nature structural & molecular biology*. 12:191-197.
- Cheng, A., Y. Hou, and M.P. Mattson. 2010. Mitochondria and neuroplasticity. ASN neuro. 2:AN20100019.
- Cherubini, M., M. Puigdellívol, J. Alberch, and S. Ginés. 2015. Cdk5-mediated mitochondrial fission: A key player in dopaminergic toxicity in Huntington's disease. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1852:2145-2160.
- Cheung, Z.H., and N.Y. Ip. 2004. Cdk5: mediator of neuronal death and survival. *Neurosci Lett*. 361:47-51.
- Chevy, Q., M. Heubl, M. Goutierre, S. Backer, I. Moutkine, E. Eugène, E. Bloch-Gallego, S. Lévi, and J.C. Poncer. 2015. KCC2 gates activity-driven AMPA receptor traffic through cofilin phosphorylation. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 35:15772-15786.
- Cho, R.W., J.M. Park, S.B. Wolff, D. Xu, C. Hopf, J.-a. Kim, R.C. Reddy, R.S. Petralia, M.S. Perin, and D.J. Linden. 2008. mGluR1/5-dependent long-term depression requires the regulated ectodomain cleavage of neuronal pentraxin NPR by TACE. *Neuron*. 57:858-871.
- Choi, C.H., B.P. Schoenfeld, A.J. Bell, J. Hinchey, C. Rosenfelt, M.J. Gertner, S.R. Campbell, D. Emerson, P. Hinchey, and M. Kollaros. 2016. Multiple drug treatments that increase cAMP signaling restore longterm memory and aberrant signaling in fragile X syndrome models. *Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience*. 10:136.
- Choi, C.H., B.P. Schoenfeld, A.J. Bell, P. Hinchey, M. Kollaros, M.J. Gertner, N.H. Woo, M.R. Tranfaglia, M.F. Bear, and R.S. Zukin. 2011. Pharmacological reversal of synaptic plasticity deficits in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome by group II mGluR antagonist or lithium treatment. *Brain research*. 1380:106-119.
- Choi, C.H., B.P. Schoenfeld, E.D. Weisz, A.J. Bell, D.B. Chambers, J. Hinchey, R.J. Choi, P. Hinchey, M. Kollaros, and M.J. Gertner. 2015. PDE-4 inhibition rescues aberrant synaptic plasticity in Drosophila and mouse models of fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 35:396-408.
- Chowdhury, S., J.D. Shepherd, H. Okuno, G. Lyford, R.S. Petralia, N. Plath, D. Kuhl, R.L. Huganir, and P.F. Worley. 2006. Arc/Arg3. 1 interacts with the endocytic machinery to regulate AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron*. 52:445-459.
- Christie, S.B., M.R. Akins, J.E. Schwob, and J.R. Fallon. 2009. The FXG: a presynaptic fragile X granule expressed in a subset of developing brain circuits. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society* for Neuroscience. 29:1514-1524.
- Chugani, D. 2002. Role of altered brain serotonin mechanisms in autism. *Molecular psychiatry*. 7:S16-S17.
- Cingolani, L.A., A. Thalhammer, M. Lily, M. Catalano, T. Ramos, M.A. Colicos, and Y. Goda. 2008. Activitydependent regulation of synaptic AMPA receptor composition and abundance by β3 integrins. *Neuron*. 58:749-762.
- Ciranna, L. 2006. Serotonin as a modulator of glutamate- and GABA-mediated neurotransmission: implications in physiological functions and in pathology. *Current neuropharmacology*. 4:101-114.
- Ciranna, L., and M.V. Catania. 2014. 5-HT7 receptors as modulators of neuronal excitability, synaptic transmission and plasticity: physiological role and possible implications in autism spectrum disorders. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*. 8:250.
- Citri, A., and R.C. Malenka. 2008. Synaptic plasticity: multiple forms, functions, and mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 33:18-41.
- Clem, R.L., and A. Barth. 2006. Pathway-specific trafficking of native AMPARs by in vivo experience. *Neuron*. 49:663-670.
- Cohen, I.L., G.S. Fisch, V. Sudhalter, E.G. Wolf-Schein, D. Hanson, R. Hagerman, E.C. Jenkins, and W.T. Brown. 1988. Social gaze, social avoidance, and repetitive behavior in fragile X males: a controlled study. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*.
- Colabufo, N.A., F. Berardi, M. Contino, M. Niso, C. Abate, R. Perrone, and V. Tortorella. 2004. Antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects of some sigma2 agonists and sigma1 antagonists in tumour cell lines. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*. 370:106-113.

- Collingridge, G.L., S. Kehl, and H.t. McLennan. 1983. Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. *The Journal of physiology*. 334:33-46.
- Collinson, I.R., M.J. van RaaiJ, M.J. Runswick, I.M. Fearnley, J.M. Skehel, G.L. Orriss, B. Miroux, and J.E. Walker. 1994. ATP synthase from bovine heart mitochondria: in vitro assembly of a stalk complex in the presence of F1-ATPase and in its absence. *Journal of molecular biology*. 242:408-421.
- Comery, T.A., J.B. Harris, P.J. Willems, B.A. Oostra, S.A. Irwin, I.J. Weiler, and W.T. Greenough. 1997. Abnormal dendritic spines in fragile X knockout mice: maturation and pruning deficits. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences. 94:5401-5404.
- Corbin, F., M. Bouillon, A. Fortin, S. Morin, F. Rousseau, and E.W. Khandjian. 1997. The fragile X mental retardation protein is associated with poly (A)+ mRNA in actively translating polyribosomes. *Human molecular genetics*. 6:1465-1472.
- Cordeiro, L., E. Ballinger, R. Hagerman, and D. Hessl. 2011. Clinical assessment of DSM-IV anxiety disorders in fragile X syndrome: prevalence and characterization. *Journal of neurodevelopmental disorders*. 3:57-67.
- Corley, M.J., N. Vargas-Maya, A.P.S. Pang, A. Lum-Jones, D. Li, V. Khadka, R. Sultana, D.C. Blanchard, and A.K. Maunakea. 2019. Epigenetic Delay in the Neurodevelopmental Trajectory of DNA Methylation States in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Front Genet*. 10:907.
- Cornish, K., V. Cole, E. Longhi, A. Karmiloff-Smith, and G. Scerif. 2013. Mapping developmental trajectories of attention and working memory in fragile X syndrome: Developmental freeze or developmental change. *Development and psychopathology*. 25:365-376.
- Cornish, K., G. Scerif, and A. Karmiloff-Smith. 2007. Tracing syndrome-specific trajectories of attention across the lifespan. *Cortex*. 43:672-685.
- Costa-Mattioli, M., W.S. Sossin, E. Klann, and N. Sonenberg. 2009. Translational control of long-lasting synaptic plasticity and memory. *Neuron*. 61:10-26.
- Costa, L., L.M. Sardone, C.M. Bonaccorso, S. D'Antoni, M. Spatuzza, W. Gulisano, M.R. Tropea, D. Puzzo, M. Leopoldo, E. Lacivita, M.V. Catania, and L. Ciranna. 2018. Activation of Serotonin 5-HT(7) Receptors Modulates Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity by Stimulation of Adenylate Cyclases and Rescues Learning and Behavior in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Frontiers in molecular neuroscience*. 11:353.
- Costa, L., L.M. Sardone, E. Lacivita, M. Leopoldo, and L. Ciranna. 2015. Novel agonists for serotonin 5-HT7 receptors reverse metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated long-term depression in the hippocampus of wild-type and Fmr1 KO mice, a model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience*. 9:65.
- Costa, L., M. Spatuzza, S. D'Antoni, C.M. Bonaccorso, C. Trovato, S.A. Musumeci, M. Leopoldo, E. Lacivita, M.V. Catania, and L. Ciranna. 2012. Activation of 5-HT7 serotonin receptors reverses metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated synaptic plasticity in wild-type and Fmr1 knockout mice, a model of Fragile X syndrome. *Biological psychiatry*. 72:924-933.
- Crestani, A.P., J.N. Krueger, E.V. Barragan, Y. Nakazawa, S.E. Nemes, J.A. Quillfeldt, J.A. Gray, and B.J. Wiltgen. 2019. Metaplasticity contributes to memory formation in the hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 44:408-414.
- Cummings, K.J., and J.C. Leiter. 2020. Take a deep breath and wake up: The protean role of serotonin preventing sudden death in infancy. *Experimental neurology*. 326:113165.
- D'Antoni, S., L. de Bari, D. Valenti, M. Borro, C.M. Bonaccorso, M. Simmaco, R.A. Vacca, and M.V. Catania. 2020. Aberrant mitochondrial bioenergetics in the cerebral cortex of the Fmr1 knockout mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Biological chemistry*. 401:497-503.
- Dahlhaus, R., and A. El-Husseini. 2010. Altered neuroligin expression is involved in social deficits in a mouse model of the fragile X syndrome. *Behavioural brain research*. 208:96-105.
- Dalva, M.B., A.C. McClelland, and M.S. Kayser. 2007. Cell adhesion molecules: signalling functions at the synapse. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. 8:206-220.
- Danesi, C., V.S. Achuta, P. Corcoran, U.-K. Peteri, G. Turconi, N. Matsui, I. Albayrak, V. Rezov, A. Isaksson, and M.L. Castrén. 2018. Increased calcium influx through L-type calcium channels in human and mouse neural progenitors lacking fragile X mental retardation protein. *Stem cell reports*. 11:1449-1461.

- Darnell, J.C., K.B. Jensen, P. Jin, V. Brown, S.T. Warren, and R.B. Darnell. 2001. Fragile X mental retardation protein targets G quartet mRNAs important for neuronal function. *Cell*. 107:489-499.
- Darnell, J.C., S.J. Van Driesche, C. Zhang, K.Y.S. Hung, A. Mele, C.E. Fraser, E.F. Stone, C. Chen, J.J. Fak, and S.W. Chi. 2011. FMRP stalls ribosomal translocation on mRNAs linked to synaptic function and autism. *Cell*. 146:247-261.
- Daubert, E.A., and B.G. Condron. 2010. Serotonin: a regulator of neuronal morphology and circuitry. *Trends in neurosciences*. 33:424-434.
- Davidkova, G., and R.C. Carroll. 2007. Characterization of the role of microtubule-associated protein 1B in metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated endocytosis of AMPA receptors in hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 27:13273-13278.
- Davidovic, L., V. Navratil, C.M. Bonaccorso, M.V. Catania, B. Bardoni, and M.-E. Dumas. 2011. A metabolomic and systems biology perspective on the brain of the fragile X syndrome mouse model. *Genome research*. 21:2190-2202.
- de Diego-Otero, Y., Y. Romero-Zerbo, R.e. Bekay, J. Decara, L. Sanchez, F.R.-d. Fonseca, and I.d. Arco-Herrera. 2009. α-tocopherol protects against oxidative stress in the fragile X knockout mouse: an experimental therapeutic approach for the Fmr1 deficiency. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 34:1011-1026.
- De Diego Otero, Y., L.-A. Severijnen, G. van Cappellen, M. Schrier, B. Oostra, and R. Willemsen. 2002. Transport of fragile X mental retardation protein via granules in neurites of PC12 cells. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 22:8332-8341.
- De Vries, B., A. Wiegers, A. Smits, S. Mohkamsing, H. Duivenvoorden, J.-P. Fryns, L. Curfs, D.J. Halley, B. Oostra, and A. Van den Ouweland. 1996. Mental status of females with an FMR1 gene full mutation. *American journal of human genetics*. 58:1025.
- Denman, R., N. Dolzhanskaya, and Y. Sung. 2004. Regulating a translational regulator: mechanisms cells use to control the activity of the fragile X mental retardation protein. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*. 61:1714-1728.
- Devys, D., Y. Lutz, N. Rouyer, J.P. Bellocq, and J.L. Mandel. 1993. The FMR-1 protein is cytoplasmic, most abundant in neurons and appears normal in carriers of a fragile X premutation. *Nature genetics*. 4:335-340.
- Dickinson, B.A., J. Jo, H. Seok, G.H. Son, D.J. Whitcomb, C.H. Davies, M. Sheng, G.L. Collingridge, and K. Cho. 2009. A novel mechanism of hippocampal LTD involving muscarinic receptor-triggered interactions between AMPARs, GRIP and liprin-alpha. *Mol Brain*. 2:18.
- Ding, Q., F. Sethna, and H. Wang. 2014. Behavioral analysis of male and female Fmr1 knockout mice on C57BL/6 background. *Behavioural brain research*. 271:72-78.
- Dobkin, C., A. Rabe, R. Dumas, A. El Idrissi, H. Haubenstock, and W.T. Brown. 2000. Fmr1 knockout mouse has a distinctive strain-specific learning impairment. *Neuroscience*. 100:423-429.
- Dogrul, A., and M. Seyrek. 2006. Systemic morphine produce antinociception mediated by spinal 5-HT7, but not 5-HT1A and 5-HT2 receptors in the spinal cord. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. 149:498-505.
- Dölen, G., E. Osterweil, B.S. Rao, G.B. Smith, B.D. Auerbach, S. Chattarji, and M.F. Bear. 2007. Correction of fragile X syndrome in mice. *Neuron*. 56:955-962.
- Dolzhanskaya, N., G. Merz, and R.B. Denman. 2006. Alternative splicing modulates protein arginine methyltransferase-dependent methylation of fragile X syndrome mental retardation protein. *Biochemistry*. 45:10385-10393.
- Du, F. 2019. Golgi-Cox Staining of Neuronal Dendrites and Dendritic Spines With FD Rapid GolgiStain[™] Kit. *Curr Protoc Neurosci.* 88:e69.
- Duhr, F., P. Déléris, F. Raynaud, M. Séveno, S. Morisset-Lopez, C. Mannoury la Cour, M.J. Millan, J. Bockaert,
 P. Marin, and S. Chaumont-Dubel. 2014. Cdk5 induces constitutive activation of 5-HT6 receptors to promote neurite growth. *Nature chemical biology*. 10:590-597.
- Duman, R.S., and L.M. Monteggia. 2006. A neurotrophic model for stress-related mood disorders. *Biological psychiatry*. 59:1116-1127.
- Duncan, K., N. Ketz, S.J. Inati, and L. Davachi. 2012. Evidence for area CA1 as a match/mismatch detector: a high-resolution fMRI study of the human hippocampus. *Hippocampus*. 22:389-398.
- Durkin, S.G., and T.W. Glover. 2007. Chromosome fragile sites. Annual review of genetics. 41:169-192.

- Dyer-Friedman, J., B. Glaser, D. Hessl, C. Johnston, L.C. Huffman, A. Taylor, J. Wisbeck, and A.L. Reiss. 2002. Genetic and environmental influences on the cognitive outcomes of children with fragile X syndrome. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. 41:237-244.
- Eales, K., O. Palygin, T. O'Loughlin, S. Rasooli-Nejad, M. Gaestel, J. Müller, D. Collins, Y. Pankratov, and S. Corrêa. 2014. The MK2/3 cascade regulates AMPAR trafficking and cognitive flexibility. Nat Commun 5: 4701.
- Eberhart, D.E., H.E. Malter, Y. Feng, and S.T. Warren. 1996. The fragile X mental retardation protein is a ribonucleoprotein containing both nuclear localization and nuclear export signals. *Hum Mol Genet*. 5:1083-1091.
- Edbauer, D., J.R. Neilson, K.A. Foster, C.-F. Wang, D.P. Seeburg, M.N. Batterton, T. Tada, B.M. Dolan, P.A. Sharp, and M. Sheng. 2010. Regulation of synaptic structure and function by FMRP-associated microRNAs miR-125b and miR-132. *Neuron*. 65:373-384.
- Edwards, M., and S. Joseph. 2022. The Fragile X Proteins Differentially Regulate Translation of Reporter mRNAs with G-quadruplex Structures. *Journal of molecular biology*. 434:167396.
- Ehret, G. 2005. Infant rodent ultrasounds–a gate to the understanding of sound communication. *Behavior genetics*. 35:19-29.
- Eichler, E.E., J.J. Holden, B.W. Popovich, A.L. Reiss, K. Snow, S.N. Thibodeau, C.S. Richards, P.A. Ward, and D.L. Nelson. 1994. Length of uninterrupted CGG repeats determines instability in the FMR1 gene. *Nature genetics*. 8:88-94.
- Eilam, D. 2014. Of mice and men: building blocks in cognitive mapping. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*. 47:393-409.
- El Bekay, R., Y. Romero-Zerbo, J. Decara, L. Sanchez-Salido, I. Del Arco-Herrera, F. Rodríguez-de Fonseca, and Y. De Diego-Otero. 2007. Enhanced markers of oxidative stress, altered antioxidants and NADPHoxidase activation in brains from Fragile X mental retardation 1-deficient mice, a pathological model for Fragile X syndrome. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 26:3169-3180.
- Eriksson, T.M., A. Golkar, J.C. Ekström, P. Svenningsson, and S.O. Ögren. 2008. 5-HT7 receptor stimulation by 8-OH-DPAT counteracts the impairing effect of 5-HT1A receptor stimulation on contextual learning in mice. *European journal of pharmacology*. 596:107-110.
- Eriksson, T.M., S. Holst, T.L. Stan, T. Hager, B. Sjögren, S.O. Ögren, P. Svenningsson, and O. Stiedl. 2012. 5-HT1A and 5-HT7 receptor crosstalk in the regulation of emotional memory: implications for effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Neuropharmacology*. 63:1150-1160.
- Ernster, L., and G. Schatz. 1981. Mitochondria: A Historical Review. 91.
- Ezell, J., A. Hogan, A. Fairchild, K. Hills, J. Klusek, L. Abbeduto, and J. Roberts. 2019. Prevalence and predictors of anxiety disorders in adolescent and adult males with autism spectrum disorder and fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. 49:1131-1141.
- Fame, R.M., M.L. Shannon, K.F. Chau, J.P. Head, and M.K. Lehtinen. 2019. A concerted metabolic shift in early forebrain alters the CSF proteome and depends on MYC downregulation for mitochondrial maturation. *Development*. 146:dev182857.
- Fang, W.-Q., J.P. Ip, R. Li, Y.P. Ng, S.-C. Lin, Y. Chen, A.K. Fu, and N.Y. Ip. 2011. Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation of Axin directs axon formation during cerebral cortex development. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 31:13613-13624.
- Fanselow, M.S., J.J. Kim, J. Yipp, and B. De Oca. 1994. Differential effects of the N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist DL-2-amino-5-phosphonovalerate on acquisition of fear of auditory and contextual cues. *Behavioral neuroscience*. 108:235.
- Fay, M.M., S.M. Lyons, and P. Ivanov. 2017. RNA G-quadruplexes in biology: principles and molecular mechanisms. *Journal of molecular biology*. 429:2127-2147.
- Feng, Y., C.A. Gutekunst, D.E. Eberhart, H. Yi, S.T. Warren, and S.M. Hersch. 1997. Fragile X mental retardation protein: nucleocytoplasmic shuttling and association with somatodendritic ribosomes. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 17:1539-1547.
- Fernandez-Carvajal, I., B. Lopez Posadas, R. Pan, C. Raske, P.J. Hagerman, and F. Tassone. 2009. Expansion of an FMR1 grey-zone allele to a full mutation in two generations. *The Journal of molecular diagnostics : JMD*. 11:306-310.

- Fernández de Sevilla, D., A. Núñez, and W. Buño. 2021. Muscarinic Receptors, from Synaptic Plasticity to its Role in Network Activity. *Neuroscience*. 456:60-70.
- Ferraguti, F., and R. Shigemoto. 2006. Metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Cell and tissue research*. 326:483-504.
- Fidzinski, P., O. Shor, and J. Behr. 2008. Target-cell-specific bidirectional synaptic plasticity at hippocampal output synapses. *The European journal of neuroscience*. 27:1111-1118.
- Fischer, J., and K. Hammerschmidt. 2011. Ultrasonic vocalizations in mouse models for speech and sociocognitive disorders: insights into the evolution of vocal communication. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*. 10:17-27.
- Fitzjohn, S.M., M.J. Palmer, J.E. May, A. Neeson, S.A. Morris, and G.L. Collingridge. 2001. A characterisation of long-term depression induced by metabotropic glutamate receptor activation in the rat hippocampus in vitro. *The Journal of physiology*. 537:421.
- Fiumelli, H., A. Briner, M. Puskarjov, P. Blaesse, B.J. Belem, A.G. Dayer, K. Kaila, J.L. Martin, and L. Vutskits. 2013. An ion transport-independent role for the cation-chloride cotransporter KCC2 in dendritic spinogenesis in vivo. *Cerebral cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*. 23:378-388.
- Floyd, S.R., E.B. Porro, V.I. Slepnev, G.-C. Ochoa, L.-H. Tsai, and P. De Camilli. 2001. Amphiphysin 1 binds the cyclin-dependent kinase (cdk) 5 regulatory subunit p35 and is phosphorylated by cdk5 and cdc2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 276:8104-8110.
- Foxx-Orenstein, A., J.F. Kuemmerle, and J.R. Grider. 1996. Distinct 5-HT receptors mediate the peristaltic reflex induced by mucosal stimuli in human and guinea pig intestine. *Gastroenterology*. 111:1281-1290.
- Franklin, A.V., M.K. King, V. Palomo, A. Martinez, L.L. McMahon, and R.S. Jope. 2014. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitors reverse deficits in long-term potentiation and cognition in fragile X mice. *Biological psychiatry*. 75:198-206.
- Fu, Y.-H., D.P. Kuhl, A. Pizzuti, M. Pieretti, J.S. Sutcliffe, S. Richards, A.J. Verkert, J.J. Holden, R.G. Fenwick Jr, and S.T. Warren. 1991. Variation of the CGG repeat at the fragile X site results in genetic instability: resolution of the Sherman paradox. *Cell*. 67:1047-1058.
- Fukuhara, S., H. Chikumi, and J.S. Gutkind. 2001. RGS-containing RhoGEFs: the missing link between transforming G proteins and Rho? *Oncogene*. 20:1661-1668.
- Fukuhara, S., C. Murga, M. Zohar, T. Igishi, and J.S. Gutkind. 1999. A novel PDZ domain containing guanine nucleotide exchange factor links heterotrimeric G proteins to Rho. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 274:5868-5879.
- Furusawa, K., A. Asada, P. Urrutia, C. Gonzalez-Billault, M. Fukuda, and S.I. Hisanaga. 2017. Cdk5 Regulation of the GRAB-Mediated Rab8-Rab11 Cascade in Axon Outgrowth. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 37:790-806.
- Gallagher, S.M., C.A. Daly, M.F. Bear, and K.M. Huber. 2004. Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase activation is required for metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression in hippocampal area CA1. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 24:4859-4864.
- Galvez, R., and W.T. Greenough. 2005. Sequence of abnormal dendritic spine development in primary somatosensory cortex of a mouse model of the fragile X mental retardation syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics Part A*. 135:155-160.
- García-Alcocer, G., L.C.B. Segura, M.G. Peña, A. Martínez-Torres, and R. Miledi. 2006. Ontogenetic distribution of 5-HT2C, 5-HT5A, and 5-HT7 receptors in the rat hippocampus. *Gene Expression The Journal of Liver Research*. 13:53-57.
- Gatto, C.L., D. Pereira, and K. Broadie. 2014. GABAergic circuit dysfunction in the Drosophila Fragile X syndrome model. *Neurobiology of disease*. 65:142-159.
- Gebhardt, C., V. Mosienko, N. Alenina, and D. Albrecht. 2019. Priming of LTP in amygdala and hippocampus by prior paired pulse facilitation paradigm in mice lacking brain serotonin. *Hippocampus*. 29:610-618.
- Gellynck, E., K. Heyninck, K.W. Andressen, G. Haegeman, F.O. Levy, P. Vanhoenacker, and K. Van Craenenbroeck. 2013. The serotonin 5-HT7 receptors: two decades of research. *Exp Brain Res.* 230:555-568.

- Gerle, C. 2016. On the structural possibility of pore-forming mitochondrial FoF1 ATP synthase. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1857:1191-1196.
- Gholizadeh, S., J. Arsenault, I.C.Y. Xuan, L.K. Pacey, and D.R. Hampson. 2014. Reduced phenotypic severity following adeno-associated virus-mediated Fmr1 gene delivery in fragile X mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 39:3100-3111.
- Gholizadeh, S., S.K. Halder, and D.R. Hampson. 2015. Expression of fragile X mental retardation protein in neurons and glia of the developing and adult mouse brain. *Brain research*. 1596:22-30.
- Giacomello, M., A. Pyakurel, C. Glytsou, and L. Scorrano. 2020. The cell biology of mitochondrial membrane dynamics. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*. 21:204-224.
- Gibson, G.E., A. Starkov, J.P. Blass, R.R. Ratan, and M.F. Beal. 2010. Cause and consequence: mitochondrial dysfunction initiates and propagates neuronal dysfunction, neuronal death and behavioral abnormalities in age-associated neurodegenerative diseases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease*. 1802:122-134.
- Gingras, A.-C., B. Raught, S.P. Gygi, A. Niedzwiecka, M. Miron, S.K. Burley, R.D. Polakiewicz, A. Wyslouch-Cieszynska, R. Aebersold, and N. Sonenberg. 2001. Hierarchical phosphorylation of the translation inhibitor 4E-BP1. *Genes & development*. 15:2852-2864.
- Giorgio, M., M. Trinei, E. Migliaccio, and P.G. Pelicci. 2007. Hydrogen peroxide: a metabolic by-product or a common mediator of ageing signals? *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*. 8:722-728.
- Gkogkas, C.G., A. Khoutorsky, R. Cao, S.M. Jafarnejad, M. Prager-Khoutorsky, N. Giannakas, A. Kaminari, A. Fragkouli, K. Nader, and T.J. Price. 2014. Pharmacogenetic inhibition of eIF4E-dependent Mmp9 mRNA translation reverses fragile X syndrome-like phenotypes. *Cell reports*. 9:1742-1755.
- Gladding, C.M., S.M. Fitzjohn, and E. Molnár. 2009. Metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated long-term depression: molecular mechanisms. *Pharmacological reviews*. 61:395-412.
- Gold, A.E., and R.P. Kesner. 2005. The role of the CA3 subregion of the dorsal hippocampus in spatial pattern completion in the rat. *Hippocampus*. 15:808-814.
- Golden, T.R., and P.L. Pedersen. 1998. The oligomycin sensitivity conferring protein of rat liver mitochondrial ATP synthase: arginine 94 is important for the binding of OSCP to F1. *Biochemistry*. 37:13871-13881.
- Gomis-González, M., A. Busquets-Garcia, C. Matute, R. Maldonado, S. Mato, and A. Ozaita. 2016. Possible therapeutic doses of cannabinoid type 1 receptor antagonist reverses key alterations in fragile X syndrome mouse model. *Genes*. 7:56.
- Gorinski, N., and E. Ponimaskin. 2013. Palmitoylation of serotonin receptors. *Biochemical Society Transactions*. 41:89-94.
- Greenough, W.T., A.Y. Klintsova, S.A. Irwin, R. Galvez, K.E. Bates, and I.J. Weiler. 2001. Synaptic regulation of protein synthesis and the fragile X protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 98:7101-7106.
- Griffiths, K.K., A. Wang, L. Wang, M. Tracey, G. Kleiner, C.M. Quinzii, L. Sun, G. Yang, J.F. Perez-Zoghbi, and P. Licznerski. 2020. Inefficient thermogenic mitochondrial respiration due to futile proton leak in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *The FASEB Journal*. 34:7404-7426.
- Grimes, M.T., M. Powell, S.M. Gutierrez, A. Darby-King, C.W. Harley, and J.H. McLean. 2015. Epac activation initiates associative odor preference memories in the rat pup. *Learning & memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)*. 22:74-82.
- Groppo, R., and J.D. Richter. 2009. Translational control from head to tail. *Current opinion in cell biology*. 21:444-451.
- Grossman, A.W., N.M. Elisseou, B.C. McKinney, and W.T. Greenough. 2006. Hippocampal pyramidal cells in adult Fmr1 knockout mice exhibit an immature-appearing profile of dendritic spines. *Brain research*. 1084:158-164.
- Gu, J., L. Zhang, S. Zong, R. Guo, T. Liu, J. Yi, P. Wang, W. Zhuo, and M. Yang. 2019. Cryo-EM structure of the mammalian ATP synthase tetramer bound with inhibitory protein IF1. *Science*. 364:1068-1075.
- Gulyás, A.I., A. Sík, J.A. Payne, K. Kaila, and T.F. Freund. 2001. The KCl cotransporter, KCC2, is highly expressed in the vicinity of excitatory synapses in the rat hippocampus. *The European journal of neuroscience*. 13:2205-2217.

- Guscott, M., L. Bristow, K. Hadingham, T. Rosahl, M. Beer, J. Stanton, F. Bromidge, A. Owens, I. Huscroft, and J. Myers. 2005. Genetic knockout and pharmacological blockade studies of the 5-HT7 receptor suggest therapeutic potential in depression. *Neuropharmacology*. 48:492-502.
- Guseva, D., A. Wirth, and E. Ponimaskin. 2014. Cellular mechanisms of the 5-HT7 receptor-mediated signaling. *Front Behav Neurosci*. 8:306.
- Hagan, J.J., G.W. Price, P. Jeffrey, N.J. Deeks, T. Stean, D. Piper, M.I. Smith, N. Upton, A.D. Medhurst, and D.N. Middlemiss. 2000. Characterization of SB-269970-A, a selective 5-HT7 receptor antagonist. *British journal of pharmacology*. 130:539-548.
- Hagerman, R.J. 2002. The physical and behavioral phenotype. *Fragile X syndrome: Diagnosis, treatment, and research*. 3:206-248.
- Hagerman, R.J., E. Berry-Kravis, H.C. Hazlett, D.B. Bailey, Jr., H. Moine, R.F. Kooy, F. Tassone, I. Gantois, N. Sonenberg, J.L. Mandel, and P.J. Hagerman. 2017a. Fragile X syndrome. *Nature reviews. Disease primers*. 3:17065.
- Hagerman, R.J., E. Berry-Kravis, H.C. Hazlett, D.B. Bailey, H. Moine, R.F. Kooy, F. Tassone, I. Gantois, N. Sonenberg, and J.L. Mandel. 2017b. Fragile X syndrome. *Nature reviews Disease primers*. 3:1-19.
- Hagerman, R.J., C.E. Hull, J.F. Safanda, I. Carpenter, L.W. Staley, R.A. O'Connor, C. Seydel, M.M. Mazzocco, K. Snow, and S.N. Thibodeau. 1994. High functioning fragile X males: demonstration of an unmethylated fully expanded FMR-1 mutation associated with protein expression. *American journal of medical* genetics. 51:298-308.
- Hagerman, R.J., M. Leehey, W. Heinrichs, F. Tassone, R. Wilson, J. Hills, J. Grigsby, B. Gage, and P.J. Hagerman.
 2001. Intention tremor, parkinsonism, and generalized brain atrophy in male carriers of fragile X.
 Neurology. 57:127-130.
- Hagerman, R.J., D. Protic, A. Rajaratnam, M.J. Salcedo-Arellano, E.Y. Aydin, and A. Schneider. 2018. Fragile Xassociated neuropsychiatric disorders (FXAND). *Frontiers in psychiatry*. 9:564.
- Halevy, T., C. Czech, and N. Benvenisty. 2015. Molecular mechanisms regulating the defects in fragile X syndrome neurons derived from human pluripotent stem cells. *Stem cell reports*. 4:37-46.
- Hall, S.S., A.A. Lightbody, L.C. Huffman, L.C. Lazzeroni, and A.L. Reiss. 2009. Physiological correlates of social avoidance behavior in children and adolescents with fragile X syndrome. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. 48:320-329.
- Hamilton, S.M., J.R. Green, S. Veeraragavan, L. Yuva, A. McCoy, Y. Wu, J. Warren, L. Little, D. Ji, and X. Cui. 2014. Fmr1 and Nlgn3 knockout rats: novel tools for investigating autism spectrum disorders. *Behavioral neuroscience*. 128:103.
- Hannon, J., and D. Hoyer. 2008. Molecular biology of 5-HT receptors. *Behavioural brain research*. 195:198-213.
- Hanson, A.C., and R.J. Hagerman. 2014. Serotonin dysregulation in fragile X syndrome: Implications for treatment. *Intractable & rare diseases research*. 3:110-117.
- Hanson, G., and J. Coller. 2018. Codon optimality, bias and usage in translation and mRNA decay. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*. 19:20-30.
- Harris, S.W., D. Hessl, B. Goodlin-Jones, J. Ferranti, S. Bacalman, I. Barbato, F. Tassone, P.J. Hagerman, K. Herman, and R.J. Hagerman. 2008. Autism profiles of males with fragile X syndrome. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*. 113:427-438.
- Hayashi, Y., S.-H. Shi, J.A. Esteban, A. Piccini, J.-C. Poncer, and R. Malinow. 2000. Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. *Science*. 287:2262-2267.
- He, F., G. Qi, Q. Zhang, H. Cai, T. Li, M. Li, Q. Zhang, J. Chen, J. Ming, B. Tian, and P. Zhang. 2020. Quantitative Phosphoproteomic Analysis in Alpha-Synuclein Transgenic Mice Reveals the Involvement of Aberrant p25/Cdk5 Signaling in Early-stage Parkinson's Disease. *Cellular and molecular neurobiology*. 40:897-909.
- He, H., K. Deng, M.M. Siddiq, A. Pyie, W. Mellado, S.S. Hannila, and M.T. Filbin. 2016. Cyclic AMP and polyamines overcome inhibition by myelin-associated glycoprotein through eIF5A-mediated increases in p35 expression and activation of Cdk5. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 36:3079-3091.
- Hebert-Chatelain, E., T. Desprez, R. Serrat, L. Bellocchio, E. Soria-Gomez, A. Busquets-Garcia, A.C. Pagano Zottola, A. Delamarre, A. Cannich, P. Vincent, M. Varilh, L.M. Robin, G. Terral, M.D. García-Fernández,

M. Colavita, W. Mazier, F. Drago, N. Puente, L. Reguero, I. Elezgarai, J.W. Dupuy, D. Cota, M.L. Lopez-Rodriguez, G. Barreda-Gómez, F. Massa, P. Grandes, G. Bénard, and G. Marsicano. 2016. A cannabinoid link between mitochondria and memory. *Nature*. 539:555-559.

- Hedlund, P.B., and J.G. Sutcliffe. 2004. Functional, molecular and pharmacological advances in 5-HT7 receptor research. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*. 25:481-486.
- Hegemann, R.U., and W.C. Abraham. 2019. Electrophysiological investigation of metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent metaplasticity in the hippocampus. *In* Glutamate Receptors. Springer. 79-91.
- Heidmann, D.E., M.A. Metcalf, R. Kohen, and M.W. Hamblin. 1997. Four 5-hydroxytryptamine7 (5-HT7) receptor isoforms in human and rat produced by alternative splicing: species differences due to altered intron-exon organization. J Neurochem. 68:1372-1381.
- Hellmich, M.R., H.C. Pant, E. Wada, and J.F. Battey. 1992. Neuronal cdc2-like kinase: a cdc2-related protein kinase with predominantly neuronal expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 89:10867-10871.
- Herlenius, E., and H. Lagercrantz. 2001. Neurotransmitters and neuromodulators during early human development. *Early human development*. 65:21-37.
- Heulens, I., C. D'Hulst, D. Van Dam, P.P. De Deyn, and R.F. Kooy. 2012. Pharmacological treatment of fragile X syndrome with GABAergic drugs in a knockout mouse model. *Behavioural brain research*. 229:244-249.
- Heulens, I., M. Suttie, A. Postnov, N. De Clerck, C.S. Perrotta, T. Mattina, F. Faravelli, F. Forzano, R.F. Kooy, and P. Hammond. 2013. Craniofacial characteristics of fragile X syndrome in mouse and man. *European Journal of Human Genetics*. 21:816-823.
- Hevner, R.F., and M.T. Wong-Riley. 1989. Brain cytochrome oxidase: purification, antibody production, and immunohistochemical/histochemical correlations in the CNS. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 9:3884-3898.
- Heynen, A.J., E.M. Quinlan, D.C. Bae, and M.F. Bear. 2000. Bidirectional, activity-dependent regulation of glutamate receptors in the adult hippocampus in vivo. *Neuron*. 28:527-536.
- Higashimori, H., L. Morel, J. Huth, L. Lindemann, C. Dulla, A. Taylor, M. Freeman, and Y. Yang. 2013. Astroglial FMRP-dependent translational down-regulation of mGluR5 underlies glutamate transporter GLT1 dysregulation in the fragile X mouse. *Human molecular genetics*. 22:2041-2054.
- Hinton, V., W. Brown, K. Wisniewski, and R. Rudelli. 1991. Analysis of neocortex in three males with the fragile X syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics*. 41:289-294.
- Hirst, J. 2009. Towards the molecular mechanism of respiratory complex I. *The Biochemical journal*. 425:327-339.
- Hogan, A.L., K.E. Caravella, J. Ezell, L. Rague, K. Hills, and J.E. Roberts. 2017. Autism spectrum disorder symptoms in infants with fragile X syndrome: a prospective case series. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*. 47:1628-1644.
- Holbro, N., Å. Grunditz, and T.G. Oertner. 2009. Differential distribution of endoplasmic reticulum controls metabotropic signaling and plasticity at hippocampal synapses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 106:15055-15060.
- Hollingworth, D., A.M. Candel, G. Nicastro, S.R. Martin, P. Briata, R. Gherzi, and A. Ramos. 2012. KH domains with impaired nucleic acid binding as a tool for functional analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 40:6873-6886.
- Horwood, J.M., F. Dufour, S. Laroche, and S. Davis. 2006. Signalling mechanisms mediated by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt cascade in synaptic plasticity and memory in the rat. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 23:3375-3384.
- Hotulainen, P., and C.C. Hoogenraad. 2010. Actin in dendritic spines: connecting dynamics to function. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 189:619-629.
- Hou, L., M.D. Antion, D. Hu, C.M. Spencer, R. Paylor, and E. Klann. 2006. Dynamic translational and proteasomal regulation of fragile X mental retardation protein controls mGluR-dependent long-term depression. *Neuron*. 51:441-454.
- Hou, L., and E. Klann. 2004. Activation of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase-Akt-mammalian target of rapamycin signaling pathway is required for metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression. *J Neurosci*. 24:6352-6361.

- Hoyer, D., J.P. Hannon, and G.R. Martin. 2002. Molecular, pharmacological and functional diversity of 5-HT receptors. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*. 71:533-554.
- Hu, Y., Z. Chen, Y. Fu, Q. He, L. Jiang, J. Zheng, Y. Gao, P. Mei, Z. Chen, and X. Ren. 2015. The amino-terminal structure of human fragile X mental retardation protein obtained using precipitant-immobilized imprinted polymers. *Nature communications*. 6:6634.
- Huang, F., J.K. Chotiner, and O. Steward. 2005. The mRNA for elongation factor 1α is localized in dendrites and translated in response to treatments that induce long-term depression. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 25:7199-7209.
- Huang, H., X. Lin, Z. Liang, T. Zhao, S. Du, M.M.T. Loy, K.O. Lai, A.K.Y. Fu, and N.Y. Ip. 2017. Cdk5-dependent phosphorylation of liprinα1 mediates neuronal activity-dependent synapse development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 114:E6992-e7001.
- Huang, K.W., N.E. Ochandarena, A.C. Philson, M. Hyun, J.E. Birnbaum, M. Cicconet, and B.L. Sabatini. 2019. Molecular and anatomical organization of the dorsal raphe nucleus. *Elife*. 8:e46464.
- Huber, K.M., S.M. Gallagher, S.T. Warren, and M.F. Bear. 2002. Altered synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of fragile X mental retardation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 99:7746-7750.
- Huber, K.M., M.S. Kayser, and M.F. Bear. 2000. Role for rapid dendritic protein synthesis in hippocampal mGluR-dependent long-term depression. *Science*. 288:1254-1256.
- Humbert, S., R. Dhavan, and L. Tsai. 2000. p39 activates cdk5 in neurons, and is associated with the actin cytoskeleton. *Journal of cell science*. 113:975-983.
- Hüttemann, M., I. Lee, L.I. Grossman, J.W. Doan, and T.H. Sanderson. 2012. Phosphorylation of mammalian cytochrome c and cytochrome c oxidase in the regulation of cell destiny: respiration, apoptosis, and human disease. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*. 748:237-264.
- Irwin, S.A., M. Idupulapati, M.E. Gilbert, J.B. Harris, A.B. Chakravarti, E.J. Rogers, R.A. Crisostomo, B.P. Larsen, A. Mehta, and C. Alcantara. 2002. Dendritic spine and dendritic field characteristics of layer V pyramidal neurons in the visual cortex of fragile-X knockout mice. *American journal of medical* genetics. 111:140-146.
- Ito, Y., A. Asada, H. Kobayashi, T. Takano, G. Sharma, T. Saito, Y. Ohta, M. Amano, K. Kaibuchi, and S.-i. Hisanaga. 2014. Preferential targeting of p39-activated Cdk5 to Rac1-induced lamellipodia. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*. 61:34-45.
- Jacquemont, S., R.J. Hagerman, M. Leehey, J. Grigsby, L. Zhang, J.A. Brunberg, C. Greco, V. Des Portes, T. Jardini, and R. Levine. 2003. Fragile X premutation tremor/ataxia syndrome: molecular, clinical, and neuroimaging correlates. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*. 72:869-878.
- Jahani-Asl, A., E. Huang, I. Irrcher, J. Rashidian, N. Ishihara, D.C. Lagace, R.S. Slack, and D.S. Park. 2015. CDK5 phosphorylates DRP1 and drives mitochondrial defects in NMDA-induced neuronal death. *Hum Mol Genet*. 24:4573-4583.
- Jin, P., R.S. Alisch, and S.T. Warren. 2004. RNA and microRNAs in fragile X mental retardation. *Nature cell biology*. 6:1048-1053.
- Jo, J., S.M. Ball, H. Seok, S.B. Oh, P.V. Massey, E. Molnar, Z.I. Bashir, and K. Cho. 2006. Experience-dependent modification of mechanisms of long-term depression. *Nat Neurosci*. 9:170-172.
- Kann, O., and R. Kovács. 2007. Mitochondria and neuronal activity. *American journal of physiology. Cell physiology*. 292:C641-657.
- Kates, W.R., M.T. Abrams, W.E. Kaufmann, S.N. Breiter, and A.L. Reiss. 1997. Reliability and validity of MRI measurement of the amygdala and hippocampus in children with fragile X syndrome. *Psychiatry research*. 75:31-48.
- Kaufmann, W.E., R. Cortell, A.S. Kau, I. Bukelis, E. Tierney, R.M. Gray, C. Cox, G.T. Capone, and P. Stanard. 2004. Autism spectrum disorder in fragile X syndrome: communication, social interaction, and specific behaviors. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*. 129:225-234.
- Kaufmann, W.E., S.A. Kidd, H.F. Andrews, D.B. Budimirovic, A. Esler, B. Haas-Givler, T. Stackhouse, C. Riley, G. Peacock, and S.L. Sherman. 2017. Autism spectrum disorder in fragile X syndrome: cooccurring conditions and current treatment. *Pediatrics*. 139:S194-S206.
- Kawauchi, T. 2014. C dk5 regulates multiple cellular events in neural development, function and disease. *Development, growth & differentiation*. 56:335-348.

- Kelley, D.J., R.J. Davidson, J.L. Elliott, G.P. Lahvis, J.C. Yin, and A. Bhattacharyya. 2007. The cyclic AMP cascade is altered in the fragile X nervous system. *PloS one*. 2:e931.
- Kemp, A., and D. Manahan-Vaughan. 2008. The hippocampal CA1 region and dentate gyrus differentiate between environmental and spatial feature encoding through long-term depression. *Cerebral cortex* (New York, N.Y. : 1991). 18:968-977.
- Kemp, N., and Z.I. Bashir. 1999. Induction of LTD in the adult hippocampus by the synaptic activation of AMPA/kainate and metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Neuropharmacology*. 38:495-504.
- Kempermann, G., L. Wiskott, and F.H. Gage. 2004. Functional significance of adult neurogenesis. *Current opinion in neurobiology*. 14:186-191.
- Kerr, K.M., K.L. Agster, S.C. Furtak, and R.D. Burwell. 2007. Functional neuroanatomy of the parahippocampal region: the lateral and medial entorhinal areas. *Hippocampus*. 17:697-708.
- Kessels, H.W., and R. Malinow. 2009. Synaptic AMPA receptor plasticity and behavior. *Neuron*. 61:340-350.
- Khandjian, E.W., F. Corbin, S. Woerly, and F. Rousseau. 1996. The fragile X mental retardation protein is associated with ribosomes. *Nature genetics*. 12:91-93.
- Khandjian, E.W., M.-E. Huot, S. Tremblay, L. Davidovic, R. Mazroui, and B. Bardoni. 2004. Biochemical evidence for the association of fragile X mental retardation protein with brain polyribosomal ribonucleoparticles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 101:13357-13362.
- Kidd, S.A., A. Lachiewicz, D. Barbouth, R.K. Blitz, C. Delahunty, D. McBrien, J. Visootsak, and E. Berry-Kravis. 2014. Fragile X syndrome: a review of associated medical problems. *Pediatrics*. 134:995-1005.
- Kim, M., M. Bellini, and S. Ceman. 2009. Fragile X mental retardation protein FMRP binds mRNAs in the nucleus. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 29:214-228.
- King, M.K., and R.S. Jope. 2013. Lithium treatment alleviates impaired cognition in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Genes, brain, and behavior*. 12:723-731.
- King, M.V., C.A. Marsden, and K.C. Fone. 2008. A role for the 5-HT(1A), 5-HT4 and 5-HT6 receptors in learning and memory. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*. 29:482-492.
- Kitamura, T., Y. Saitoh, N. Takashima, A. Murayama, Y. Niibori, H. Ageta, M. Sekiguchi, H. Sugiyama, and K. Inokuchi. 2009. Adult neurogenesis modulates the hippocampus-dependent period of associative fear memory. *Cell*. 139:814-827.
- Ko, J., S. Humbert, R.T. Bronson, S. Takahashi, A.B. Kulkarni, E. Li, and L.-H. Tsai. 2001. p35 and p39 are essential for cyclin-dependent kinase 5 function during neurodevelopment. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 21:6758-6771.
- Ko, Y.H., J. Hullihen, S. Hong, and P.L. Pedersen. 2000. Mitochondrial F0F1 ATP Synthase: SUBUNIT REGIONS ON THE F1 MOTOR SHIELDED BY F0, FUNCTIONAL SIGNIFICANCE, AND EVIDENCE FOR AN INVOLVEMENT OF THE UNIQUE F0 SUBUNIT F6. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 275:32931-32939.
- Kobe, F., D. Guseva, T.P. Jensen, A. Wirth, U. Renner, D. Hess, M. Müller, L. Medrihan, W. Zhang, and M. Zhang. 2012. 5-HT7R/G12 signaling regulates neuronal morphology and function in an agedependent manner. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 32:2915-2930.
- Kooy, R.F., R. D'Hooge, E. Reyniers, C.E. Bakker, G. Nagels, K. De Boulle, K. Storm, G. Clincke, P.P. De Deyn, and B.A. Oostra. 1996. Transgenic mouse model for the fragile X syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics*. 64:241-245.
- Korb, E., M. Herre, I. Zucker-Scharff, J. Gresack, C.D. Allis, and R.B. Darnell. 2017. Excess Translation of Epigenetic Regulators Contributes to Fragile X Syndrome and Is Alleviated by Brd4 Inhibition. *Cell*. 170:1209-1223.e1220.
- Kramvis, I., H. Mansvelder, M. Loos, and R. Meredith. 2013. Hyperactivity, perseveration and increased responding during attentional rule acquisition in the Fragile X mouse model. *Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience*. 7:172.
- Kühlbrandt, W. 2015. Structure and function of mitochondrial membrane protein complexes. *BMC biology*. 13:1-11.
- Kumar, C.C., and V. Madison. 2005. AKT crystal structure and AKT-specific inhibitors. *Oncogene*. 24:7493-7501.
- Kvachnina, E., A. Dumuis, J. Wlodarczyk, U. Renner, M. Cochet, D.W. Richter, and E. Ponimaskin. 2009. Constitutive Gs-mediated, but not G12-mediated, activity of the 5-hydroxytryptamine 5-HT7 (a)

receptor is modulated by the palmitoylation of its C-terminal domain. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-*Molecular Cell Research*. 1793:1646-1655.

- Kvachnina, E., G. Liu, A. Dityatev, U. Renner, A. Dumuis, D.W. Richter, G. Dityateva, M. Schachner, T.A. Voyno-Yasenetskaya, and E.G. Ponimaskin. 2005. 5-HT7 receptor is coupled to Gα subunits of heterotrimeric G12-protein to regulate gene transcription and neuronal morphology. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 25:7821-7830.
- Lacivita, E., M. Niso, M.L. Stama, A. Arzuaga, C. Altamura, L. Costa, J.F. Desaphy, M.E. Ragozzino, L. Ciranna, and M. Leopoldo. 2020. Privileged scaffold-based design to identify a novel drug-like 5-HT(7) receptor-preferring agonist to target Fragile X syndrome. *European journal of medicinal chemistry*. 199:112395.
- Lai, K.O., A.S. Wong, M.C. Cheung, P. Xu, Z. Liang, K.C. Lok, H. Xie, M.E. Palko, W.H. Yung, L. Tessarollo, Z.H. Cheung, and N.Y. Ip. 2012. TrkB phosphorylation by Cdk5 is required for activity-dependent structural plasticity and spatial memory. *Nat Neurosci*. 15:1506-1515.
- Laird, P.W. 2010. Principles and challenges of genome-wide DNA methylation analysis. *Nature Reviews Genetics*. 11:191-203.
- Lee, C.W., and H.B. Peng. 2008. The function of mitochondria in presynaptic development at the neuromuscular junction. *Molecular biology of the cell*. 19:150-158.
- Lee, M.S., Y.T. Kwon, M. Li, J. Peng, R.M. Friedlander, and L.H. Tsai. 2000. Neurotoxicity induces cleavage of p35 to p25 by calpain. *Nature*. 405:360-364.
- Leopardi, P., F. Marcon, S. Caiola, A. Cafolla, E. Siniscalchi, A. Zijno, and R. Crebelli. 2006. Effects of folic acid deficiency and MTHFR C677T polymorphism on spontaneous and radiation-induced micronuclei in human lymphocytes. *Mutagenesis*. 21:327-333.
- Levenga, J., F.M. de Vrij, R.A. Buijsen, T. Li, I.M. Nieuwenhuizen, A. Pop, B.A. Oostra, and R. Willemsen. 2011. Subregion-specific dendritic spine abnormalities in the hippocampus of Fmr1 KO mice. *Neurobiology* of learning and memory. 95:467-472.
- Levenga, J., H. Wong, R.A. Milstead, B.N. Keller, L.E. LaPlante, and C.A. Hoeffer. 2017. AKT isoforms have distinct hippocampal expression and roles in synaptic plasticity. *Elife*. 6.
- Lew, J., K. Beaudette, C. Litwin, and J. Wang. 1992. Purification and characterization of a novel prolinedirected protein kinase from bovine brain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 267:13383-13390.
- Li, B.S., M.K. Sun, L. Zhang, S. Takahashi, W. Ma, L. Vinade, A.B. Kulkarni, R.O. Brady, and H.C. Pant. 2001. Regulation of NMDA receptors by cyclin-dependent kinase-5. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America. 98:12742-12747.
- Li, H., S. Khirug, C. Cai, A. Ludwig, P. Blaesse, J. Kolikova, R. Afzalov, S.K. Coleman, S. Lauri, M.S. Airaksinen, K. Keinänen, L. Khiroug, M. Saarma, K. Kaila, and C. Rivera. 2007. KCC2 interacts with the dendritic cytoskeleton to promote spine development. *Neuron*. 56:1019-1033.
- Li, M., J. Shin, R.D. Risgaard, M.J. Parries, J. Wang, D. Chasman, S. Liu, S. Roy, A. Bhattacharyya, and X. Zhao. 2020. Identification of FMR1-regulated molecular networks in human neurodevelopment. *Genome research*. 30:361-374.
- Li, Z., L. Van Aelst, and H.T. Cline. 2000. Rho GTPases regulate distinct aspects of dendritic arbor growth in Xenopus central neurons in vivo. *Nature neuroscience*. 3:217-225.
- Licznerski, P., H.A. Park, H. Rolyan, R. Chen, N. Mnatsakanyan, P. Miranda, M. Graham, J. Wu, N. Cruz-Reyes, N. Mehta, S. Sohail, J. Salcedo, E. Song, C. Effman, S. Effman, L. Brandao, G.N. Xu, A. Braker, V.K. Gribkoff, R.J. Levy, and E.A. Jonas. 2020. ATP Synthase c-Subunit Leak Causes Aberrant Cellular Metabolism in Fragile X Syndrome. *Cell*. 182:1170-1185.e1179.
- Lin, S.L., N.N. Johnson-Farley, D.R. Lubinsky, and D.S. Cowen. 2003. Coupling of neuronal 5-HT7 receptors to activation of extracellular-regulated kinase through a protein kinase A-independent pathway that can utilize Epac. J Neurochem. 87:1076-1085.
- Lindberg, H.K., X. Wang, H. Järventaus, G.C. Falck, H. Norppa, and M. Fenech. 2007. Origin of nuclear buds and micronuclei in normal and folate-deprived human lymphocytes. *Mutation research*. 617:33-45.
- Link, W., U. Konietzko, G. Kauselmann, M. Krug, B. Schwanke, U. Frey, and D. Kuhl. 1995. Somatodendritic expression of an immediate early gene is regulated by synaptic activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 92:5734-5738.

- Lisman, J.E., and A.A. Grace. 2005. The hippocampal-VTA loop: controlling the entry of information into long-term memory. *Neuron*. 46:703-713.
- Lister, R.G. 1987. The use of a plus-maze to measure anxiety in the mouse. *Psychopharmacology*. 92:180-185.
- Liu, T., R.-P. Wan, L.-J. Tang, S.-J. Liu, H.-J. Li, Q.-H. Zhao, W.-P. Liao, X.-F. Sun, Y.-H. Yi, and Y.-S. Long. 2015. A microRNA profile in Fmr1 knockout mice reveals microRNA expression alterations with possible roles in fragile X syndrome. *Molecular neurobiology*. 51:1053-1063.
- Liu, Y., G. Fiskum, and D. Schubert. 2002. Generation of reactive oxygen species by the mitochondrial electron transport chain. *Journal of neurochemistry*. 80:780-787.
- Liu, Y.J., R.L. McIntyre, G.E. Janssens, and R.H. Houtkooper. 2020. Mitochondrial fission and fusion: A dynamic role in aging and potential target for age-related disease. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*. 186:111212.
- Liu, Z.-H., D.-M. Chuang, and C.B. Smith. 2011. Lithium ameliorates phenotypic deficits in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*. 14:618-630.
- Liu, Z.-H., and C.B. Smith. 2009. Dissociation of social and nonsocial anxiety in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Neuroscience letters*. 454:62-66.
- Llano, O., S. Smirnov, S. Soni, A. Golubtsov, I. Guillemin, P. Hotulainen, I. Medina, H.G. Nothwang, C. Rivera, and A. Ludwig. 2015. KCC2 regulates actin dynamics in dendritic spines via interaction with β-PIX. *J Cell Biol*. 209:671-686.
- Loesch, D.Z., R.M. Huggins, and R.J. Hagerman. 2004. Phenotypic variation and FMRP levels in fragile X. *Mental retardation and developmental disabilities research reviews*. 10:31-41.
- Logue, S.F., R. Paylor, and J.M. Wehner. 1997. Hippocampal lesions cause learning deficits in inbred mice in the Morris water maze and conditioned-fear task. *Behavioral neuroscience*. 111:104.
- Lorenzini, C.A., E. Baldi, C. Bucherelli, B. Sacchetti, and G. Tassoni. 1996. Role of dorsal hippocampus in acquisition, consolidation and retrieval of rat's passive avoidance response: a tetrodotoxin functional inactivation study. *Brain research*. 730:32-39.
- Lovenberg, T.W., B.M. Baron, L. de Lecea, J.D. Miller, R.A. Prosser, M.A. Rea, P.E. Foye, M. Racke, A.L. Slone, B.W. Siegel, and et al. 1993. A novel adenylyl cyclase-activating serotonin receptor (5-HT7) implicated in the regulation of mammalian circadian rhythms. *Neuron*. 11:449-458.
- Lu, R., H. Wang, Z. Liang, L. Ku, W.T. O'Donnell, W. Li, S.T. Warren, and Y. Feng. 2004. The fragile X protein controls microtubule-associated protein 1B translation and microtubule stability in brain neuron development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 101:15201-15206.
- Lu, W., Y. Shi, A.C. Jackson, K. Bjorgan, M.J. During, R. Sprengel, P.H. Seeburg, and R.A. Nicoll. 2009. Subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors revealed by a single-cell genetic approach. *Neuron*. 62:254-268.
- Lubala, T.K., A. Lumaka, G. Kanteng, L. Mutesa, O. Mukuku, S. Wembonyama, R. Hagerman, O.N. Luboya, and
 P. Lukusa Tshilobo. 2018. Fragile X checklists: A meta-analysis and development of a simplified universal clinical checklist. *Molecular genetics & genomic medicine*. 6:526-532.
- Lubs, H.A. 1969. A marker X chromosome. American journal of human genetics. 21:231-244.
- Lujan, R., Z. Nusser, J.D.B. Roberts, R. Shigemoto, and P. Somogyi. 1996. Perisynaptic location of metabotropic glutamate receptors mGluR1 and mGluR5 on dendrites and dendritic spines in the rat hippocampus. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 8:1488-1500.
- Lüscher, C., and K.M. Huber. 2010. Group 1 mGluR-dependent synaptic long-term depression: mechanisms and implications for circuitry and disease. *Neuron*. 65:445-459.
- Lüscher, C., and R.C. Malenka. 2012. NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*. 4.
- Lutzu, S., and P.E. Castillo. 2021. Modulation of NMDA receptors by G-protein-coupled receptors: role in synaptic transmission, plasticity and beyond. *Neuroscience*. 456:27-42.
- Lyon, E., T. Laver, P. Yu, M. Jama, K. Young, M. Zoccoli, and N. Marlowe. 2010. A simple, high-throughput assay for Fragile X expanded alleles using triple repeat primed PCR and capillary electrophoresis. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*. 12:505-511.

- Mahé, C., M. Bernhard, I. Bobirnac, C. Keser, E. Loetscher, D. Feuerbach, K.K. Dev, and P. Schoeffter. 2004. Functional expression of the serotonin 5-HT7 receptor in human glioblastoma cell lines. *Br J Pharmacol.* 143:404-410.
- Majumder, M., R.H. Johnson, and V. Palanisamy. 2020. Fragile X-related protein family: a double-edged sword in neurodevelopmental disorders and cancer. *Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology*. 55:409-424.
- Malenka, R.C., and M.F. Bear. 2004. LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron. 44:5-21.
- Malinow, R., and R.C. Malenka. 2002. AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Annual review of neuroscience*. 25:103-126.
- Manahan-Vaughan, D. 1997. Group 1 and 2 metabotropic glutamate receptors play differential roles in hippocampal long-term depression and long-term potentiation in freely moving rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 17:3303-3311.
- Manahan-Vaughan, D., and K.H. Braunewell. 2005. The metabotropic glutamate receptor, mGluR5, is a key determinant of good and bad spatial learning performance and hippocampal synaptic plasticity. *Cerebral cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*. 15:1703-1713.
- Manuel-Apolinar, L., and A. Meneses. 2004. 8-OH-DPAT facilitated memory consolidation and increased hippocampal and cortical cAMP production. *Behavioural brain research*. 148:179-184.
- Martín-Cora, F.J., and A. Pazos. 2004. Autoradiographic distribution of 5-HT7 receptors in the human brain using [3H] mesulergine: comparison to other mammalian species. *British journal of pharmacology*. 141:92-104.
- Martin, J.P., and J. Bell. 1943. A PEDIGREE OF MENTAL DEFECT SHOWING SEX-LINKAGE. *Journal of neurology and psychiatry*. 6:154-157.
- Matsuo, N., L. Reijmers, and M. Mayford. 2008. Spine-type-specific recruitment of newly synthesized AMPA receptors with learning. *Science*. 319:1104-1107.
- Matsuzaki, M., N. Honkura, G.C. Ellis-Davies, and H. Kasai. 2004. Structural basis of long-term potentiation in single dendritic spines. *Nature*. 429:761-766.
- Matthys, A., G. Haegeman, K. Van Craenenbroeck, and P. Vanhoenacker. 2011. Role of the 5-HT7 receptor in the central nervous system: from current status to future perspectives. *Mol Neurobiol*. 43:228-253.
- Mattson, M.P. 2007. Mitochondrial regulation of neuronal plasticity. *Neurochemical research*. 32:707-715.
- Mattson, M.P., and D. Liu. 2003. Mitochondrial potassium channels and uncoupling proteins in synaptic plasticity and neuronal cell death. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 304:539-549.
- Mattson, M.P., and J. Partin. 1999. Evidence for mitochondrial control of neuronal polarity. *Journal of neuroscience research*. 56:8-20.
- Maurin, T., and B. Bardoni. 2018. Fragile X mental retardation protein: to be or not to be a translational enhancer. *Frontiers in molecular biosciences*. 5:113.
- Maurin, T., K. Lebrigand, S. Castagnola, A. Paquet, M. Jarjat, A. Popa, M. Grossi, F. Rage, and B. Bardoni. 2018a. HITS-CLIP in various brain areas reveals new targets and new modalities of RNA binding by fragile X mental retardation protein. *Nucleic acids research*. 46:6344-6355.
- Maurin, T., F. Melancia, M. Jarjat, L. Castro, L. Costa, S. Delhaye, A. Khayachi, S. Castagnola, E. Mota, A. Di Giorgio, M. Servadio, M. Drozd, G. Poupon, S. Schiavi, L. Sardone, S. Azoulay, L. Ciranna, S. Martin, P. Vincent, V. Trezza, and B. Bardoni. 2018b. Involvement of Phosphodiesterase 2A Activity in the Pathophysiology of Fragile X Syndrome. *Cerebral Cortex*. 29:3241-3252.
- Maurin, T., M. Melko, S. Abekhoukh, O. Khalfallah, L. Davidovic, M. Jarjat, S. D'Antoni, M.V. Catania, H. Moine, and E. Bechara. 2015. The FMRP/GRK4 mRNA interaction uncovers a new mode of binding of the Fragile X mental retardation protein in cerebellum. *Nucleic acids research*. 43:8540-8550.
- McBride, S.M., A.J. Bell, and T.A. Jongens. 2012. Behavior in a Drosophila model of fragile X. *Modeling Fragile X Syndrome*:83-117.
- McConkie-Rosell, A., A.M. Lachiewicz, G.A. Spiridigliozzi, J. Tarleton, S. Schoenwald, M. Phelan, P. Goonewardena, X. Ding, and W. Brown. 1993. Evidence that methylation of the FMR-I locus is responsible for variable phenotypic expression of the fragile X syndrome. *American journal of human genetics*. 53:800.

- McCoy, P., T.T. Norton, and L.L. McMahon. 2008. Layer 2/3 synapses in monocular and binocular regions of tree shrew visual cortex express mAChR-dependent long-term depression and long-term potentiation. *J Neurophysiol*. 100:336-345.
- McDuffie, A., A.J. Thurman, R.J. Hagerman, and L. Abbeduto. 2015. Symptoms of autism in males with fragile X syndrome: A comparison to nonsyndromic ASD using current ADI-R scores. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*. 45:1925-1937.
- McKinney, B.C., A.W. Grossman, N.M. Elisseou, and W.T. Greenough. 2005. Dendritic spine abnormalities in the occipital cortex of C57BL/6 Fmr1 knockout mice. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics*. 136:98-102.
- McLennan, Y., J. Polussa, F. Tassone, and R. Hagerman. 2011. Fragile X syndrome. *Current genomics*. 12:216-224.
- McNaughton, B.L., C.A. Barnes, J.L. Gerrard, K. Gothard, M.W. Jung, J.J. Knierim, H. Kudrimoti, Y. Qin, W. Skaggs, and M. Suster. 1996. Deciphering the hippocampal polyglot: the hippocampus as a path integration system. *The Journal of experimental biology*. 199:173-185.
- McNaughton, C.H., J. Moon, M.S. Strawderman, K.N. Maclean, J. Evans, and B.J. Strupp. 2008. Evidence for social anxiety and impaired social cognition in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Behavioral neuroscience*. 122:293.
- Melko, M., and B. Bardoni. 2010. The role of G-quadruplex in RNA metabolism: involvement of FMRP and FMR2P. *Biochimie*. 92:919-926.
- Meuer, K., I.E. Suppanz, P. Lingor, V. Planchamp, B. Göricke, L. Fichtner, G.H. Braus, G.P. Dietz, S. Jakobs, M. Bähr, and J.H. Weishaupt. 2007. Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 is an upstream regulator of mitochondrial fission during neuronal apoptosis. *Cell death and differentiation*. 14:651-661.
- Meyerson, M., G.H. Enders, C.-L. Wu, L. Su, C. Gorka, C. Nelson, E. Harlow, and L. Tsai. 1992. A family of human cdc2-related protein kinases. *The EMBO journal*. 11:2909-2917.
- Michalon, A., A. Bruns, C. Risterucci, M. Honer, T.M. Ballard, L. Ozmen, G. Jaeschke, J.G. Wettstein, M. von Kienlin, and B. Künnecke. 2014. Chronic metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 inhibition corrects local alterations of brain activity and improves cognitive performance in fragile X mice. *Biological psychiatry*. 75:189-197.
- Michalon, A., M. Sidorov, T.M. Ballard, L. Ozmen, W. Spooren, J.G. Wettstein, G. Jaeschke, M.F. Bear, and L. Lindemann. 2012. Chronic pharmacological mGlu5 inhibition corrects fragile X in adult mice. *Neuron*. 74:49-56.
- Middei, S., M. Ammassari-Teule, and H. Marie. 2014. Synaptic plasticity under learning challenge. *Neurobiology of learning and memory*. 115:108-115.
- Middei, S., A. Spalloni, P. Longone, C. Pittenger, S.M. O'Mara, H. Marie, and M. Ammassari-Teule. 2012. CREB selectively controls learning-induced structural remodeling of neurons. *Learning & memory*. 19:330-336.
- Mientjes, E.J., I. Nieuwenhuizen, L. Kirkpatrick, T. Zu, M. Hoogeveen-Westerveld, L. Severijnen, M. Rifé, R. Willemsen, D.L. Nelson, and B.A. Oostra. 2006. The generation of a conditional Fmr1 knock out mouse model to study Fmrp function in vivo. *Neurobiol Dis.* 21:549-555.
- Mientjes, E.J., R. Willemsen, L.L. Kirkpatrick, I.M. Nieuwenhuizen, M. Hoogeveen-Westerveld, M. Verweij, S. Reis, B. Bardoni, A.T. Hoogeveen, B.A. Oostra, and D.L. Nelson. 2004. Fxr1 knockout mice show a striated muscle phenotype: implications for Fxr1p function in vivo. *Hum Mol Genet*. 13:1291-1302.
- Millan, M.J., P. Marin, J. Bockaert, and C.M. la Cour. 2008. Signaling at G-protein-coupled serotonin receptors: recent advances and future research directions. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*. 29:454-464.
- Miller, L.J., D. McIntosh, J. McGrath, V. Shyu, M. Lampe, A. Taylor, F. Tassone, K. Neitzel, T. Stackhouse, and R.J. Hagerman. 1999. Electrodermal responses to sensory stimuli in individuals with fragile X syndrome: a preliminary report. *American journal of medical genetics*. 83:268-279.
- Minegishi, S., A. Asada, S. Miyauchi, T. Fuchigami, T. Saito, and S.-i. Hisanaga. 2010. Membrane association facilitates degradation and cleavage of the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activators p35 and p39. *Biochemistry*. 49:5482-5493.
- Mineur, Y.S., F. Sluyter, S. de Wit, B.A. Oostra, and W.E. Crusio. 2002. Behavioral and neuroanatomical characterization of the Fmr1 knockout mouse. *Hippocampus*. 12:39-46.

- Miyashiro, K.Y., A. Beckel-Mitchener, T.P. Purk, K.G. Becker, T. Barret, L. Liu, S. Carbonetto, I.J. Weiler, W.T. Greenough, and J. Eberwine. 2003. RNA cargoes associating with FMRP reveal deficits in cellular functioning in Fmr1 null mice. *Neuron*. 37:417-431.
- Mizuno, K. 2013. Signaling mechanisms and functional roles of cofilin phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. *Cellular signalling*. 25:457-469.
- Mnatsakanyan, N., and E.A. Jonas. 2020. ATP synthase c-subunit ring as the channel of mitochondrial permeability transition: Regulator of metabolism in development and degeneration. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology*. 144:109-118.
- Moon, J.-s., A. Beaudin, S. Verosky, L. Driscoll, M. Weiskopf, D. Levitsky, L. Crnic, and B. Strupp. 2006. Attentional dysfunction, impulsivity, and resistance to change in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Behavioral neuroscience*. 120:1367.
- Morabito, M.A., M. Sheng, and L.H. Tsai. 2004. Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 phosphorylates the N-terminal domain of the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 in neurons. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 24:865-876.
- Morishita, W., H. Marie, and R.C. Malenka. 2005. Distinct triggering and expression mechanisms underlie LTD of AMPA and NMDA synaptic responses. *Nature neuroscience*. 8:1043-1050.
- Moult, P.R., S.A. Corrêa, G.L. Collingridge, S.M. Fitzjohn, and Z.I. Bashir. 2008. Co-activation of p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase and protein tyrosine phosphatase underlies metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression. *The Journal of physiology*. 586:2499-2510.
- Moult, P.R., C.M. Gladding, T.M. Sanderson, S.M. Fitzjohn, Z.I. Bashir, E. Molnar, and G.L. Collingridge. 2006. Tyrosine phosphatases regulate AMPA receptor trafficking during metabotropic glutamate receptormediated long-term depression. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 26:2544-2554.
- Mráček, T., Z. Drahota, and J. Houštěk. 2013. The function and the role of the mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in mammalian tissues. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics*. 1827:401-410.
- Muddashetty, R.S., V.C. Nalavadi, C. Gross, X. Yao, L. Xing, O. Laur, S.T. Warren, and G.J. Bassell. 2011. Reversible inhibition of PSD-95 mRNA translation by miR-125a, FMRP phosphorylation, and mGluR signaling. *Molecular cell*. 42:673-688.
- Muneoka, K.T., and M. Takigawa. 2003. 5-Hydroxytryptamine7 (5-HT7) receptor immunoreactivity-positive 'stigmoid body'-like structure in developing rat brains. *International journal of developmental neuroscience*. 21:133-143.
- Musumeci, S., R.J. Hagerman, R. Ferri, P. Bosco, B.D. Bernardina, C. Tassinari, G. De Sarro, and M. Elia. 1999. Epilepsy and EEG findings in males with fragile X syndrome. *Epilepsia*. 40:1092-1099.
- Musumeci, S.A., P. Bosco, G. Calabrese, C. Bakker, G.B. De Sarro, M. Elia, R. Ferri, and B.A. Oostra. 2000. Audiogenic seizures susceptibility in transgenic mice with fragile X syndrome. *Epilepsia*. 41:19-23.
- Myrick, L.K., H. Hashimoto, X. Cheng, and S.T. Warren. 2015. Human FMRP contains an integral tandem Agenet (Tudor) and KH motif in the amino terminal domain. *Hum Mol Genet*. 24:1733-1740.
- Myrick, L.K., M. Nakamoto-Kinoshita, N.M. Lindor, S. Kirmani, X. Cheng, and S.T. Warren. 2014. Fragile X syndrome due to a missense mutation. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG*. 22:1185-1189.
- Naie, K., and D. Manahan-Vaughan. 2004. Regulation by metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 of LTP in the dentate gyrus of freely moving rats: relevance for learning and memory formation. *Cerebral cortex* (New York, N.Y. : 1991). 14:189-198.
- Naie, K., and D. Manahan-Vaughan. 2005. Investigations of the protein synthesis dependency of mGluRinduced long-term depression in the dentate gyrus of freely moving rats. *Neuropharmacology*. 49:35-44.
- Nakamoto, M., V. Nalavadi, M.P. Epstein, U. Narayanan, G.J. Bassell, and S.T. Warren. 2007. Fragile X mental retardation protein deficiency leads to excessive mGluR5-dependent internalization of AMPA receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 104:15537-15542.
- Nakazawa, T., S. Komai, T. Tezuka, C. Hisatsune, H. Umemori, K. Semba, M. Mishina, T. Manabe, and T. Yamamoto. 2001. Characterization of Fyn-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation sites on GluRɛ2 (NR2B) subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 276:693-699.

- Napoli, I., V. Mercaldo, P.P. Boyl, B. Eleuteri, F. Zalfa, S. De Rubeis, D. Di Marino, E. Mohr, M. Massimi, and M. Falconi. 2008. The fragile X syndrome protein represses activity-dependent translation through CYFIP1, a new 4E-BP. *Cell*. 134:1042-1054.
- Nelson, D.L., H.T. Orr, and S.T. Warren. 2013. The unstable repeats—three evolving faces of neurological disease. *Neuron*. 77:825-843.
- Nicastro, G., I.A. Taylor, and A. Ramos. 2015. KH-RNA interactions: back in the groove. *Current opinion in structural biology*. 30:63-70.
- Nichols, D.E., and C.D. Nichols. 2008. Serotonin receptors. *Chemical reviews*. 108:1614-1641.
- Nielsen, D.M., W.J. Derber, D.A. McClellan, and L.S. Crnic. 2002. Alterations in the auditory startle response in Fmr1 targeted mutant mouse models of fragile X syndrome. *Brain research*. 927:8-17.
- Nikolic, M., M.M. Chou, W. Lu, B.J. Mayer, and L.-H. Tsai. 1998. The p35/Cdk5 kinase is a neuron-specific Rac effector that inhibits Pak1 activity. *Nature*. 395:194-198.
- Nimchinsky, E.A., A.M. Oberlander, and K. Svoboda. 2001. Abnormal development of dendritic spines in FMR1 knock-out mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 21:5139-5146.
- Nimchinsky, E.A., B.L. Sabatini, and K. Svoboda. 2002. Structure and function of dendritic spines. *Annual review of physiology*. 64:313-353.
- Nishimura, Y.V., M. Shikanai, M. Hoshino, T. Ohshima, Y.-i. Nabeshima, K.-i. Mizutani, K.-i. Nagata, K. Nakajima, and T. Kawauchi. 2014. Cdk5 and its substrates, Dcx and p27kip1, regulate cytoplasmic dilation formation and nuclear elongation in migrating neurons. *Development*. 141:3540-3550.
- Nolan, S.O., and J.N. Lugo. 2018. Reversal learning paradigm reveals deficits in cognitive flexibility in the Fmr1 knockout male mouse. *F1000Research*. 7:711.
- Nolin, S.L., W.T. Brown, A. Glicksman, G.E. Houck, Jr., A.D. Gargano, A. Sullivan, V. Biancalana, K. Bröndum-Nielsen, H. Hjalgrim, E. Holinski-Feder, F. Kooy, J. Longshore, J. Macpherson, J.L. Mandel, G. Matthijs, F. Rousseau, P. Steinbach, M.L. Väisänen, H. von Koskull, and S.L. Sherman. 2003. Expansion of the fragile X CGG repeat in females with premutation or intermediate alleles. *American journal of human genetics*. 72:454-464.
- Nolin, S.L., X.h. Ding, G.E. Houck, W.T. Brown, and C. Dobkin. 2008. Fragile X full mutation alleles composed of few alleles: implications for CGG repeat expansion. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*. 146:60-65.
- Nolin, S.L., A. Glicksman, X. Ding, N. Ersalesi, W.T. Brown, S.L. Sherman, and C. Dobkin. 2011. Fragile X analysis of 1112 prenatal samples from 1991 to 2010. *Prenatal diagnosis*. 31:925-931.
- Nolin, S.L., A. Glicksman, N. Ersalesi, C. Dobkin, W.T. Brown, R. Cao, E. Blatt, S. Sah, G.J. Latham, and A.G. Hadd. 2015. Fragile X full mutation expansions are inhibited by one or more AGG interruptions in premutation carriers. *Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics*. 17:358-364.
- Nolin, S.L., A. Glicksman, N. Tortora, E. Allen, J. Macpherson, M. Mila, A.M. Vianna-Morgante, S.L. Sherman, C. Dobkin, G.J. Latham, and A.G. Hadd. 2019. Expansions and contractions of the FMR1 CGG repeat in 5,508 transmissions of normal, intermediate, and premutation alleles. *American journal of medical* genetics. Part A. 179:1148-1156.
- Nosyreva, E.D., and K.M. Huber. 2005. Developmental switch in synaptic mechanisms of hippocampal metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 25:2992-3001.
- O'Neill, C. 2013. PI3-kinase/Akt/mTOR signaling: impaired on/off switches in aging, cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease. *Experimental gerontology*. 48:647-653.
- Odajima, J., Z.P. Wills, Y.M. Ndassa, M. Terunuma, K. Kretschmannova, T.Z. Deeb, Y. Geng, S. Gawrzak, I.M. Quadros, J. Newman, M. Das, M.E. Jecrois, Q. Yu, N. Li, F. Bienvenu, S.J. Moss, M.E. Greenberg, J.A. Marto, and P. Sicinski. 2011. Cyclin E constrains Cdk5 activity to regulate synaptic plasticity and memory formation. *Dev Cell*. 21:655-668.
- Ohshima, T., H. Ogura, K. Tomizawa, K. Hayashi, H. Suzuki, T. Saito, H. Kamei, A. Nishi, J.A. Bibb, S. Hisanaga, H. Matsui, and K. Mikoshiba. 2005. Impairment of hippocampal long-term depression and defective spatial learning and memory in p35 mice. *J Neurochem*. 94:917-925.

- Okamoto, K.-I., T. Nagai, A. Miyawaki, and Y. Hayashi. 2004. Rapid and persistent modulation of actin dynamics regulates postsynaptic reorganization underlying bidirectional plasticity. *Nature neuroscience*. 7:1104-1112.
- Opazo, P., M. Sainlos, and D. Choquet. 2012. Regulation of AMPA receptor surface diffusion by PSD-95 slots. *Current opinion in neurobiology*. 22:453-460.
- Osterweil, E.K., D.D. Krueger, K. Reinhold, and M.F. Bear. 2010. Hypersensitivity to mGluR5 and ERK1/2 leads to excessive protein synthesis in the hippocampus of a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 30:15616-15627.
- Ouyang, L., Y. Chen, Y. Wang, Y. Chen, A.K. Fu, W.-Y. Fu, and N.Y. Ip. 2020. p39-associated Cdk5 activity regulates dendritic morphogenesis. *Scientific reports*. 10:1-16.
- Overly, C.C., H.I. Rieff, and P.J. Hollenbeck. 1996. Organelle motility and metabolism in axons vs dendrites of cultured hippocampal neurons. *Journal of cell science*. 109:971-980.
- Palacino, J.J., D. Sagi, M.S. Goldberg, S. Krauss, C. Motz, M. Wacker, J. Klose, and J. Shen. 2004. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage in parkin-deficient mice. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 279:18614-18622.
- Palmer, M., A. Irving, G. Seabrook, D. Jane, and G. Collingridge. 1997. The group I mGlu receptor agonist DHPG induces a novel form of LTD in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. *Neuropharmacology*. 36:1517-1532.
- Panja, D., J.W. Kenney, L. D'Andrea, F. Zalfa, A. Vedeler, K. Wibrand, R. Fukunaga, C. Bagni, C.G. Proud, and C.R. Bramham. 2014. Two-stage translational control of dentate gyrus LTP consolidation is mediated by sustained BDNF-TrkB signaling to MNK. *Cell reports*. 9:1430-1445.
- Pao, P.C., and L.H. Tsai. 2021. Three decades of Cdk5. Journal of biomedical science. 28:79.
- Paradee, W., H. Melikian, D. Rasmussen, A. Kenneson, P. Conn, and S. Warren. 1999. Fragile X mouse: strain effects of knockout phenotype and evidence suggesting deficient amygdala function. *Neuroscience*. 94:185-192.
- Park, J., J. Seo, J. Won, H.G. Yeo, Y.J. Ahn, K. Kim, Y.B. Jin, B.S. Koo, K.S. Lim, K.J. Jeong, P. Kang, H.Y. Lee, S.H. Baek, C.Y. Jeon, J.J. Hong, J.W. Huh, Y.H. Kim, S.J. Park, S.U. Kim, D.S. Lee, S.R. Lee, and Y. Lee. 2019. Abnormal Mitochondria in a Non-human Primate Model of MPTP-induced Parkinson's Disease: Drp1 and CDK5/p25 Signaling. *Experimental neurobiology*. 28:414-424.
- Park, J., J. Won, J. Seo, H.G. Yeo, K. Kim, Y.G. Kim, C.Y. Jeon, M.K. Kam, Y.H. Kim, J.W. Huh, S.R. Lee, D.S. Lee, and Y. Lee. 2020. Streptozotocin Induces Alzheimer's Disease-Like Pathology in Hippocampal Neuronal Cells via CDK5/Drp1-Mediated Mitochondrial Fragmentation. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*. 14:235.
- Park, S., J.M. Park, S. Kim, J.-A. Kim, J.D. Shepherd, C.L. Smith-Hicks, S. Chowdhury, W. Kaufmann, D. Kuhl, and A.G. Ryazanov. 2008. Elongation factor 2 and fragile X mental retardation protein control the dynamic translation of Arc/Arg3. 1 essential for mGluR-LTD. *Neuron*. 59:70-83.
- Patrick, G.N., L. Zukerberg, M. Nikolic, S. de La Monte, P. Dikkes, and L.-H. Tsai. 1999. Conversion of p35 to p25 deregulates Cdk5 activity and promotes neurodegeneration. *Nature*. 402:615-622.
- Paulus, E.V., and E.M. Mintz. 2016. Circadian rhythms of clock gene expression in the cerebellum of serotonin-deficient Pet-1 knockout mice. *Brain Research*. 1630:10-17.
- Payne, B.A., and P.F. Chinnery. 2015. Mitochondrial dysfunction in aging: much progress but many unresolved questions. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics*. 1847:1347-1353.
- Pedersen, P.L., Y.H. Ko, and S. Hong. 2000. ATP synthases in the year 2000: evolving views about the structures of these remarkable enzyme complexes. *Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes*. 32:325-332.
- Peier, A.M., K.L. McIlwain, A. Kenneson, S.T. Warren, R. Paylor, and D.L. Nelson. 2000. (Over) correction of FMR1 deficiency with YAC transgenics: behavioral and physical features. *Human molecular genetics*. 9:1145-1159.
- Perez-Garcia, G., and A. Meneses. 2008. Memory formation, amnesia, improved memory and reversed amnesia: 5-HT role. *Behav Brain Res*. 195:17-29.
- Perez-García, G.S., and A. Meneses. 2005. Effects of the potential 5-HT7 receptor agonist AS 19 in an autoshaping learning task. *Behavioural brain research*. 163:136-140.

- Perlini, L.E., J. Szczurkowska, B.A. Ballif, A. Piccini, S. Sacchetti, S. Giovedì, F. Benfenati, and L. Cancedda. 2015. Synapsin III acts downstream of semaphorin 3A/CDK5 signaling to regulate radial migration and orientation of pyramidal neurons in vivo. *Cell reports*. 11:234-248.
- Pfeiffer, B.E., and K.M. Huber. 2009. The state of synapses in fragile X syndrome. *The Neuroscientist*. 15:549-567.
- Phillips, R., and J. LeDoux. 1992. Differential contribution of amygdala and hippocampus to cued and contextual fear conditioning. *Behavioral neuroscience*. 106:274.
- Pietropaolo, S., A. Guilleminot, B. Martin, F.R. d'Amato, and W.E. Crusio. 2011. Genetic-background modulation of core and variable autistic-like symptoms in Fmr1 knock-out mice. *PloS one*. 6:e17073.
- Pilaz, L.-J., A.L. Lennox, J.P. Rouanet, and D.L. Silver. 2016. Dynamic mRNA transport and local translation in radial glial progenitors of the developing brain. *Current Biology*. 26:3383-3392.
- Plant, K., K.A. Pelkey, Z.A. Bortolotto, D. Morita, A. Terashima, C.J. McBain, G.L. Collingridge, and J.T. Isaac. 2006. Transient incorporation of native GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors during hippocampal longterm potentiation. *Nature neuroscience*. 9:602-604.
- Ponimaskin, E., T. Voyno-Yasenetskaya, D.W. Richter, M. Schachner, and A. Dityatev. 2007. Morphogenic signaling in neurons via neurotransmitter receptors and small GTPases. *Mol Neurobiol*. 35:278-287.
- Popov, V., N.I. Medvedev, H.A. Davies, and M.G. Stewart. 2005. Mitochondria form a filamentous reticular network in hippocampal dendrites but are present as discrete bodies in axons: A three-dimensional ultrastructural study. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*. 492:50-65.
- Pourhamzeh, M., F.G. Moravej, M. Arabi, E. Shahriari, S. Mehrabi, R. Ward, R. Ahadi, and M.T. Joghataei. 2021. The Roles of Serotonin in Neuropsychiatric Disorders. *Cellular and molecular neurobiology*.
- Pretto, D., C.M. Yrigollen, H.-T. Tang, J. Williamson, G. Espinal, C.K. Iwahashi, B. Durbin-Johnson, R.J. Hagerman, P.J. Hagerman, and F. Tassone. 2014. Clinical and molecular implications of mosaicism in FMR1 full mutations. *Frontiers in genetics*. 5:318.
- Protasoni, M., and M. Zeviani. 2021. Mitochondrial Structure and Bioenergetics in Normal and Disease Conditions. *International journal of molecular sciences*. 22.
- Pytliak, M., V. Vargová, V. Mechírová, and M. Felsöci. 2011. Serotonin receptors-from molecular biology to clinical applications. *Physiological research*. 60:15.
- Quartier, A., H. Poquet, B. Gilbert-Dussardier, M. Rossi, A.S. Casteleyn, V.D. Portes, C. Feger, E. Nourisson, P. Kuentz, C. Redin, J. Thevenon, A.L. Mosca-Boidron, P. Callier, J. Muller, G. Lesca, F. Huet, V. Geoffroy, S. El Chehadeh, M. Jung, B. Trojak, S. Le Gras, D. Lehalle, B. Jost, S. Maury, A. Masurel, P. Edery, C. Thauvin-Robinet, B. Gérard, J.L. Mandel, L. Faivre, and A. Piton. 2017. Intragenic FMR1 disease-causing variants: a significant mutational mechanism leading to Fragile-X syndrome. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG*. 25:423-431.
- Ramírez-Cheyne, J.A., G.A. Duque, S. Ayala-Zapata, W. Saldarriaga-Gil, P. Hagerman, R. Hagerman, and C. Payán-Gómez. 2019. Fragile X syndrome and connective tissue dysregulation. *Clinical genetics*. 95:262-267.
- Rao-Ruiz, P., D.C. Rotaru, R.J. van der Loo, H.D. Mansvelder, O. Stiedl, A.B. Smit, and S. Spijker. 2011. Retrieval-specific endocytosis of GluA2-AMPARs underlies adaptive reconsolidation of contextual fear. *Nature neuroscience*. 14:1302-1308.
- Reiss, A.L., J. Lee, and L. Freund. 1994. Neuroanatomy of fragile X syndrome: the temporal lobe. *Neurology*. 44:1317-1317.
- Restivo, L., F. Ferrari, E. Passino, C. Sgobio, J. Bock, B.A. Oostra, C. Bagni, and M. Ammassari-Teule. 2005. Enriched environment promotes behavioral and morphological recovery in a mouse model for the fragile X syndrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 102:11557-11562.
- Restivo, L., F. Roman, A. Dumuis, J. Bockaert, E. Marchetti, and M. Ammassari-Teule. 2008. The promnesic effect of G-protein-coupled 5-HT4 receptors activation is mediated by a potentiation of learning-induced spine growth in the mouse hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 33:2427-2434.
- Reyniers, E., L. Vits, K. De Boulle, B. Van Roy, D. Van Velzen, E. de Graaff, A.J. Verkerk, H.Z. Jorens, J.K. Darby,
 B. Oostra, and et al. 1993. The full mutation in the FMR-1 gene of male fragile X patients is absent in their sperm. *Nature genetics*. 4:143-146.
- Richter, J.D., and X. Zhao. 2021. The molecular biology of FMRP: new insights into fragile X syndrome. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. 22:209-222.

- Riobo, N.A., and D.R. Manning. 2005. Receptors coupled to heterotrimeric G proteins of the G12 family. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*. 26:146-154.
- Roberts, A.J., T. Krucker, C.L. Levy, K.A. Slanina, J.G. Sutcliffe, and P.B. Hedlund. 2004. Mice lacking 5-HT7 receptors show specific impairments in contextual learning. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 19:1913-1922.
- Roberts, J.E., M.A. Clarke, K. Alcorn, J.C. Carter, A.C. Long, and W.E. Kaufmann. 2009. Autistic behavior in boys with fragile X syndrome: social approach and HPA-axis dysfunction. *Journal of neurodevelopmental disorders*. 1:283-291.
- Rojas, D.C., T.L. Benkers, S.J. Rogers, P.D. Teale, M.L. Reite, and R.J. Hagerman. 2001. Auditory evoked magnetic fields in adults with fragile X syndrome. *Neuroreport*. 12:2573-2576.
- Ronesi, J.A., K.A. Collins, S.A. Hays, N.-P. Tsai, W. Guo, S.G. Birnbaum, J.-H. Hu, P.F. Worley, J.R. Gibson, and K.M. Huber. 2012. Disrupted Homer scaffolds mediate abnormal mGluR5 function in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Nature neuroscience*. 15:431-440.
- Ronesi, J.A., and K.M. Huber. 2008. Homer interactions are necessary for metabotropic glutamate receptorinduced long-term depression and translational activation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 28:543-547.
- Rong, R., X. Xia, H. Peng, H. Li, M. You, Z. Liang, F. Yao, X. Yao, K. Xiong, J. Huang, R. Zhou, and D. Ji. 2020. Cdk5-mediated Drp1 phosphorylation drives mitochondrial defects and neuronal apoptosis in radiation-induced optic neuropathy. *Cell death & disease*. 11:720.
- Rose, C.R., and A. Konnerth. 2001. Stores not just for storage. intracellular calcium release and synaptic plasticity. *Neuron*. 31:519-522.
- Rose, S., S.C. Bennuri, R. Wynne, S. Melnyk, S.J. James, and R.E. Frye. 2017. Mitochondrial and redox abnormalities in autism lymphoblastoid cells: a sibling control study. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 31:904-909.
- Rotschafer, S., and K. Razak. 2013. Altered auditory processing in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Brain research*. 1506:12-24.
- Rotschafer, S.E., M.S. Trujillo, L.E. Dansie, I.M. Ethell, and K.A. Razak. 2012. Minocycline treatment reverses ultrasonic vocalization production deficit in a mouse model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Brain research*. 1439:7-14.
- Rowland, A.A., and G.K. Voeltz. 2012. Endoplasmic reticulum–mitochondria contacts: function of the junction. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*. 13:607-615.
- Roy, S., N. Watkins, and D. Heck. 2012. Comprehensive analysis of ultrasonic vocalizations in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome reveals limited, call type specific deficits.
- Ruat, M., E. Traiffort, R. Leurs, J. Tardivel-Lacombe, J. Diaz, J.M. Arrang, and J.C. Schwartz. 1993. Molecular cloning, characterization, and localization of a high-affinity serotonin receptor (5-HT7) activating cAMP formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 90:8547-8551.
- Ruchhoeft, M.L., S.-i. Ohnuma, L. McNeill, C.E. Holt, and W.A. Harris. 1999. The neuronal architecture of Xenopus retinal ganglion cells is sculpted by rho-family GTPases in vivo. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 19:8454-8463.
- Rudelli, R., W. Brown, K. Wisniewski, E. Jenkins, M. Laure-Kamionowska, F. Connell, and H. Wisniewski. 1985. Adult fragile X syndrome. *Acta neuropathologica*. 67:289-295.
- Ruthel, G., and P.J. Hollenbeck. 2003. Response of mitochondrial traffic to axon determination and differential branch growth. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 23:8618-8624.
- Sahu, A., L. Gopalakrishnan, N. Gaur, O. Chatterjee, P. Mol, P.K. Modi, S. Dagamajalu, J. Advani, S. Jain, and T. Keshava Prasad. 2018. The 5-Hydroxytryptamine signaling map: an overview of serotoninserotonin receptor mediated signaling network. *Journal of Cell Communication and Signaling*. 12:731-735.
- Sai, Y., Z. Zou, K. Peng, and Z. Dong. 2012. The Parkinson's disease-related genes act in mitochondrial homeostasis. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*. 36:2034-2043.
- Saito, T., A. Ishii, K. Sugai, M. Sasaki, and S. Hirose. 2017. A de novo missense mutation in SLC12A5 found in a compound heterozygote patient with epilepsy of infancy with migrating focal seizures. *Clinical genetics*. 92:654-658.

- Salcedo-Arellano, M.J., B. Dufour, Y. McLennan, V. Martinez-Cerdeno, and R. Hagerman. 2020. Fragile X syndrome and associated disorders: Clinical aspects and pathology. *Neurobiology of disease*. 136:104740.
- Saluto, A., A. Brussino, F. Tassone, C. Arduino, C. Cagnoli, P. Pappi, P. Hagerman, N. Migone, and A. Brusco.
 2005. An enhanced polymerase chain reaction assay to detect pre-and full mutation alleles of the fragile X mental retardation 1 gene. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*. 7:605-612.
- Sanderson, T.M., E.L. Hogg, G.L. Collingridge, and S.A. Corrêa. 2016. Hippocampal metabotropic glutamate receptor long-term depression in health and disease: focus on mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. *J Neurochem*. 139 Suppl 2:200-214.
- Saraste, M. 1999. Oxidative phosphorylation at the fin de siecle. *Science*. 283:1488-1493.
- Sarkisyan, G., and P.B. Hedlund. 2009. The 5-HT7 receptor is involved in allocentric spatial memory information processing. *Behavioural brain research*. 202:26-31.
- Sasaki, T., A. Shiohama, S. Minoshima, and N. Shimizu. 2003. Identification of eight members of the Argonaute family in the human genome. *Genomics*. 82:323-330.
- Sauna-Aho, O., N. Bjelogrlic-Laakso, A. Siren, and M. Arvio. 2018. Signs indicating dementia in Down, Williams and Fragile X syndromes. *Molecular genetics & genomic medicine*. 6:855-860.
- Sawicka, K., C.R. Hale, C.Y. Park, J.J. Fak, J.E. Gresack, S.J. Van Driesche, J.J. Kang, J.C. Darnell, and R.B. Darnell. 2019. FMRP has a cell-type-specific role in CA1 pyramidal neurons to regulate autism-related transcripts and circadian memory. *Elife*. 8:e46919.
- Schaeffer, C., B. Bardoni, J.L. Mandel, B. Ehresmann, C. Ehresmann, and H. Moine. 2001. The fragile X mental retardation protein binds specifically to its mRNA via a purine quartet motif. *The EMBO journal*. 20:4803-4813.
- Schenck, A., B. Bardoni, C. Langmann, N. Harden, J.-L. Mandel, and A. Giangrande. 2003. CYFIP/Sra-1 controls neuronal connectivity in Drosophila and links the Rac1 GTPase pathway to the fragile X protein. *Neuron*. 38:887-898.
- Schenck, A., B. Bardoni, A. Moro, C. Bagni, and J.-L. Mandel. 2001. A highly conserved protein family interacting with the fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) and displaying selective interactions with FMRP-related proteins FXR1P and FXR2P. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 98:8844-8849.
- Scoville, W.B., and B. Milner. 1957. Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry*. 20:11.
- Seeburg, D.P., M. Feliu-Mojer, J. Gaiottino, D.T. Pak, and M. Sheng. 2008. Critical role of CDK5 and Polo-like kinase 2 in homeostatic synaptic plasticity during elevated activity. *Neuron*. 58:571-583.
- Shah, K., and S. Rossie. 2018. Tale of the good and the bad Cdk5: remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton in the brain. *Molecular neurobiology*. 55:3426-3438.
- Shah, S., G. Molinaro, B. Liu, R. Wang, K.M. Huber, and J.D. Richter. 2020a. FMRP Control of Ribosome Translocation Promotes Chromatin Modifications and Alternative Splicing of Neuronal Genes Linked to Autism. *Cell Rep.* 30:4459-4472.e4456.
- Shah, S., G. Molinaro, B. Liu, R. Wang, K.M. Huber, and J.D. Richter. 2020b. FMRP control of ribosome translocation promotes chromatin modifications and alternative splicing of neuronal genes linked to autism. *Cell reports*. 30:4459-4472. e4456.
- Sharma, A., C.A. Hoeffer, Y. Takayasu, T. Miyawaki, S.M. McBride, E. Klann, and R.S. Zukin. 2010. Dysregulation of mTOR signaling in fragile X syndrome. *Journal of neuroscience*. 30:694-702.
- Shen, M., F. Wang, M. Li, N. Sah, M.E. Stockton, J.J. Tidei, Y. Gao, T. Korabelnikov, S. Kannan, J.D. Vevea, E.R. Chapman, A. Bhattacharyya, H. van Praag, and X. Zhao. 2019. Reduced mitochondrial fusion and Huntingtin levels contribute to impaired dendritic maturation and behavioral deficits in Fmr1-mutant mice. *Nat Neurosci.* 22:386-400.
- Shen, Y., F.J. Monsma, Jr., M.A. Metcalf, P.A. Jose, M.W. Hamblin, and D.R. Sibley. 1993. Molecular cloning and expression of a 5-hydroxytryptamine7 serotonin receptor subtype. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 268:18200-18204.
- Shepherd, J.D., G. Rumbaugh, J. Wu, S. Chowdhury, N. Plath, D. Kuhl, R.L. Huganir, and P.F. Worley. 2006. Arc/Arg3. 1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. *Neuron*. 52:475-484.

- Sherman, S.L. 2000. Premature ovarian failure in the fragile X syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics*. 97:189-194.
- Shu, H., E. Donnard, B. Liu, S. Jung, R. Wang, and J.D. Richter. 2020. FMRP links optimal codons to mRNA stability in neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 117:30400-30411.
- Shuang, R., L. Zhang, A. Fletcher, G.E. Groblewski, J. Pevsner, and E.L. Stuenkel. 1998. Regulation of Munc-18/syntaxin 1A interaction by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in nerve endings. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 273:4957-4966.
- Shukla, V., S. Skuntz, and H.C. Pant. 2012. Deregulated Cdk5 activity is involved in inducing Alzheimer's disease. *Archives of medical research*. 43:655-662.
- Sidorov, M.S., B.D. Auerbach, and M.F. Bear. 2013. Fragile X mental retardation protein and synaptic plasticity. *Mol Brain*. 6:15.
- Sies, H., C. Berndt, and D.P. Jones. 2017. Oxidative stress. Annual review of biochemistry. 86:715-748.
- Singer, B.D., and N.S. Chandel. 2019. Immunometabolism of pro-repair cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 129:2597-2607.
- Siomi, M.C., H. Siomi, W.H. Sauer, S. Srinivasan, R.L. Nussbaum, and G. Dreyfuss. 1995. FXR1, an autosomal homolog of the fragile X mental retardation gene. *Embo j.* 14:2401-2408.
- Siomi, M.C., Y. Zhang, H. Siomi, and G. Dreyfuss. 1996. Specific sequences in the fragile X syndrome protein FMR1 and the FXR proteins mediate their binding to 60S ribosomal subunits and the interactions among them. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 16:3825-3832.
- Sit, S.-T., and E. Manser. 2011. Rho GTPases and their role in organizing the actin cytoskeleton. *Journal of cell science*. 124:679-683.
- Sittler, A., D. Devys, C. Weber, and J.-L. Mandel. 1996. Alternative Splicing of Exon 14 Determines Nuclear or Cytoplasmic Localisation of FMR1 Protein Isoforms. *Human Molecular Genetics*. 5:95-102.
- Slotnick, B.M. 1973. Fear behavior and passive avoidance deficits in mice with amygdala lesions. *Physiology* & *behavior*. 11:717-720.
- Snow, K., L. Doud, R. Hagerman, R. Pergolizzi, S. Erster, and S.N. Thibodeau. 1993. Analysis of a CGG sequence at the FMR-1 locus in fragile X families and in the general population. *American journal of human genetics*. 53:1217.
- Solmaz, S.R., and C. Hunte. 2008. Structure of complex III with bound cytochrome c in reduced state and definition of a minimal core interface for electron transfer. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 283:17542-17549.
- Spencer, C., O. Alekseyenko, E. Serysheva, L. Yuva-Paylor, and R. Paylor. 2005. Altered anxiety-related and social behaviors in the Fmr1 knockout mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*. 4:420-430.
- Spencer, C.M., O. Alekseyenko, S.M. Hamilton, A.M. Thomas, E. Serysheva, L.A. Yuva-Paylor, and R. Paylor. 2011. Modifying behavioral phenotypes in Fmr1KO mice: Genetic background differences reveal autistic-like responses. *Autism research*. 4:40-56.
- Speranza, L., A. Chambery, M. Di Domenico, M. Crispino, V. Severino, F. Volpicelli, M. Leopoldo, G.C. Bellenchi, U. di Porzio, and C. Perrone-Capano. 2013. The serotonin receptor 7 promotes neurite outgrowth via ERK and Cdk5 signaling pathways. *Neuropharmacology*. 67:155-167.
- Speranza, L., T. Giuliano, F. Volpicelli, M.E. De Stefano, L. Lombardi, A. Chambery, E. Lacivita, M. Leopoldo, G.C. Bellenchi, and U. di Porzio. 2015. Activation of 5-HT7 receptor stimulates neurite elongation through mTOR, Cdc42 and actin filaments dynamics. *Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience*. 9:62.
- Speranza, L., J. Labus, F. Volpicelli, D. Guseva, E. Lacivita, M. Leopoldo, G.C. Bellenchi, U. di Porzio, M. Bijata, and C. Perrone-Capano. 2017. Serotonin 5-HT 7 receptor increases the density of dendritic spines and facilitates synaptogenesis in forebrain neurons. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 141:647-661.
- Spinazzi, M., A. Casarin, V. Pertegato, L. Salviati, and C. Angelini. 2012. Assessment of mitochondrial respiratory chain enzymatic activities on tissues and cultured cells. *Nature protocols*. 7:1235-1246.
- Squire, L.R., C.E. Stark, and R.E. Clark. 2004. The medial temporal lobe. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 27:279-306.
- Stanton, P.K., and F.A. Schanne. 1986. Hippocampal long-term potentiation increases mitochondrial calcium pump activity in rat. *Brain research*. 382:185-188.
- Stefani, G., C.E. Fraser, J.C. Darnell, and R.B. Darnell. 2004. Fragile X mental retardation protein is associated with translating polyribosomes in neuronal cells. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 24:7272-7276.

- Stefanovic, S., G.J. Bassell, and M.R. Mihailescu. 2015. G quadruplex RNA structures in PSD-95 mRNA: potential regulators of miR-125a seed binding site accessibility. *Rna*. 21:48-60.
- Steward, O., C.S. Wallace, G.L. Lyford, and P.F. Worley. 1998. Synaptic activation causes the mRNA for the IEG Arc to localize selectively near activated postsynaptic sites on dendrites. *Neuron*. 21:741-751.
- Steward, O., and P.F. Worley. 2001. Selective targeting of newly synthesized Arc mRNA to active synapses requires NMDA receptor activation. *Neuron*. 30:227-240.
- Strathmann, M.P., and M.I. Simon. 1991. G alpha 12 and G alpha 13 subunits define a fourth class of G protein alpha subunits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 88:5582-5586.
- Strom, C.M., D. Huang, Y. Li, F.M. Hantash, J. Rooke, S.J. Potts, and W. Sun. 2007. Development of a novel, accurate, automated, rapid, high-throughput technique suitable for population-based carrier screening for Fragile X syndrome. *Genetics in Medicine*. 9:199-207.
- Su, S.C., J. Seo, J.Q. Pan, B.A. Samuels, A. Rudenko, M. Ericsson, R.L. Neve, D.T. Yue, and L.H. Tsai. 2012. Regulation of N-type voltage-gated calcium channels and presynaptic function by cyclin-dependent kinase 5. *Neuron*. 75:675-687.
- Sugita, S., K.-Z. Shen, and R. North. 1992. 5-hydroxytryptamine is a fast excitatory transmitter at 5-HT3 receptors in rat amygdala. *Neuron*. 8:199-203.
- Suhl, J.A., P. Chopra, B.R. Anderson, G.J. Bassell, and S.T. Warren. 2014. Analysis of FMRP mRNA target datasets reveals highly associated mRNAs mediated by G-quadruplex structures formed via clustered WGGA sequences. *Human molecular genetics*. 23:5479-5491.
- Sun, K.H., Y. de Pablo, F. Vincent, and K. Shah. 2008. Deregulated Cdk5 promotes oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction. *J Neurochem*. 107:265-278.
- Sundaram, J.R., E.S. Chan, C.P. Poore, T.K. Pareek, W.F. Cheong, G. Shui, N. Tang, C.M. Low, M.R. Wenk, and S. Kesavapany. 2012. Cdk5/p25-induced cytosolic PLA2-mediated lysophosphatidylcholine production regulates neuroinflammation and triggers neurodegeneration. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 32:1020-1034.
- Susan, J.C., J. Harrison, C.L. Paul, and M. Frommer. 1994. High sensitivity mapping of methylated cytosines. *Nucleic acids research*. 22:2990-2997.
- Sutherland, G.R., and E. Baker. 2000. The clinical significance of fragile sites on human chromosomes. *Clinical genetics*. 58:157-161.
- Sutherland, G.R., E. Baker, A. Fratini, J.M. Opitz, and J.F. Reynolds. 1985. Excess thymidine induces folate sensitve fragile sites. *American journal of medical genetics*. 22:433-443.
- Swanson, L., J. Wyss, and W. Cowan. 1978. An autoradiographic study of the organization of intrahippocampal association pathways in the rat. *Journal of comparative neurology*. 181:681-715.
- Takahashi, S., T. Saito, S.-i. Hisanaga, H.C. Pant, and A.B. Kulkarni. 2003. Tau phosphorylation by cyclindependent kinase 5/p39 during brain development reduces its affinity for microtubules. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 278:10506-10515.
- Tamanini, F., R. Willemsen, L. van Unen, C. Bontekoe, H. Galjaard, B.A. Oostra, and A.T. Hoogeveen. 1997.
 Differential expression of FMR1, FXR1 and FXR2 proteins in human brain and testis. *Hum Mol Genet*. 6:1315-1322.
- Tang, D., J. Yeung, K.-Y. Lee, M. Matsushita, H. Matsui, K. Tomizawa, O. Hatase, and J.H. Wang. 1995. An isoform of the neuronal cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) activator. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 270:26897-26903.
- Tassone, F. 2015. Advanced technologies for the molecular diagnosis of fragile X syndrome. *Expert review of molecular diagnostics*. 15:1465-1473.
- Tassone, F., A. Beilina, C. Carosi, S. Albertosi, C. Bagni, L. Li, K. Glover, D. Bentley, and P.J. Hagerman. 2007. Elevated FMR1 mRNA in premutation carriers is due to increased transcription. *Rna*. 13:555-562.
- Tassone, F., R.J. Hagerman, A.K. Taylor, L.W. Gane, T.E. Godfrey, and P.J. Hagerman. 2000. Elevated levels of FMR1 mRNA in carrier males: a new mechanism of involvement in the fragile-X syndrome. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*. 66:6-15.
- Tecott, L.H. 2003. The genes and brains of mice and men. American Journal of Psychiatry. 160:646-656.
- Thoeringer, C.K., K. Henes, M. Eder, M. Dahlhoff, W. Wurst, F. Holsboer, J.M. Deussing, S. Moosmang, and C.T. Wotjak. 2012. Consolidation of remote fear memories involves Corticotropin-Releasing

Hormone (CRH) receptor type 1-mediated enhancement of AMPA receptor GluR1 signaling in the dentate gyrus. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 37:787-796.

- Thomas, A., A. Burant, N. Bui, D. Graham, L.A. Yuva-Paylor, and R. Paylor. 2009. Marble burying reflects a repetitive and perseverative behavior more than novelty-induced anxiety. *Psychopharmacology*. 204:361-373.
- Thomas, D.R., and J.J. Hagan. 2004. 5-HT7 receptors. *Current Drug Targets-CNS & Neurological Disorders*. 3:81-90.
- Todd, P.K., K.J. Mack, and J.S. Malter. 2003. The fragile X mental retardation protein is required for type-I metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent translation of PSD-95. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 100:14374-14378.
- Tomitsuka, E., K. Kita, and H. Esumi. 2009. Regulation of succinate-ubiquinone reductase and fumarate reductase activities in human complex II by phosphorylation of its flavoprotein subunit. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy, Series B*. 85:258-265.
- Tomizawa, K., J. Ohta, M. Matsushita, A. Moriwaki, S.T. Li, K. Takei, and H. Matsui. 2002. Cdk5/p35 regulates neurotransmitter release through phosphorylation and downregulation of P/Q-type voltage-dependent calcium channel activity. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 22:2590-2597.
- Tomizawa, K., S. Sunada, Y.-F. Lu, Y. Oda, M. Kinuta, T. Ohshima, T. Saito, F.-Y. Wei, M. Matsushita, and S.-T. Li. 2003. Cophosphorylation of amphiphysin I and dynamin I by Cdk5 regulates clathrin-mediated endocytosis of synaptic vesicles. *The Journal of cell biology*. 163:813-824.
- Trigo, D., C. Avelar, M. Fernandes, J. Sá, and E.S.O. da Cruz. 2022. Mitochondria, energy, and metabolism in neuronal health and disease. *FEBS Lett*.
- Tsai, L.-H., I. Delalle, V.S. Caviness, T. Chae, and E. Harlow. 1994. p35 is a neural-specific regulatory subunit of cyclin-dependent kinase 5. *Nature*. 371:419-423.
- Tsai, L.-H., T. Takahashi, V.S. Caviness, and E. Harlow. 1993. Activity and expression pattern of cyclindependent kinase 5 in the embryonic mouse nervous system. *Development*. 119:1029-1040.
- Tseng, H.C., Y. Zhou, Y. Shen, and L.H. Tsai. 2002. A survey of Cdk5 activator p35 and p25 levels in Alzheimer's disease brains. *FEBS Lett*. 523:58-62.
- Tucker, B., R. Richards, and M. Lardelli. 2004. Expression of three zebrafish orthologs of human FMR1-related genes and their phylogenetic relationships. *Development genes and evolution*. 214:567-574.
- Turrigiano, G.G., and S.B. Nelson. 2004. Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*. 5:97-107.
- Utami, K.H., N. Yusof, J.E. Kwa, U.K. Peteri, M.L. Castrén, and M.A. Pouladi. 2020. Elevated de novo protein synthesis in FMRP-deficient human neurons and its correction by metformin treatment. *Molecular autism*. 11:41.
- Utari, A., E. Adams, E. Berry-Kravis, A. Chavez, F. Scaggs, L. Ngotran, A. Boyd, D. Hessl, L.W. Gane, and F. Tassone. 2010. Aging in fragile X syndrome. *Journal of neurodevelopmental disorders*. 2:70-76.
- Uutela, M., J. Lindholm, V. Louhivuori, H. Wei, L. Louhivuori, A. Pertovaara, K. Åkerman, E. Castrén, and M. Castrén. 2012. Reduction of BDNF expression in Fmr1 knockout mice worsens cognitive deficits but improves hyperactivity and sensorimotor deficits. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*. 11:513-523.
- Valenti, D., L. de Bari, B. De Filippis, A. Henrion-Caude, and R.A. Vacca. 2014. Mitochondrial dysfunction as a central actor in intellectual disability-related diseases: an overview of Down syndrome, autism, Fragile X and Rett syndrome. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews*. 46 Pt 2:202-217.
- Valenti, D., L. de Bari, D. Vigli, E. Lacivita, M. Leopoldo, G. Laviola, R.A. Vacca, and B. De Filippis. 2017. Stimulation of the brain serotonin receptor 7 rescues mitochondrial dysfunction in female mice from two models of Rett syndrome. *Neuropharmacology*. 121:79-88.
- Valsecchi, F., L.S. Ramos-Espiritu, J. Buck, L.R. Levin, and G. Manfredi. 2013. cAMP and mitochondria. *Physiology (Bethesda, Md.).* 28:199-209.
- Van Dam, D., R. d'Hooge, E. Hauben, E. Reyniers, I. Gantois, C.E. Bakker, B.A. Oostra, R.F. Kooy, and P.P. De Deyn. 2000. Spatial learning, contextual fear conditioning and conditioned emotional response in Fmr1 knockout mice. *Behavioural brain research*. 117:127-136.
- van der Bliek, A.M., M.M. Sedensky, and P.G. Morgan. 2017. Cell Biology of the Mitochondrion. *Genetics*. 207:843-871.

- Van Driesche, S.J., K. Sawicka, C. Zhang, S.K. Hung, C.Y. Park, J.J. Fak, C. Yang, R.B. Darnell, and J.C. Darnell. 2019. FMRP binding to a ranked subset of long genes is revealed by coupled CLIP and TRAP in specific neuronal cell types. *bioRxiv*:762500.
- Van Groen, T., and J.M. Wyss. 1990. Extrinsic projections from area CA1 of the rat hippocampus: olfactory, cortical, subcortical, and bilateral hippocampal formation projections. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*. 302:515-528.
- Van Strien, N., N. Cappaert, and M. Witter. 2009. The anatomy of memory: an interactive overview of the parahippocampal–hippocampal network. *Nature reviews neuroscience*. 10:272-282.
- Vanderklish, P.W., and G.M. Edelman. 2002. Dendritic spines elongate after stimulation of group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 99:1639-1644.
- Varnäs, K., D.R. Thomas, E. Tupala, J. Tiihonen, and H. Hall. 2004. Distribution of 5-HT7 receptors in the human brain: a preliminary autoradiographic study using [3H] SB-269970. *Neuroscience letters*. 367:313-316.
- Veeraragavan, S., N. Bui, J.R. Perkins, L.A. Yuva-Paylor, R.L. Carpenter, and R. Paylor. 2011a. Modulation of behavioral phenotypes by a muscarinic M1 antagonist in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Psychopharmacology*. 217:143-151.
- Veeraragavan, S., N. Bui, J.R. Perkins, L.A. Yuva-Paylor, and R. Paylor. 2011b. The modulation of fragile X behaviors by the muscarinic M4 antagonist, tropicamide. *Behavioral neuroscience*. 125:783.
- Veeraragavan, S., D. Graham, N. Bui, L.A. Yuva-Paylor, J. Wess, and R. Paylor. 2012. Genetic reduction of muscarinic M4 receptor modulates analgesic response and acoustic startle response in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome (FXS). *Behavioural brain research*. 228:1-8.
- Ventura, R., T. Pascucci, M. Catania, S. Musumeci, and S. Puglisi-Allegra. 2004. Object recognition impairment in Fmr1 knockout mice is reversed by amphetamine: involvement of dopamine in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Behavioural pharmacology*. 15:433-442.
- Verde, E.M.R., J. Lee-Osbourne, P.F. Worley, R. Malinow, and H.T. Cline. 2006. Increased expression of the immediate-early gene arc/arg3. 1 reduces AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission. *Neuron*. 52:461-474.
- Verkerk, A.J., E. de Graaff, K. De Boulle, E.E. Eichler, D.S. Konecki, E. Reyniers, A. Manca, A. Poustka, P.J. Willems, D.L. Nelson, and et al. 1993. Alternative splicing in the fragile X gene FMR1. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2:399-404.
- Verkerk, A.J., M. Pieretti, J.S. Sutcliffe, Y.H. Fu, D.P. Kuhl, A. Pizzuti, O. Reiner, S. Richards, M.F. Victoria, F.P. Zhang, and et al. 1991. Identification of a gene (FMR-1) containing a CGG repeat coincident with a breakpoint cluster region exhibiting length variation in fragile X syndrome. *Cell*. 65:905-914.
- Verstreken, P., C.V. Ly, K.J. Venken, T.W. Koh, Y. Zhou, and H.J. Bellen. 2005. Synaptic mitochondria are critical for mobilization of reserve pool vesicles at Drosophila neuromuscular junctions. *Neuron*. 47:365-378.
- Vigli, D., L. Rusconi, D. Valenti, P. La Montanara, L. Cosentino, E. Lacivita, M. Leopoldo, E. Amendola, C. Gross, N. Landsberger, G. Laviola, C. Kilstrup-Nielsen, R.A. Vacca, and B. De Filippis. 2019. Rescue of prepulse inhibition deficit and brain mitochondrial dysfunction by pharmacological stimulation of the central serotonin receptor 7 in a mouse model of CDKL5 Deficiency Disorder. *Neuropharmacology*. 144:104-114.
- Vlasov, A.V., K.V. Kovalev, S.H. Marx, E.S. Round, I.Y. Gushchin, V.A. Polovinkin, N.M. Tsoy, I.S. Okhrimenko,
 V.I. Borshchevskiy, G.D. Büldt, Y.L. Ryzhykau, A.V. Rogachev, V.V. Chupin, A.I. Kuklin, N.A. Dencher,
 and V.I. Gordeliy. 2019. Unusual features of the c-ring of F(1)F(O) ATP synthases. *Sci Rep*. 9:18547.
- Volk, L.J., B.E. Pfeiffer, J.R. Gibson, and K.M. Huber. 2007. Multiple Gq-coupled receptors converge on a common protein synthesis-dependent long-term depression that is affected in fragile X syndrome mental retardation. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 27:11624-11634.
- Wallace, D.C., and W. Fan. 2010. Energetics, epigenetics, mitochondrial genetics. *Mitochondrion*. 10:12-31.
- Wang, H., A.O. Ardiles, S. Yang, T. Tran, R. Posada-Duque, G. Valdivia, M. Baek, Y.-A. Chuang, A.G. Palacios, and M. Gallagher. 2016a. Metabotropic glutamate receptors induce a form of LTP controlled by translation and arc signaling in the hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 36:1723-1729.

- Wang, H., L. Ku, D.J. Osterhout, W. Li, A. Ahmadian, Z. Liang, and Y. Feng. 2004. Developmentallyprogrammed FMRP expression in oligodendrocytes: a potential role of FMRP in regulating translation in oligodendroglia progenitors. *Human molecular genetics*. 13:79-89.
- Wang, J., S. Liu, Y. Fu, J.H. Wang, and Y. Lu. 2003. Cdk5 activation induces hippocampal CA1 cell death by directly phosphorylating NMDA receptors. *Nat Neurosci*. 6:1039-1047.
- Wang, Q., H. Zhang, H. Xu, D. Guo, H. Shi, Y. Li, W. Zhang, and Y. Gu. 2016b. 5-HTR3 and 5-HTR4 located on the mitochondrial membrane and functionally regulated mitochondrial functions. *Sci Rep*. 6:37336.
- Waskiewicz, A.J., J.C. Johnson, B. Penn, M. Mahalingam, S.R. Kimball, and J.A. Cooper. 1999. Phosphorylation of the cap-binding protein eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E by protein kinase Mnk1 in vivo. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 19:1871-1880.
- Waterston, R.H., K. Lindblad-Toh, E. Birney, J. Rogers, J.F. Abril, P. Agarwal, R. Agarwala, R. Ainscough, M. Alexandersson, P. An, S.E. Antonarakis, J. Attwood, R. Baertsch, J. Bailey, K. Barlow, S. Beck, E. Berry, B. Birren, T. Bloom, P. Bork, M. Botcherby, N. Bray, M.R. Brent, D.G. Brown, S.D. Brown, C. Bult, J. Burton, J. Butler, R.D. Campbell, P. Carninci, S. Cawley, F. Chiaromonte, A.T. Chinwalla, D.M. Church, M. Clamp, C. Clee, F.S. Collins, L.L. Cook, R.R. Copley, A. Coulson, O. Couronne, J. Cuff, V. Curwen, T. Cutts, M. Daly, R. David, J. Davies, K.D. Delehaunty, J. Deri, E.T. Dermitzakis, C. Dewey, N.J. Dickens, M. Diekhans, S. Dodge, I. Dubchak, D.M. Dunn, S.R. Eddy, L. Elnitski, R.D. Emes, P. Eswara, E. Eyras, A. Felsenfeld, G.A. Fewell, P. Flicek, K. Foley, W.N. Frankel, L.A. Fulton, R.S. Fulton, T.S. Furey, D. Gage, R.A. Gibbs, G. Glusman, S. Gnerre, N. Goldman, L. Goodstadt, D. Grafham, T.A. Graves, E.D. Green, S. Gregory, R. Guigó, M. Guyer, R.C. Hardison, D. Haussler, Y. Hayashizaki, L.W. Hillier, A. Hinrichs, W. Hlavina, T. Holzer, F. Hsu, A. Hua, T. Hubbard, A. Hunt, I. Jackson, D.B. Jaffe, L.S. Johnson, M. Jones, T.A. Jones, A. Joy, M. Kamal, E.K. Karlsson, et al. 2002. Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. *Nature*. 420:520-562.
- Waung, M.W., and K.M. Huber. 2009. Protein translation in synaptic plasticity: mGluR-LTD, Fragile X. *Current opinion in neurobiology*. 19:319-326.
- Waung, M.W., B.E. Pfeiffer, E.D. Nosyreva, J.A. Ronesi, and K.M. Huber. 2008. Rapid translation of Arc/Arg3. 1 selectively mediates mGluR-dependent LTD through persistent increases in AMPAR endocytosis rate. *Neuron*. 59:84-97.
- Weisz, E.D., A. Towheed, R.E. Monyak, M.S. Toth, D.C. Wallace, and T.A. Jongens. 2018. Loss of Drosophila FMRP leads to alterations in energy metabolism and mitochondrial function. *Hum Mol Genet*. 27:95-106.
- Westmark, C.J., and J.S. Malter. 2007. FMRP mediates mGluR5-dependent translation of amyloid precursor protein. *PLoS biology*. 5:e52.
- Whitlock, J.R., A.J. Heynen, M.G. Shuler, and M.F. Bear. 2006. Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *science*. 313:1093-1097.
- Wieraszko, A. 1982. Changes in the hippocampal slices energy metabolism following stimulation and longterm potentiation of Schaffer collaterals-pyramidal cell synapses tested with the 2-deoxyglucose technique. *Brain research*. 237:449-457.
- Willems, P.J., B.V. Roy, K. De Boulle, L. Vits, E. Reyniers, O. Beck, J.E. Dumon, A. Verkerk, and B. Oostra. 1992. Segregation of the fragile X mutation from an affected male to his normal daughter. *Human molecular genetics*. 1:511-515.
- Williams, J.M., V.L. Thompson, S.E. Mason-Parker, W.C. Abraham, and W.P. Tate. 1998. Synaptic activitydependent modulation of mitochondrial gene expression in the rat hippocampus. *Molecular brain research*. 60:50-56.
- Winstanley, C.A., D.M. Eagle, and T.W. Robbins. 2006. Behavioral models of impulsivity in relation to ADHD: translation between clinical and preclinical studies. *Clinical psychology review*. 26:379-395.
- Wirth, A., K. Holst, and E. Ponimaskin. 2017. How serotonin receptors regulate morphogenic signalling in neurons. *Progress in neurobiology*. 151:35-56.
- Wisniewski, K., S. Segan, C. Miezejeski, E. Sersen, and R. Rudelli. 1991. The Fra (X) syndrome: neurological, electrophysiological, and neuropathological abnormalities. *American journal of medical genetics*. 38:476-480.
- Witkin, J.M., M. Baez, J. Yu, M.E. Barton, and H.E. Shannon. 2007. Constitutive deletion of the serotonin-7 (5-HT7) receptor decreases electrical and chemical seizure thresholds. *Epilepsy research*. 75:39-45.

- Won, S., J.M. Levy, R.A. Nicoll, and K.W. Roche. 2017. MAGUKs: multifaceted synaptic organizers. *Current opinion in neurobiology*. 43:94-101.
- Wyass, J.M., and T. Van Groen. 1992. Connections between the retrosplenial cortex and the hippocampal formation in the rat: a review. *Hippocampus*. 2:1-11.
- Xiao, M.-Y., Q. Zhou, and R.A. Nicoll. 2001. Metabotropic glutamate receptor activation causes a rapid redistribution of AMPA receptors. *Neuropharmacology*. 41:664-671.
- Xie, N., H. Gong, J.A. Suhl, P. Chopra, T. Wang, and S.T. Warren. 2016. Reactivation of FMR1 by CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated Deletion of the Expanded CGG-Repeat of the Fragile X Chromosome. *PloS one*. 11:e0165499.
- Xie, Z., K. Sanada, B.A. Samuels, H. Shih, and L.-H. Tsai. 2003. Serine 732 phosphorylation of FAK by Cdk5 is important for microtubule organization, nuclear movement, and neuronal migration. *Cell*. 114:469-482.
- Ximerakis, M., S.L. Lipnick, B.T. Innes, S.K. Simmons, X. Adiconis, D. Dionne, B.A. Mayweather, L. Nguyen, Z. Niziolek, and C. Ozek. 2019. Single-cell transcriptomic profiling of the aging mouse brain. *Nature neuroscience*. 22:1696-1708.
- Xu, J., Y. Zhu, A. Contractor, and S.F. Heinemann. 2009. mGluR5 has a critical role in inhibitory learning. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 29:3676-3684.
- Yamada, M., T. Saito, Y. Sato, Y. Kawai, A. Sekigawa, Y. Hamazumi, A. Asada, M. Wada, H. Doi, and S.i. Hisanaga. 2007. Cdk5–p39 is a labile complex with the similar substrate specificity to Cdk5–p35. *Journal of neurochemistry*. 102:1477-1487.
- Yan, Q.J., P.K. Asafo-Adjei, H.M. Arnold, R.E. Brown, and R.P. Bauchwitz. 2004. A phenotypic and molecular characterization of the fmr1-tm1Cgr fragile X mouse. *Genes, brain, and behavior*. 3:337-359.
- Yang, K., G. Lei, Y.F. Xie, J.F. MacDonald, and M.F. Jackson. 2014. Differential regulation of NMDAR and NMDAR-mediated metaplasticity by anandamide and 2-AG in the hippocampus. *Hippocampus*. 24:1601-1614.
- Yang, M., J.L. Silverman, and J.N. Crawley. 2011. Automated three-chambered social approach task for mice. *Current protocols in neuroscience*. 56:8.26. 21-28.26. 16.
- Yang, S.H., C.Y. Huang, C.Y. Hsieh, and J.I. Chuang. 2020. CDK4 and CDK5 Inhibition Have Comparable Mild Hypothermia Effects in Preventing Drp1-Dependent Mitochondrial Fission and Neuron Death Induced by MPP(). *Mol Neurobiol*. 57:4090-4105.
- Yao, A., S. Jin, X. Li, Z. Liu, X. Ma, J. Tang, and Y.Q. Zhang. 2011. Drosophila FMRP regulates microtubule network formation and axonal transport of mitochondria. *Human molecular genetics*. 20:51-63.
- Ye, T., J.P. Ip, A.K. Fu, and N.Y. Ip. 2014. Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation of RapGEF2 controls neuronal migration in the developing cerebral cortex. *Nature communications*. 5:1-14.
- Yin, F., H. Sancheti, I. Patil, and E. Cadenas. 2016. Energy metabolism and inflammation in brain aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 100:108-122.
- Youssef, E.A., E. Berry-Kravis, C. Czech, R.J. Hagerman, D. Hessl, C.Y. Wong, M. Rabbia, D. Deptula, A. John, R. Kinch, P. Drewitt, L. Lindemann, M. Marcinowski, R. Langland, C. Horn, P. Fontoura, L. Santarelli, J.A. Quiroz, and G. FragXis Study. 2018. Effect of the mGluR5-NAM Basimglurant on Behavior in Adolescents and Adults with Fragile X Syndrome in a Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial: FragXis Phase 2 Results. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 43:503-512.
- Yuskaitis, C.J., M.A. Mines, M.K. King, J.D. Sweatt, C.A. Miller, and R.S. Jope. 2010. Lithium ameliorates altered glycogen synthase kinase-3 and behavior in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Biochemical pharmacology*. 79:632-646.
- Zeesman, S., L. Zwaigenbaum, D.T. Whelan, R.J. Hagerman, F. Tassone, and S.A. Taylor. 2004. Paternal transmission of fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*. 129:184-189.
- Zhang, J., G. Wang, W.W. He, M. Losh, E. Berry-Kravis, and W.E. Funk. 2019. Expression and Characterization of Human Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein Isoforms and Interacting Proteins in Human Cells. *Proteomics insights*. 10:1178641818825268.
- Zhang, M., X. Li, T.L. Du Xiao, B. Qin, Z. Zheng, Y. Zhang, Y. Liu, T. Yan, and X. Han. 2020. Identification of differentially expressed microRNAs and their target genes in the hippocampal tissues of Fmr1 knockout mice. *American journal of translational research*. 12:813.

- Zhang, Y., J.P. O'Connor, M.C. Siomi, S. Srinivasan, A. Dutra, R.L. Nussbaum, and G. Dreyfuss. 1995. The fragile X mental retardation syndrome protein interacts with novel homologs FXR1 and FXR2. *Embo j*. 14:5358-5366.
- Zhao, R.Z., S. Jiang, L. Zhang, and Z.B. Yu. 2019. Mitochondrial electron transport chain, ROS generation and uncoupling. *International journal of molecular medicine*. 44:3-15.
- Zhou, Q., K.J. Homma, and M.-m. Poo. 2004. Shrinkage of dendritic spines associated with long-term depression of hippocampal synapses. *Neuron*. 44:749-757.
- Zhou, Z., J. Hu, M. Passafaro, W. Xie, and Z. Jia. 2011. GluA2 (GluR2) regulates metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression through N-cadherin-dependent and cofilin-mediated actin reorganization. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 31:819-833.
- Zipkin, I.D., R.M. Kindt, and C.J. Kenyon. 1997. Role of a new Rho family member in cell migration and axon guidance in C. elegans. *Cell*. 90:883-894.
- Zorova, L.D., V.A. Popkov, E.Y. Plotnikov, D.N. Silachev, I.B. Pevzner, S.S. Jankauskas, V.A. Babenko, S.D. Zorov, A.V. Balakireva, M. Juhaszova, S.J. Sollott, and D.B. Zorov. 2018. Mitochondrial membrane potential. *Analytical biochemistry*. 552:50-59.
- Zucker, R.S., and W.G. Regehr. 2002. Short-term synaptic plasticity. Annual review of physiology. 64:355-405.

PUBLICATIONS

DOI: 10.1111/ejn.15246

SHORT COMMUNICATION

Serotonin 5-HT7 receptors require cyclin-dependent kinase 5 to rescue hippocampal synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of Fragile X Syndrome

Lara Costa¹ | Alessandra Tempio² | Enza Lacivita³ | Marcello Leopoldo³ | Lucia Ciranna²

¹Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

²Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy

³Department of Pharmacy, University of Bari, Bari, Italy

Correspondence

Lucia Ciranna, Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy Email: ciranna@unict.it

Funding information

Università di Catania; Fondazione Telethon, Grant/Award Number: GGP13145

Abstract

Fragile X Syndrome is a genetic form of intellectual disability associated with autism, epilepsy and mood disorders. Electrophysiology studies in Fmr1 knockout (KO) mice, a murine model of Fragile X Syndrome, have demonstrated alterations of synaptic plasticity, with exaggerated long-term depression induced by activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR-LTD) in Fmr1 KO hippocampus. We have previously demonstrated that activation of serotonin 5-HT7 receptors reverses mGluR-LTD in the hippocampus of wild-type and Fmr1 KO mice, thus correcting a synaptic dysfunction typically observed in this disease model. Here we show that pharmacological inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5, a signaling molecule recently shown to be a modulator of brain synaptic plasticity) enhanced mGluR-LTD in wild-type hippocampal neurons, which became comparable to exaggerated mGluR-LTD observed in Fmr1 KO neurons. Furthermore, Cdk5 inhibition prevented 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD both in wild-type and in Fmr1 KO neurons. Our results show that Cdk5 modulates hippocampal synaptic plasticity. 5-HT7 receptors require Cdk5 to modulate synaptic plasticity in wild-type and rescue abnormal plasticity in Fmr1 KO neurons, pointing out Cdk5 as a possible novel target in Fragile X Syndrome.

KEYWORDS

5-HT7 receptors, Cdk5, Fragile X Syndrome, hippocampus, mGluR-LTD, Serotonin

Abbreviations: 5-HT, 5-hydroxy-tryptamine; AMPA, α -Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid; Cdk5, Cyclin-dependent kinase 5; D-AP5, D-(-)-2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid; DHPG, dihydroxyphenylglycine; EPSC, excitatory post synaptic current; mGluR-LTD, long-term depression mediated by metabotropic glutamate receptors.

L. Costa1 and A. Tempio contributed equally.

Edited by: Clive R. Bramham

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2021 The Authors. *European Journal of Neuroscience* published by Federation of European Neuroscience Societies and John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

4124 wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/ejn

Eur J Neurosci. 2021;54:4124-4132.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Synaptic plasticity represents the cellular basis for activitydependent establishment and refinement of nerve circuits underlying learning and memory. Among different forms of synaptic plasticity described in the hippocampus, long-term depression induced by activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR-LTD) plays an important role in learning and behaviour (Luscher & Huber, 2010). Alterations of mGluR-LTD have been observed in several animal models of neurological diseases involving learning and behavioral deficits, including Fragile X Syndrome (Luscher & Huber, 2010; Sanderson et al., 2016). Fragile X Syndrome is a genetic form of intellectual disability associated with autistic features, epilepsy and mood disorders (Salcedo-Arellano et al., 2020). In Fmr1 knockout (KO) mice, a murine model of this disease, metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) are abnormally coupled to their intracellular signaling machinery, leading to excessive activation of downstream pathways and exaggerated mGluR-LTD (Bear et al., 2004; Huber et al., 2002).

Our research group demonstrated that activation of serotonin 5-HT7 receptors is able to reduce excessive mGluR-LTD in *Fmr1* KO hippocampal neurons (Costa et al., 2012) and rescue learning and behavior in *Fmr1* KO mice in vivo (Costa et al., 2018). We have elucidated the first steps of this 5-HT7 receptor-mediated mechanism of action, which relies on cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) formation and PKA activation (Costa et al., 2018).

In the present work, we have investigated possible involvement of Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5), a kinase implicated in 5-HT7 receptor-mediated stimulation of axonal and dendritic growth in cortical, hippocampal and striatal neurons (Speranza et al., 2013, 2015, 2017). Cdk5 belongs to a large family of cyclin-dependent kinases, but differs from the other members in several ways: Cdk5 is not involved in the cell cycle, being mostly expressed in post-mitotic neurons, and plays a crucial role in the brain controlling neuronal differentiation and migration during development, cytoskeletal and microtubule regulation and synaptic plasticity (Kawauchi, 2014; Shah & Rossie, 2018). Two specific Cdk5 activators, the intracellular membrane-bound peptides p35 and p39, have been identified and localized exclusively in neurons (Ko et al., 2001). In pathological conditions, p35 is cleaved by calpain (a Ca²⁺-activated protease) into a shorter activator peptide, p25, with a broad cytoplasmic and nuclear localization and a longer half-life, inducing hyperphosphorylation of Cdk5 physiological substrates and abnormal phosphorylation of cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins (Allnutt et al., 2020; Cheung & Ip, 2012; Shah & Rossie, 2018). Aberrant p25/Cdk5 signalling accounts for neuronal damage in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease (Giese, 2014; Liu et al., 2016), Parkinson's disease (He et al., 2020) and traumatic brain injury (Yousuf et al., 2016). Cdk5 downregulation

has been associated with epilepsy (Liu et al., 2020), attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (Drerup et al., 2010) and schizophrenia (Engmann et al., 2011). In the striatum of postmortem Huntington's disease patients and in a mouse model of this pathology, reduced expression of Cdk5 and p35 was observed (Luo et al., 2005; Paoletti et al., 2008) together with abnormal Cdk5 activation by p25 (Paoletti et al., 2008), indicating a complex dysregulation of Cdk5 signaling in Huntington's disease.

FENS

-WILEY

4125

In the present work, we have tested a possible involvement of Cdk5 in 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD in the hippocampus of wild-type mice and of the *Fmr1* KO mouse model of Fragile X Syndrome.

2 | METHODS

EIN European Journal of Neuroscience

2.1 | Electrophysiology recordings

Experiments were performed using patch clamp recording in acute mouse hippocampal slices from wild-type and *Fmr1* KO mice on a C57BL/6J background, obtained from a breeding colony at the University of Catania (Italy). Mice were maintained with a controlled temperature $(21^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C)$ and humidity (50%) on a 12 hr light/dark cycle, with ad libitum food and water. All animal experimentation was conducted in accordance with the European Community Council guidelines (2010/63/EU) and was approved by the University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (Project # 250 – approval number: 352/2016-PR).

Acute hippocampal slices were prepared as described previously (Costa et al., 2012) from wild-type and Fmr1 KO mice (postnatal PN age 14-23 days). Briefly, the brains were removed, placed in oxygenated ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF; in mM NaCl 124; KCl 3.0; NaH₂PO₄ 1.2; MgSO₄ 1.2; CaCl₂ 2.0; NaHCO₃ 26; D-glucose 10, pH 7.3) and cut into 300 µm slices with a vibratome (Leica VT 1200S). Slices were continually perfused with oxygenated ACSF and viewed with infrared microscopy (Leica DMLFS). Schaffer collaterals were stimulated with negative current pulses (duration 0.3 ms, delivered every 15 s by A310 Accupulser, WPI, USA). Evoked excitatory post synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded under whole-cell from CA1 pyramidal neurons (holding potential -70 mV; EPC7-plus amplifier HEKA, Germany). Stimulation intensity was set to induce half-maximal EPSC amplitude. Series resistance (Rs) was continuously monitored by 10 mV hyperpolarizing pulses; recordings were discarded from analysis if Rs changed by more than 20%. EPSC traces were filtered at 3 kHz and digitized at 10 kHz. Data were acquired and analysed using Signal software (CED, England). The recording micropipette (resistance 1.5–3 M Ω) was filled with intracellular solution (in mM: K-gluconate 140; HEPES 10; NaCl 10; MgCl₂ 2;



FIGURE 1 Inhibition of Cdk5 enhanced mGluR-LTD in CA1 neurons from wild-type mice and prevented 5-HT7 receptor-mediated effect on mGluR-LTD. AMPA receptor-mediated excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded in the presence of D-AP5 (50 μ M) and bicuculline (5 μ M) under whole-cell patch clamp in the CA3-CA1 synapse in hippocampal slices from wild-type mice. (a) Bath application of the group I mGluR agonist DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced a long-term depression (mGluR-LTD) of EPSC amplitude (white dots, n = 11). When the Cdk5 inhibitor roscovitine (1.6 μ M) was added to intracellular medium, DHPG-induced mGluR-LTD was enhanced (light grey dots, n = 7) with respect to control. (b) When DHPG application was followed by application of the 5-HT7 receptor agonist LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min), mGluR-LTD was completely reversed (dark grey dots, n = 6). In the presence of intracellular roscovitine (1.6 μ M), application of LP-211 did not modify the amount of mGluR-LTD (black dots, n = 6). (c) The bar graph shows that the amount of mGluR-LTD measured 40 min after DHPG application (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude; EPSC values of single neurons are displayed for each bar) in the four different experimental conditions (control; roscovitine; LP-211; LP-211 + roscovitine) was significantly different (p = 0.0006 by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test). *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001

EGTA 0.2; Mg-ATP 3.5; Na-GTP 1; pH 7.3). In a set of experiments, the intracellular solution contained roscovitine, a selective Cdk5 inhibitor, at a concentration (1.6 μ M) 10-fold higher than the reported IC₅₀ value (0.16 μ M) of roscovitine on Cdk5/p35 (Meijer et al., 1997). Bath solution (ACSF) was continuously changed at a flow rate of 1.5 ml/min and routinely contained (-)-bicuculline methiodide (5 μ M, Hello Bio) and D-(-)-2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (D-AP5, 50 μ M, Hello Bio) to isolate AMPA receptor-mediated EPSCs. S-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine (DHPG, 100 μ M;

Hello Bio), and LP-211 (10 nM) were dissolved in ACSF and applied by bath perfusion. LP-211 was synthesized and provided by the research group of Prof. Leopoldo (University of Bari, Italy).

2.2 | Data analysis

To compare the amount of DHPG-induced LTD in different groups of neurons, EPSC amplitude values were normalized

as follows: peak amplitude values of EPSCs were averaged over 1 min and expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude (calculated from EPSCs recorded during at least 15 min before DHPG application). Normalized % EPSC values from each group of neurons were pooled (mean \pm *SEM*) and graphically represented as a function of time. The amount of mGluR-LTD was calculated 40 min after LTD induction by DHPG and was normalized as percentage of baseline (% EPSC amplitude; mean \pm *SEM* from all tested neurons). Column graphs indicate normalized % EPSC amplitude (mean \pm *SEM* from groups of neurons) 40 min after application of DHPG alone or DHPG with the 5-HT7 receptor agonist LP-211 under different experimental conditions. Single values from each recorded neuron are illustrated for each column. EPSC amplitude values from two groups of neurons were compared using unpaired Student's *t* test, with n indicating the number of neurons tested in each condition. Groups of data from four different experimental conditions (Figure 1c and Figure 2c)



FIGURE 2 Inhibition of Cdk5 did not modify mGluR-LTD in CA1 neurons from *Fmr1* KO mice and prevented 5-HT7 receptor-mediated effect on mGluR-LTD. AMPA receptor-mediated excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs) were recorded from CA1 neurons in the presence of D-AP5 (50 μ M) and bicuculline (5 μ M) in hippocampal slices from *Fmr1* KO mice. (a) Bath application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced mGluR-LTD (white dots; *n* = 8). In the presence of intracellular roscovitine (1.6 μ M) the amount of mGluR-LTD was not modified (grey dots, *n* = 6) with respect to control conditions. (b) Application of LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min) completely reversed mGluR-LTD in control conditions (dark grey dots, *n* = 8) but had no effect on mGluR-LTD in the presence of intracellular roscovitine (black dots, *n* = 7). (c) The bar graph shows the amount of mGluR-LTD measured 40 min after DHPG application (mean EPSC amplitude in all tested neurons, expressed as % of baseline EPSC amplitude; EPSC values of single neurons are displayed for each bar). The amount of mGluR-LTD in the four experimental conditions (control; roscovitine; LP-211; LP-211 + roscovitine) was significantly different (**p* = 0.0331 by one-way ordinary ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test)

were compared by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test (GraphPad Prism 6, USA)

FENS

3 | RESULTS

Excitatory post synaptic currents (EPSCs) mediated by α -Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors for glutamate were evoked every 15 s by stimulation of Schaffer collaterals and were recorded from single CA1 pyramidal neurons under whole-cell patch clamp. In wild-type hippocampal slices, application of DHPG (100 µM, 5 min), an agonist of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs), induced a long-term depression (mGluR-LTD) of AMPA receptor-mediated EPSCs (EPSC amplitude 40 min after DHPG: 79 \pm 10% with respect to baseline EPSC amplitude prior to DHPG application, n = 11; Figure 1a). In a series of experiments, the Cdk5 inhibitor roscovitine (1.6 µM) was included in the intracellular pipette solution, thus was present since the beginning of recording: in this condition the amount of DHPG-induced mGluR-LTD was significantly enhanced with respect to control conditions (EPSC amplitude: $51 \pm 9\%$, n = 7, versus $79 \pm 10\%$, n = 11, wild-type DHPG + roscovitine versus wild-type DHPG, p = 0.04, t = 1.821, df = 16; unpaired t test; Figure 1a and c).

We have previously demonstrated that activation of 5-HT7 receptors reverses mGluR-LTD in wild-type and in *Fmr1* KO hippocampal neurons (Costa et al., 2012, 2015, 2018). Confirming our previous data, application of the selective 5-HT7 receptor agonist LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min) 5 min after DHPG application significantly reversed mGluR-LTD (EPSC amplitude: $121 \pm 1\%$, n = 6, versus $79 \pm 10\%$, n = 11, wildtype DHPG + LP-211 versus wild-type DHPG, p = 0.011, t = 2.513, df = 15; unpaired t test; Figure 1b and c).

In the presence of intracellular roscovitine, (1.6 µM) application of LP-211(10 nM, 5 min) was unable to reverse mGluR-LTD in wild-type slices (EPSC amplitude: $51 \pm 9\%$, n = 7, versus $49 \pm 9\%$, n = 6; wild-type DHPG + roscovitine versus wild-type DHPG + roscovitine + LP-211, p = 0.42, t = 0.1895, df = 11, Figure 1b and c). LP-211 reversed mGluR-LTD in control conditions but not in the presence of roscovitine (EPSC amplitude: $121 \pm 1\%$, n = 6, versus $49 \pm 9\%$, n = 6, wild-type DHPG +LP-211 versus wildtype DHPG + LP-211 + roscovitine, p = 0.0003, t = 4.912, df = 10; unpaired t test; Figure 1b and c). Ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test was performed to compare the amount of mGluR-LTD in the four different conditions (control; roscovitine; LP-211; LP-211 + roscovitine, Figure 1c), confirming a highly significant difference (***p = 0.0006).

In *Fmr1* KO slices, application of DHPG (100 μ M, 5 min) induced mGluR-LTD in control conditions and in the presence of intracellular roscovitine (1.6 μ M) and the amount

of mGluR-LTD was similar in the two conditions (EPSC amplitude: $53 \pm 10\%$, n = 8 versus $50 \pm 3\%$, n = 6; *Fmr1* KO DHPG versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + roscovitine; p = 0.39, t = 0.2670, df = 12; Figure 2a and c). When comparing data obtained in the presence of intracellular roscovitine, the amount of mGluR-LTD in wild-type was not significantly different from *Fmr1* KO (EPSC amplitude $51 \pm 9\%$, n = 7 versus $50 \pm 3\%$, n = 6; wild-type DHPG + roscovitine versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + roscovitine versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + roscovitine versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + roscovitine; p = 0.78, t = 0.2817, df = 11; compare the grey dots columns in Figure 1c and Figure 2c).

In Fmr1 KO neurons, application of LP-211 (10 nM, 5 min) significantly reversed mGluR-LTD in control conditions (EPSC amplitude: $53 \pm 10\%$, n = 8, versus $93 \pm 14\%$, n = 8, *Fmr1* KO DHPG versus *Fmr1* KO DHPG + LP-211, p = 0.0219, t = 2.216, df = 14; unpaired t test; Figure 2b and c) but had no effect in the presence of roscovitine, (EPSC amplitude: $51 \pm 12\%$, n = 7, versus 50 ± 3 , n = 6; Fmr1 KO DHPG + roscovitine + LP-211 versus Fmr1 KO DHPG + roscovitine; p = 0.47, t = 0.07344, df = 11; Figure 2b and c). With intracellular roscovitine, the effect of LP-211 on mGluR-LTD was significantly reduced with respect to control (EPSC amplitude: 93 \pm 14%, n = 8, versus 51 \pm 12%, n = 7, Fmrl KO DHPG + LP-211 versus Fmrl KO DHPG + LP-211 + roscovitine, p = 0.0286, t = 2.087, df = 13; unpaired t test; Figure 2b and c). The amount of mGluR-LTD in the four different experimental conditions (control; roscovitine; LP-211; LP-211 + roscovitine, Figure 2c) was significantly different (*p = 0.031, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test). LP-211-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD was completely abolished by roscovitine in wild-type and in Fmr1 KO to a comparable extent (EPSC amplitude: $49 \pm 9\%$, n = 6, versus $51 \pm 12\%$, n = 7, wild-type DHPG + LP-211 + roscovitine versus Fmr1 KO DHPG + LP-211 + roscovitine, p = 0.896, t = 0.1336, df = 11; unpaired t test; compare Figures 1c and 2c).

These results together show that Cdk5 inhibition prevented 5-HT7 receptor-mediated reversal of mGluR-LTD both in wild-type and in *Fmr1* KO neurons.

4 | DISCUSSION

Our data show that Cdk5 inhibition in wild-type hippocampal CA1 neurons enhanced mGluR-LTD to a level comparable to *Fmr1* KO neurons. This result differs from control conditions, in which the amount of mGluR-LTD in wild-type neurons is significantly lower than that observed in *Fmr1* KO neurons (Choi et al., 2011; Costa et al., 2012; Gomis-Gonzalez et al., 2016; Huber et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2009). Enhancement of mGluR-LTD in wild-type neurons following Cdk5 inhibition suggests that, in physiological conditions, Cdk5 exerts a negative control on mGluR-LTD. Our results also suggest that either the expression or the function

EJN European Journal of Neuroscience FENS

of Cdk5 in *Fmr1* KO neurons might be reduced compared to wild-type and that reduced Cdk5 function might account for enhanced mGluR-LTD. In accordance with our hypothesis, a recent study shows a reduced expression of Cdk5 in the hippocampus of *Fmr1* KO mice (Zhang et al., 2020). In future studies, it might be interesting to measure the activation level of Cdk5 and of its physiological activators p35 and p39 in neurons from *Fmr1* KO mice and, possibly, in human neurons derived from Fragile X Syndrome patients using induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) differentiation strategies.

We further show that activation of 5-HT7 receptors was unable to reverse mGluR-LTD in both wild-type and *Fmr1* KO neurons following Cdk5 inhibition, showing that 5-HT7 receptors recruit Cdk5 to modulate mGluR-LTD.

Roscovitine has a similar affinity for Cdc2 (also known as Cdk1), Cdk2, Cdk5 and Cdk7, with reported IC50 values of 0.65, 0.7, 0.16 and 0.45 µM respectively (Meijer et al., 1997; Schang et al., 2002). However, published data suggest that in our experimental conditions roscovitine acted primarily on Cdk5. Indeed, Cdc2 and Cdk2 play a key role in the cell cycle and are expressed exclusively by dividing cells during embryonic development: their maximal expression in mouse forebrain was found between embryonic day 1 and 11 (E1-E11), was barely detectable by E16-17 and remained very low throughout adult life. Conversely, an opposite pattern of expression and activity was described for Cdk5, which is expressed in mouse forebrain and hippocampus exclusively in post-mitotic neurons, with a growing level of expression from embryonic to adult ages (Tsai et al., 1993). Another study showed a weak expression of Cdk1 and Cdk2 in mouse hippocampal pyramidal neurons, but at PN 11 (very close to the age of mice used in our study) they were detected at low levels only in the nucleus and not in the cytoplasm; cytoplasmic expression of Cdk1 and Cdk2 in hippocampal neurons was found only in adults (9 months PN) (Schmetsdorf et al., 2005). Very little information is presently available about Cdk7 expression in the brain. In mouse cortical neurons, Cdk7 levels were very low before PN 30 (He et al., 2017). In the present work, we have studied fully differentiated (non-dividing) mouse hippocampal pyramidal neurons at a post natal age (PN 14-23) when Cdk5 is highly expressed whereas Cdk1, Cdk2 and Cdk7 expression levels are very low. Therefore, we believe that in our experimental conditions roscovitine acted primarily through Cdk5 inhibition.

In our experiments, roscovitine was included in the intracellular pipette solution, thus Cdk5 inhibition was exclusively exerted in the CA1 neuron under recording, indicating a postsynaptic role of Cdk5 in 5-HT7 receptor-mediated effect.

In the last decade, interesting publications have indicated a connection between 5-HT7 receptors and Cdk5, showing that 5-HT7 receptors require Cdk5 to stimulate axonal elongation and dendrite formation in cultured neurons from rodent brain cortex, hippocampus and striatum (Speranza et al., 2013,

2015, 2017). The intracellular pathway linking 5-HT7 receptors to Cdk5 activation remains to be clarified. A plausible link might be the cAMP pathway, since increases in cAMP levels were shown to stimulate p35 expression and Cdk5 activity in rat cultured neurons (He et al., 2016). 5-HT7 receptors are coupled to Gs protein, stimulating adenylate cyclase and cAMP formation (Wirth et al., 2017), thus we might speculate that 5-HT7 receptor-induced cAMP increase might stimulate the p35/Cdk5 pathway in hippocampal neurons. This issue is particularly relevant to Fragile X Syndrome, since reduced levels of cAMP were measured in blood platelets of Fragile X patients (Berry-Kravis & Huttenlocher, 1992; Berry-Kravis & Sklena, 1993) and the cAMP signaling cascade is altered at different levels in neurons from Fmr1 KO mice, originating a "cAMP hypothesis" of the disease (Kelley et al., 2008). In the brain of Fmr1 KO mice, overexpression and increased activity of phosphodiesterase 2A (PDE2A), a cAMP degrading enzyme, leads to reduced cAMP formation and dysregulation of cAMP downstream signaling (Maurin et al., 2018, 2019). As above mentioned, cAMP can stimulate p35/Cdk5 expression and function in rodent neurons (He et al., 2016); thus reduced cAMP levels in mouse Fmr1 KO hippocampal neurons might be related to the reduced Cdk5 expression recently described (Zhang et al., 2020).

Besides a possible involvement of cAMP, 5-HT7 receptors might activate Cdk5 through additional mechanisms. A justpublished paper shows that 5-HT7 receptors are physically linked to Cdk5 and stimulate Cdk5 activity in a G proteinindependent mode. Of note, using several in vitro and in vivo approaches, the same work shows that abnormally high constitutive activity of 5-HT7 receptors caused Tau hyperphosphorylation, formation of Tau aggregates, neuronal damage, impaired synaptic plasticity and learning deficits that were rescued by knocking down 5-HT7 receptor expression, suggesting that inhibition of 5-HT7 receptor-mediated Cdk5 activity might be used as a therapy for tauopathies (Labus et al., 2021).

Many therapeutic strategies for a potential treatment of Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease aim to reduce excessive Cdk5 activity, focusing on Cdk5 inhibitors (Cheung & Ip, 2012; Gong & Iqbal, 2008). Our present results, together with the work of Zhang et al. (Zhang et al., 2020), indicate that in *Fmr1* KO neurons Cdk5 activity is instead abnormally low, suggesting that activation of Cdk5 might be beneficial in Fragile X Syndrome.

Pharmacological activators of Cdk5 are not available at present. The intracellular membrane-bound kinases p35 and p39 are physiological Cdk5 activators; only few upstream extracellular messengers are currently known to activate p35 and Cdk5, namely BDNF (Cheung et al., 2007), dopamine through D1 receptors (Lebel et al., 2009), and serotonin through 5-HT7 receptors (Speranza et al., 2013, 2015, 2017). We suggest that selective 5-HT7 receptor agonists can

4130 WILEY- EIN European Journal of Neuroscience FENS

be used to stimulate Cdk5 activity and might become useful pharmacological tools for Fragile X Syndrome. In addition, we suggest that the effects of 5-HT7 receptor agonists might be studied in other conditions associated with reduced Cdk5 expression and function.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Michael Tranfaglia (Medical Director and Chief Scientific Officer of FRAXA Research Foundation, U.S.A.) for critical reading of the manuscript. The present work was financed by Telethon Foundation (grant GGP13145) and by the University of Catania (grant Chance 2017). We wish to thank Dr. Marco Abbate for veterinary assistance, Mr Giuseppe Valastro and Mr Nicola Pulvirenti for animal care and technical assistance. Images from Motifolio drawing toolkit (www.motifolio.com) were utilized in the graphical abstract preparation.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Lucia Ciranna designed the study, analysed data and drafted the paper; Lara Costa and Alessandra Tempio performed experiments and analysed data; Enza Lacivita and Marcello Leopoldo designed 5-HT7R agonist and analysed data.

PEER REVIEW

The peer review history for this article is available at https:// publons.com/publon/10.1111/ejn.15246.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The data that support the findings of this study are openly available in the public repository Figshare at https://doi. org/10.6084/m9.figshare.14431205.v1

ORCID

Alessandra Tempio D https://orcid. org/0000-0002-1883-0227 Lucia Ciranna D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0274-6095

REFERENCES

- Allnutt, A. B., Waters, A. K., Kesari, S., & Yenugonda, V. M. (2020). Physiological and pathological roles of Cdk5: Potential directions for therapeutic targeting in neurodegenerative disease. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 11, 1218–1230. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acschemneuro.0c00096
- Bear, M. F., Huber, K. M., & Warren, S. T. (2004). The mGluR theory of fragile X mental retardation. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 27, 370– 377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2004.04.009
- Berry-Kravis, E., & Huttenlocher, P. R. (1992). Cyclic AMP metabolism in fragile X syndrome. Annals of Neurology, 31, 22–26. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ana.410310105

- Berry-Kravis, E. & Sklena, P. (1993). Demonstration of abnormal cyclic AMP production in platelets from patients with fragile X syndrome. American Journal of Medical Genetics, 45, 81–87. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320450120
- Cheung, Z. H., Chin, W. H., Chen, Y., Ng, Y. P., & Ip, N. Y. (2007). Cdk5 is involved in BDNF-stimulated dendritic growth in hippocampal neurons. *PLoS Biology*, 5, e63. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pbio.0050063
- Cheung, Z. H. & Ip, N. Y. (2012). Cdk5: A multifaceted kinase in neurodegenerative diseases. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 22, 169–175. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2011.11.003
- Choi, C. H., Schoenfeld, B. P., Bell, A. J., Hinchey, P., Kollaros, M., Gertner, M. J., Woo, N. H., Tranfaglia, M. R., Bear, M. F., Zukin, R. S., McDonald, T. V., Jongens, T. A., & McBride, S. M. (2011). Pharmacological reversal of synaptic plasticity deficits in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome by group II mGluR antagonist or lithium treatment. *Brain Research*, *1380*, 106–119. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.11.032
- Costa, L., Sardone, L. M., Bonaccorso, C. M., D'Antoni, S., Spatuzza, M., Gulisano, W., Tropea, M. R., Puzzo, D., Leopoldo, M., Lacivita, E., Catania, M. V., & Ciranna, L. (2018). Activation of serotonin 5-HT7 receptors modulates hippocampal synaptic plasticity by stimulation of adenylate cyclases and rescues learning and behavior in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11, 353. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnmol.2018.00353
- Costa, L., Sardone, L. M., Lacivita, E., Leopoldo, M., & Ciranna, L. (2015). Novel agonists for serotonin 5-HT7 receptors reverse metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated long-term depression in the hippocampus of wild-type and Fmr1 KO mice, a model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9, 65. https://doi. org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00065
- Costa, L., Spatuzza, M., D'Antoni, S., Bonaccorso, C. M., Trovato, C., Musumeci, S. A., Leopoldo, M., Lacivita, E., Catania, M. V., & Ciranna, L. (2012). Activation of 5-HT7 serotonin receptors reverses metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated synaptic plasticity in wild-type and Fmr1 knockout mice, a model of Fragile X syndrome. *Biological Psychiatry*, 72, 924–933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biops ych.2012.06.008
- Drerup, J. M., Hayashi, K., Cui, H., Mettlach, G. L., Long, M. A., Marvin, M., Sun, X., Goldberg, M. S., Lutter, M., & Bibb, J. A. (2010). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity phenotype in mice lacking the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 cofactor p35. *Biological Psychiatry*, 68, 1163–1171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.07.016
- Engmann, O., Hortobagyi, T., Pidsley, R., Troakes, C., Bernstein, H. G., Kreutz, M. R., Mill, J., Nikolic, M., & Giese, K. P. (2011). Schizophrenia is associated with dysregulation of a Cdk5 activator that regulates synaptic protein expression and cognition. *Brain*, 134, 2408–2421. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awr155
- Giese, K. P. (2014). Generation of the Cdk5 activator p25 is a memory mechanism that is affected in early Alzheimer's disease. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 7, 36.
- Gomis-González, M., Busquets-Garcia, A., Matute, C., Maldonado, R., Mato, S., & Ozaita, A. (2016). Possible therapeutic doses of cannabinoid type 1 receptor antagonist reverses key alterations in fragile X syndrome mouse model. *Genes*, 7, 56. https://doi.org/10.3390/ genes7090056
- Gong, C. X. & Iqbal, K. (2008). Hyperphosphorylation of microtubuleassociated protein tau: A promising therapeutic target for Alzheimer disease. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 15, 2321–2328.

COSTA ET AL

- He, F., Qi, G., Zhang, Q., Cai, H., Li, T., Li, M., Zhang, Q., Chen, J., Ming, J., Tian, B., & Zhang, P. (2020). Quantitative phosphoproteomic analysis in alpha-synuclein transgenic mice reveals the involvement of aberrant p25/Cdk5 signaling in early-stage Parkinson's disease. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 40, 897–909. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10571-019-00780-7
- He, G., Yang, X., Wang, G., Qi, J., Mao, R., Wu, Z., & Zhou, Z. (2017). Cdk7 is required for activity-dependent neuronal gene expression, long-lasting synaptic plasticity and long-term memory. *Frontiers* in Molecular Neuroscience, 10, 365. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnmol.2017.00365
- He, H., Deng, K., Siddiq, M. M., Pyie, A., Mellado, W., Hannila, S. S., & Filbin, M. T. (2016). Cyclic AMP and polyamines overcome inhibition by myelin-associated glycoprotein through eIF5A-mediated increases in p35 expression and activation of Cdk5. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36, 3079–3091. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUR OSCI.4012-15.2016
- Huber, K. M., Gallagher, S. M., Warren, S. T., & Bear, M. F. (2002). Altered synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of fragile X mental retardation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 99, 7746–7750. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.122205699
- Kawauchi, T. (2014). Cdk5 regulates multiple cellular events in neural development, function and disease. *Development, Growth & Differentiation*, 56, 335–348. https://doi.org/10.1111/dgd.12138
- Kelley, D. J., Bhattacharyya, A., Lahvis, G. P., Yin, J. C., Malter, J., & Davidson, R. J. (2008). The cyclic AMP phenotype of fragile X and autism. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32, 1533–1543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.06.005
- Ko, J., Humbert, S., Bronson, R. T., Takahashi, S., Kulkarni, A. B., Li, E., & Tsai, L. H. (2001). p35 and p39 are essential for cyclindependent kinase 5 function during neurodevelopment. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 21, 6758–6771. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUR OSCI.21-17-06758.2001
- Labus, J., Rohrs, K. F., Ackmann, J., Varbanov, H., Muller, F. E., Jia, S., Jahreis, K., Vollbrecht, A. L., Butzlaff, M., Schill, Y., Guseva, D., Bohm, K., Kaushik, R., Bijata, M., Marin, P., Chaumont-Dubel, S., Zeug, A., Dityatev, A., & Ponimaskin, E. (2021). Amelioration of Tau pathology and memory deficits by targeting 5-HT7 receptor. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 197, 101900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pneurobio.2020.101900
- Lebel, M., Patenaude, C., Allyson, J., Massicotte, G., & Cyr, M. (2009). Dopamine D1 receptor activation induces tau phosphorylation via cdk5 and GSK3 signaling pathways. *Neuropharmacology*, 57, 392– 402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2009.06.041
- Liu, S. L., Wang, C., Jiang, T., Tan, L., Xing, A., & Yu, J. T. (2016). The role of Cdk5 in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 53, 4328–4342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-015-9369-x
- Liu, X. X., Yang, L., Shao, L. X., He, Y., Wu, G., Bao, Y. H., Lu, N. N., Gong, D. M., Lu, Y. P., Cui, T. T., Sun, N. H., Chen, D. Y., Shi, W. X., Fukunaga, K., Chen, H. S., Chen, Z., Han, F., & Lu, Y. M. (2020). Endothelial Cdk5 deficit leads to the development of spontaneous epilepsy through CXCL1/CXCR2-mediated reactive astrogliosis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 217. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20180992
- Luo, S., Vacher, C., Davies, J. E., & Rubinsztein, D. C. (2005). Cdk5 phosphorylation of huntingtin reduces its cleavage by caspases: Implications for mutant huntingtin toxicity. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 169, 647–656. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200412071
- Luscher, C. & Huber, K. M. (2010). Group 1 mGluR-dependent synaptic long-term depression: Mechanisms and implications for circuitry

EIN European Journal of Neuroscience FENS

4131

-WILEY

and disease. Neuron, 65, 445-459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2010.01.016

- Maurin, T., Lebrigand, K., Castagnola, S., Paquet, A., Jarjat, M., Popa, A., Grossi, M., Rage, F., & Bardoni, B. (2018). HITS-CLIP in various brain areas reveals new targets and new modalities of RNA binding by fragile X mental retardation protein. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46, 6344–6355. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky267
- Maurin, T., Melancia, F., Jarjat, M., Castro, L., Costa, L., Delhaye, S., Khayachi, A., Castagnola, S., Mota, E., Di Giorgio, A., Servadio, M., Drozd, M., Poupon, G., Schiavi, S., Sardone, L., Azoulay, S., Ciranna, L., Martin, S., Vincent, P., ... Bardoni, B. (2019). Involvement of phosphodiesterase 2A activity in the pathophysiology of fragile X syndrome. *Cerebral Cortex*, 29, 3241–3252. https:// doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhy192
- Meijer, L., Borgne, A., Mulner, O., Chong, J. P., Blow, J. J., Inagaki, N., Inagaki, M., Delcros, J. G., & Moulinoux, J. P. (1997). Biochemical and cellular effects of roscovitine, a potent and selective inhibitor of the cyclin-dependent kinases cdc2, cdk2 and cdk5. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 243, 527–536. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1432-1033.1997.t01-2-00527.x
- Paoletti, P., Vila, I., Rife, M., Lizcano, J. M., Alberch, J., & Gines, S. (2008). Dopaminergic and glutamatergic signaling crosstalk in Huntington's disease neurodegeneration: The role of p25/cyclindependent kinase 5. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 10090–10101. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3237-08.2008
- Salcedo-Arellano, M. J., Dufour, B., McLennan, Y., Martinez-Cerdeno, V., & Hagerman, R. (2020). Fragile X syndrome and associated disorders: Clinical aspects and pathology. *Neurobiology of Diseases*, *136*, 104740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2020.104740
- Sanderson, T. M., Hogg, E. L., Collingridge, G. L., & Correa, S. A. (2016). Hippocampal mGluR-LTD in health and disease: Focus on the p38 MAPK and ERK1/2 pathways. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 139, 200–214.
- Schang, L. M., Bantly, A., Knockaert, M., Shaheen, F., Meijer, L., Malim, M. H., Gray, N. S., & Schaffer, P. A. (2002). Pharmacological cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors inhibit replication of wild-type and drug-resistant strains of herpes simplex virus and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by targeting cellular, not viral, proteins. *Journal of Virology*, 76, 7874–7882. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVL76.15.7874-7882.2002
- Schmetsdorf, S., Gartner, U., & Arendt, T. (2005). Expression of cell cycle-related proteins in developing and adult mouse hippocampus. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 23, 101– 112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.07.019
- Shah, K. & Rossie, S. (2018). Tale of the good and the bad Cdk5: Remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton in the brain. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 55, 3426–3438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1203 5-017-0525-3
- Speranza, L., Chambery, A., Di Domenico, M., Crispino, M., Severino, V., Volpicelli, F., Leopoldo, M., Bellenchi, G. C., di Porzio, U., & Perrone-Capano, C. (2013). The serotonin receptor 7 promotes neurite outgrowth via ERK and Cdk5 signaling pathways. *Neuropharmacology*, 67, 155–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro pharm.2012.10.026
- Speranza, L., Giuliano, T., Volpicelli, F., De Stefano, M. E., Lombardi, L., Chambery, A., Lacivita, E., Leopoldo, M., Bellenchi, G. C., di Porzio, U., Crispino, M., & Perrone-Capano, C. (2015). Activation of 5-HT7 receptor stimulates neurite elongation through mTOR, Cdc42 and actin filaments dynamics. *Frontiers in Behavioural Neurosciences*, 9, 62. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00062

4132 WILEY EJN European Journal of Neuroscience FENS

- Speranza, L., Labus, J., Volpicelli, F., Guseva, D., Lacivita, E., Leopoldo, M., Bellenchi, G. C., di Porzio, U., Bijata, M., Perrone-Capano, C., & Ponimaskin, E. (2017). Serotonin 5-HT7 receptor increases the density of dendritic spines and facilitates synaptogenesis in forebrain neurons. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 141, 647–661. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13962
- Tsai, L. H., Takahashi, T., Caviness, V. S. Jr, & Harlow, E. (1993). Activity and expression pattern of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in the embryonic mouse nervous system. *Development*, 119, 1029–1040.
- Wirth, A., Holst, K., & Ponimaskin, E. (2017). How serotonin receptors regulate morphogenic signalling in neurons. *Progress* in *Neurobiology*, 151, 35–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneur obio.2016.03.007
- Yousuf, M. A., Tan, C., Torres-Altoro, M. I., Lu, F. M., Plautz, E., Zhang, S., Takahashi, M., Hernandez, A., Kernie, S. G., Plattner, F., & Bibb, J. A. (2016). Involvement of aberrant cyclin-dependent kinase 5/p25 activity in experimental traumatic brain injury. *Journal* of Neurochemistry, 138, 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13620

- Zhang, J., Hou, L., Klann, E., & Nelson, D. L. (2009). Altered hippocampal synaptic plasticity in the FMR1 gene family knockout mouse models. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 101, 2572–2580.
- Zhang, M., Li, X., Xiao, D., Lu, T., Qin, B., Zheng, Z., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., Yan, T., & Han, X. (2020). Identification of differentially expressed microRNAs and their target genes in the hippocampal tissues of Fmr1 knockout mice. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 12, 813–824.

How to cite this article: Costa L, Tempio A, Lacivita E, Leopoldo M, Ciranna L. Serotonin 5-HT7 receptors require cyclin-dependent kinase 5 to rescue hippocampal synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2021;54:4124–4132. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.15246





Communication

Mitochondrial Membranes of Human SH-SY5Y Neuroblastoma Cells Express Serotonin 5-HT₇ Receptor

Alessandra Tempio ^{1,2}, Mauro Niso ³, Luna Laera ⁴, Lucia Trisolini ⁴, Maria Favia ^{3,4}, Lucia Ciranna ¹, Domenico Marzulli ⁵, Giuseppe Petrosillo ⁵, Ciro Leonardo Pierri ⁴, Enza Lacivita ^{3,*} and Marcello Leopoldo ^{2,3,*}

- ¹ Dipartimento di Scienze Biomediche e Biotecnologiche, Università degli Studi di Catania, via S. Sofia 97, 95123 Catania, Italy; alessandra.tempio@phd.unict.it (A.T.); ciranna@unict.it (L.C.)
- ² Biofordrug srl, via Dante 99, 70019 Triggiano (Bari), Italy
- ³ Dipartimento di Farmacia-Scienze del Farmaco, Università degli Studi di Bari Aldo Moro, via Orabona 4, 70125 Bari, Italy; mauro.niso@uniba.it (M.N.); mariafavia@hotmail.com (M.F.)
- ⁴ Dipartimento di Bioscienze, Biotecnologie e Biofarmaceutica, Università degli Studi di Bari Aldo Moro, via Orabona 4, 70125 Bari, Italy; luna.laera@uniba.it (L.L.); lucia.trisolini@uniba.it (L.T.); ciro.pierri@uniba.it (C.L.P.)
- ⁵ Institute of Biomembranes, Bioenergetics and Molecular Biotechnologies (IBIOM), National Research Council (CNR), 70126 Bari, Italy; d.marzulli@ibiom.cnr.it (D.M.); g.petrosillo@ibiom.cnr.it (G.P.)
- * Correspondence: enza.lacivita@uniba.it (E.L.); marcello.leopoldo@uniba.it (M.L.); Tel.: +39-080-544-2750 (E.L.); +39-080-544-2798 (M.L.)

Received: 20 November 2020; Accepted: 13 December 2020; Published: 17 December 2020



Abstract: Mitochondria in neurons contribute to energy supply, the regulation of synaptic transmission, Ca²⁺ homeostasis, neuronal excitability, and stress adaptation. In recent years, several studies have highlighted that the neurotransmitter serotonin (5-HT) plays an important role in mitochondrial biogenesis in cortical neurons, and regulates mitochondrial activity and cellular function in cardiomyocytes. 5-HT exerts its diverse actions by binding to cell surface receptors that are classified into seven distinct families (5-HT1 to 5-HT7). Recently, it was shown that 5-HT3 and 5-HT4 receptors are located on the mitochondrial membrane and participate in the regulation of mitochondrial function. Furthermore, it was observed that activation of brain 5-HT7 receptors rescued mitochondrial dysfunction in female mice from two models of Rett syndrome, a rare neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by severe behavioral and physiological symptoms. Our Western blot analyses performed on cell-lysate and purified mitochondria isolated from neuronal cell line SH-SY5Y showed that 5-HT7 receptors are also expressed into mitochondria. Maximal binding capacity (Bmax) obtained by Scatchard analysis on purified mitochondrial membranes was 0.081 pmol/mg of 5-HT7 receptor protein. Lastly, we evaluated the effect of selective 5-HT7 receptor agonist LP-211 and antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 on mitochondrial respiratory chain (MRC) cytochrome c oxidase activity on mitochondria from SH-SY5Y cells. Our findings provide the first evidence that 5-HT7 receptor is also expressed in mitochondria.

Keywords: serotonin; mitochondria; G protein-coupled receptor; 5-HT7 receptor; cytochrome c oxidase

1. Introduction

G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are the largest family of membrane receptors in eukaryotes. About 800 GPCRs have been identified in humans, of which about half have sensory functions, while

www.mdpi.com/journal/ijms

the remaining half include nonsensory GPCRs that mediate signaling by ligands and are the targets for a majority of drugs in clinical usage [1].

The largest majority of studies focused on GPCRs present on the cell surface and their downstream signaling partners. However, a critical new role is emerging for GPCRs to signal from inside the cell. In fact, intracellular GPCRs were localized in the nuclear membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, lysosomes, and mitochondrial membranes [2].

Recent studies unveiled that various GPCRs are associated with mitochondria. Purinergic receptors were among the first GPCRs to be localized to mitochondria, where they contribute to the regulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake [3]. Angiotensin receptors AT1 and AT2 were found in the mitochondria of several cell types. The AT2 receptor was localized on the inner mitochondrial membrane, where its activation results in nitric oxide formation and respiration suppression in various cell types including neurons [4]. Serotonin 5-HT3 and 5-HT4 receptors are present on cardiac mitochondria, where they regulate mitochondrial activities and cellular functions [5]. Melatonin MT1 receptors are present on the outer mitochondrial membrane, where melatonin activates G α i and blocks adenylate cyclase activity, leading to the inhibition of stress-induced cytochrome c release and caspase activation [6]. Altogether, these studies pose the question as to whether many processes previously thought to be mediated by plasma membrane receptors are also mediated by mitochondrial GPCRs [2].

Serotonin 7 receptor (5-HT7R) is a GPCR broadly expressed in the central nervous system, including the hypothalamus, thalamus, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, striatum, amygdala, and spinal cord. 5-HT7R controls diverse neural functions such as thermoregulation, the sleep–wake cycle, circadian rhythm, nociception, learning, and memory processing. 5-HT7R dysfunction has been related to neuropsychiatric and neurodevelopmental diseases (depression, anxiety, schizophrenia, epilepsy, impulsivity, and autism spectrum disorder) [7].

5-HT7R is a key component of the molecular cascade involved in the organization and reshaping of neuronal cytoarchitecture during prenatal and postnatal development, as well as in the mature brain. The involvement of 5-HT7R in synaptic plasticity was further demonstrated by studies reporting that its activation rescues long-term potentiation or long-term depression deficits in various rodent models of neurodevelopmental diseases [8]. In fact, the activation of 5-HT7R corrects molecular, electrophysiological, and behavioral alterations in mice models of neurodevelopmental disorders, such as Fragile-X syndrome [9], Rett syndrome, and CDKL5 deficiency disorder [7]. In particular, Valenti and coworkers reported that selective 5-HT7R agonist LP-211 [10] had beneficial effects on the neurobehavioral phenotype of two mouse models of Rett syndrome. Interestingly, the effects were associated with the rescue of mitochondrial abnormalities in the brain [11]. The same group also reported that the reactivation of mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes in the brain of a mouse model of CDKL5 deficiency disorder by treatment with LP-211 rescued the defective brain energy status [12]. This finding was consistent with literature data, as mitochondrial dysfunction and altered mitochondrial dynamics were documented in pathologies characterized by impaired neuronal development [13]. The above studies suggested a direct link between mitochondrial functionality and 5-HT7R, but they did not investigate the mechanism through which 5-HT7R elicited the observed effects. Considering the increasing number of studies reporting the presence of GPCRs on mitochondrial membranes, we searched the literature to find if 5-HT7Rs were ever localized on mitochondrial membrane, but we did not find any evidence for any cell type.

Thus, we addressed the relationship between 5-HT7R and mitochondrial function by investigating the presence of 5-HT7R on the mitochondrial membrane of the SH-SY5Y cell line. Over the last forty years, the SH-SY5Y cell line has been extensively used as a neuronal model due to experimental limitations caused by the inability of primary neurons to propagate in vitro. Consequently, a wealth of biological research has relied on SH-SY5Y cells as a model to investigate central-nervous-system (CNS) disorders, including neurodevelopmental disorders [14]. It is, therefore, not surprising that SH-SY5Y cells have been used to investigate the effects downstream of the activation of 5-HT7R [15,16].

Consistently, Yuksel and coworkers reported 5-HT7R mRNA expression in SH-SY5Y cells [17], even if no study reported the SH-SY5Y cellular expression of a 5-HT7R protein.

Therefore, we investigated the expression of 5-HT7R in the SH-SY5Y cell line, verifying the presence of the receptor at mitochondrial membranes. Then, we determined the total density (Bmax) of 5-HT7R in SH-SY5Y mitochondrial subfraction via Scatchard analysis. Lastly, we estimated mitochondrial respiratory chain (MRC) cytochrome c oxidase (Complex IV) activity in mitochondria extracted from SH-SY5Y before and after incubation with selective 5-HT7R agonist LP-211 or selective antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 through spectrophotometric assays.

2. Results

2.1. 5-HT7Rs Are Located in Cytosolic and Mitochondrial Fractions of SH-SY5Y Cells

We first investigated the expression of 5-HT7Rs in the SH-SY5Y cell line through immunoblotting analysis of cytosolic and mitochondrial-enriched fractions using a rabbit polyclonal antibody against a sequence identical for all human splice variants of 5-HT7R. As a positive control, we used membranes obtained from HEK 293 cells, stably transfected with cDNA for 5-HT7R that express 5-HT7R. These membranes were the very same used in the radioligand binding assay [18]. Western blot analysis revealed that 5-HT7R was present in both cytosolic and mitochondrial fractions (Figure 1A). Two bands were detected at approximately 40 and 50 KDa in the cytosolic and the mitochondrial-enriched fraction, respectively. This data pattern was observed in at least three independent experiments. Results showed that two forms of 5-HT7R are expressed in SH-SY5Y cells.



Figure 1. (**A**) Expression of 5-HT7R in cytosolic (cyto) and mitochondrial (mito) enriched fractions obtained from SH-SY5Y cell line. Positive control represented by membranes (mem) obtained from 5-HT7R-stably transfected HEK 293 cells. (**B**) Same fractions of SH-SY5Y analyzed to detect β -ATP synthase (mitochondria marker) and β -tubulin (cytosol marker) expression by sequential reprobing on same blot. Molecular mass markers (KDa) indicated on the left.

The expected range was 43–50 KDa and corresponded with the three known 5-HT7R splice variants. 5-HT7R undergoes alternative splicing at the second intron, located in the carboxyl terminus, giving rise to three splice variants in humans (a,b,d) [19]. In addition, 5-HT7R undergoes different post-translational modifications. This receptor contains two consensus sequences for N-linked glycosylation sites in the extracellular N-terminal region [20] and for attachment of saturated fatty acids (i.e., palmitate) to cysteine residues within the protein via thioesterification (S-palmitoylation) [21]. The 40 KDa cytosolic form suggested the presence of a form of the receptor not subjected to post-translational modifications in SH-SY5Y cells [22].

In order to rule out any cross-contamination from the mitochondrial to the cytosolic fraction and vice versa, the same cell fractions were probed using antibodies as marker proteins for specific cellular compartments: an anti- β -ATP synthase antibody for mitochondria, and an anti- β -tubulin antibody for

cytosol. Results showed no β ATP synthase band in the cytosolic fraction and no β -tubulin band in the mitochondrial fraction (Figure 1), indicating that there was no contamination in the analyzed fractions.

2.2. Saturation-Binding Assay

The presence of 5-HT7R in the SH-SY5Y cell line was investigated with saturation-binding analysis. The assay was performed on both whole SH-SY5Y cell membranes and SH-SY5Y cell mitochondrial fractions. Results demonstrated the presence of 5-HT7R in both preparations, albeit with different expressions. SH-SY5Y cell membrane Bmax was 0.51 pmol/mg of protein (Figure 2A), whereas SH-SY5Y cell mitochondrial fraction Bmax was 0.081 pmol/mg of protein (Figure 2B). Furthermore, experiments gave different Kd values for [3 H]SB-269970 in whole SH-SY5Y cells (Kd = 6.55 nM) and SH-SY5Y cells mitochondrial-enriched fraction (Kd = 1.90 nM). For comparative purposes, saturation-binding analysis, performed with membranes obtained from HEK 293 cells stably transfected with cDNA for 5-HT7R, is reported in Figure 2C.



Figure 2. Scatchard analysis with selective 5-HT7R radioligand [³H]SB-269970 on (**A**) whole SH-SY5Y cell membranes, (**B**) mitochondrial-enriched fractions obtained from SH-SY5Y cell line, and (**C**) membranes of 5-HT7R-transfected HEK 293 cells.

Schild regression analysis indicated the presence of a single binding site in the SH-SY5Y cells' mitochondrial-enriched fraction and the presence of an additional binding site in whole SH-SY5Y cell membranes.

2.3. Administration of SB-269970 (but Not LP-211) to Mitochondria Weakly Influences Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain (MRC) Cytochrome c Oxidase Activity

To investigate whether the mitochondrial function is influenced by the activation of 5-HT7Rs located on mitochondria in the SH-SY5Y cell line, mitochondrial respiratory chain (MRC) cytochrome c oxidase activity was measured in mitochondria purified from SH-SY5Y cells after incubation with selective 5-HT7R agonist LP-211 or 5-HT7R antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 (Figure 3). LP-211 or SB-269970 was dissolved in 10% ethanol in H₂O. Mitochondria were incubated for 3 min with LP-211 or SB-269970 (1 μ M) before the measurements. Cytochrome c oxidase activity was 258.6 ± 4.28 nmol/min/mg in H₂O and 286.9 ± 29.41 nmol/min/mg in 10% ethanol in H₂O. Subsequently, the effect of selective 5-HT7R agonist LP-211 or cytochrome c oxidase activity was tested. No statistically significant differences between LP-211 treatment and control were observed. Upon treatment with LP-211, cytochrome c oxidase activity was 292.7 ± 39.51 nmol/min/mg.

Lastly, the effect of selective 5-HT7R antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 on cytochrome c oxidase activity was evaluated. The incubation of mitochondria with SB-269970 resulted in a weak increase in cytochrome c oxidase activity compared to control. Upon treatment with SB-269970, cytochrome c oxidase activity was 303.63 ± 30.48 nmol/min/mg (Figure 3).



Figure 3. SB-269970 showed a weak stimulating effect on cytochrome c oxidase activity, which was spectrophotometrically measured in mitochondrial fractions from SH-SY5Y cells administered with LP-211 and SB-269970 3 min before measurements. Values represent mean rates (nmol/min/mg) \pm SEM obtained from at least four independent experiments. * p < 0.05, nonparametric Wilcoxon test between mitochondria administered with SB-269970 and nontreated mitochondria in two controls. Ctrl-EtOH, 10% EtOH in H₂O.

3. Discussion

5-HT7Rs are expressed in discrete areas of the CNS at the neuronal and astrocyte levels. These receptors are postsynaptically located, and are positively coupled with a Gs or G12 protein [7]. Several studies highlighted the role of 5-HT7R in neuronal plasticity as a key component of the signaling cascade that regulates several processes in various stages of brain development [8]. Studies conducted with selective 5-HT7R agonist LP-211 showed that 5-HT7R activation can correct molecular, electrophysiological, and behavioral defects in various mouse models of neurodevelopmental diseases [7]. Two of the studies showed that 5-HT7R activation is able to reactivate mitochondrial dysfunction in mouse models of Rett syndrome and CDKL5 deficiency [11,12]. The mechanism by which LP-211 had a positive effect on mitochondrial function was not investigated. Serotonin has a role in the biogenesis of mitochondria. In fact, 5-HT2A receptors are responsible for such an effect [23]. There are also studies that provide evidence of the presence of GPCR on mitochondrial membranes, where stimulation of these receptors has an influence on mitochondrial function [2]. This posed the question of whether the observed effect could be mediated by 5-HT7R expressed into mitochondria. From a search of the literature, the presence of 5-HT7R on the mitochondrial membrane has never been investigated. Thus, to address this fascinating issue, we focused on the SH-SY-5Y cell line, which was used to study the cellular effect of 5-HT7R stimulation [15,16]. We first investigated the expression of 5-HT7Rs in the SH-SY5Y cell line through immunoblotting analysis of the cytosolic and the mitochondrial-enriched fractions using a rabbit polyclonal antibody against a sequence identical for all human splice variants of 5-HT7R. Western blot analysis revealed that 5-HT7R was present in both cytosolic and mitochondrial fractions (Figure 1A). Two bands with molecular masses of approximately 40 and 50 KDa were detected, the former present in the cytosolic fraction and the latter in the mitochondrial fraction. The 45-50 KDa range was consistent with the expected molecular mass of 5-HT7R, which has two sites for N-linked glycosylation in the amino terminal region and several sites for phosphorylation. Thus, two protein forms of 5-HT7R could be expressed in SH-SY5Y cells reflecting different levels of glycosylation and/or phosphorylation [22].

Quantification of the 5-HT7R protein was performed by Scatchard analysis in both membranes from whole SH-SY5Y cells and mitochondrial-enriched membranes of SH-SY-5Y cells. We selected radioligand [³H]SB-269970 because it shows greater 5-HT7R selectivity compared to that of [³H]5-CT and [³H]LSD, which are used in routine radioligand binding assays with 5-HT7R-transfected cell lines [24]. 5-HT7R was detected in both preparations at different concentrations. Bmax values were 0.51 pmol/mg of protein (membranes from whole SH-SY-5Y cells) and 0.081 pmol/mg of protein (mitochondrial-enriched membranes of SH-SY-5Y cells). Scatchard analysis agreed with Western blot analysis regarding the expression of 5-HT7R in the mitochondrial membranes of SH-SY5Y cells. The K_d value of [³H]SB-269970 in the mitochondrial-enriched fraction was 1.9 nM, close to the literature value (K_d = 1.7 nM in guinea pig cortex membranes) [25]. In the membranes of whole SY-SH-5Y cells, the K_d value of [³H]SB-269970 was 6.55 nM, different from the literature data. This difference prompted us to investigate whether the radioligand was interacting with one or more binding sites. Hill plot analysis indicated the presence of a single binding site in the mitochondrial-enriched fraction of SH-SY5Y cells (h = 3.4). Considering that [³H]SB-269970 has measurable affinity for 5-HT7a receptor (HT5a Ki = 63.1 nM; 5-HT7 Ki = 1.3 nM) [24], the presence of 5-HT5a receptor protein in membranes of whole SH-SY5Y cells cannot be ruled out.

To our knowledge, this is the first demonstration that 5-HT7R is expressed in the mitochondrial membrane of SH-SY5Y cells.

Once we had detected the presence of 5-HT7Rs on mitochondrial membranes, we tested if 5-HT7R agonist LP-211 or antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 had an effect on the activity of cytochrome c oxidase, which is a critical regulator of oxidative phosphorylation and used as a marker of neural functional activity [26,27]. A recent study showed that stimulation of mitochondrial cannabinoid receptor 1 in a mouse's hippocampus, coupled with an intramitochondrial Gai protein, inhibits a soluble adenylyl cyclase, thereby reducing intramitochondrial cAMP levels. This caused a decrease in oxidative phosphorylation system functions and ATP production. These events led to a decrease in brain mitochondrial function required for the acute effects of cannabinoids on synaptic depression and consequent amnesia [28]. Our test showed that 5-HT7R antagonist (inverse agonist) SB-269970 weakly increased cytochrome c oxidase activity, as estimated on mitochondria isolated and purified [29] from the investigated cells. Results indicated that the increase in cAMP caused by LP-211 had no significant effect on cytochrome c oxidase activity. On the other hand, the weak increase in cytochrome c oxidase activity elicited by 5-HT7R inverse agonist SB-269970 might be linked to a reduction in the intramitochondrial levels of cAMP. This might be compatible with findings showing variations of intramitochondrial cAMP levels may upregulate or downregulate cytochrome c oxidase activity [30].

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Drugs

SB-269970 ((2R)-1-([3-Hydroxyphenyl]sulfonyl)-2-(2-[4-methyl-1-piperidinyl]ethyl)pyrrolidine hydrochloride—CAS no. 261901-57-9) was purchased by Tocris Bioscience, Bristol, UK. LP-211 (*N*-(4-cyanophenylmethyl)-4-(2-diphenyl)-1-piperazinehexanamide—CAS no. 1052147-86-0) was provided by Enza Lacivita and Marcello Leopoldo.

4.2. Cell Culture

SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells (cat. CRL-2266, ATCC, LGC Standards, Sesto San Giovanni, Italy) were cultured in a 1:1 mixture of Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (cat. 15-010-CVR, Corning, SIAL, Roma, Italy) and Ham's F12 Medium (cat. 10-080-CVR, Corning). This medium was supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (cat. 35-079-CV, Corning), 1% (v/v) glutamine (cat. ECB3000D, Euro Clone, Pero, Italy) and 1% (v/v) penicillin–streptomycin (cat.30-002-CI, Corning). Cells were cultured in T75 flasks at 37 °C with 5% CO₂ at saturated humidity and kept below 25 passage to avoid senescence.

4.3. Mitochondrial-Enriched Fraction

Cells grown in T75 flasks were detached and centrifuged at 125 *g* for 5 min, the supernatant was discarded, and cells were resuspended in Ringer NaCl buffer (135 mM NaCl, 20 mM HEPES, 0.8 mM MgSO₄, 3 mM KCl, 1.8 mM CaCl₂, 11 mM D-glucose, pH = 7.5) [31]. Afterward, cells were centrifuged at 125 *g* for 5 min, suspended in 2 mL of A buffer (sucrose 320 mM, Tris-HCl 5 mM, EGTA 2 mM, pH = 7.4), and homogenized with a glass–Teflon grinder kept in ice. The homogenate was centrifuged at 4 °C for 6 min at 2000 *g* to remove nuclei and tissue particles, while the supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 4 °C for 15 min at 12,000 *g* to pellet mitochondria. Lastly, the pellet was washed with a buffer in order to reduce the cytosolic contamination.

4.4. Western Blot Analysis

The mitochondrial-enriched fraction, as described above, was obtained, and treated with RIPA buffer (cat. R0278, Sigma Aldrich, SIAL, Roma, Italy) and protease inhibitor cocktail (cat. P8340, Sigma Aldrich). The mitochondrial lysate was centrifuged at 4 °C for 15 min at 12,000 g, and protein concentration in the supernatant was dosed with DC Protein Assay (cat. 500111, Bio-Rad, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Segrate, Italy). Denatured proteins were separated through SDS-PAGE using Mini Protean TGX Stain-Free gels at 10% polyacrylamide (cat. 456-8034, Bio-Rad) and transferred in a 0.2 um PVDF membrane (cat. 1704156, Bio-Rad) using Trans Turbo Blot Transfer System. Membranes were blocked with 5% nonfat milk in TBS-Tween 20 0.1% for 1 h at room temperature and incubated overnight with an anti-5-HT7 (cat. IMG-368, dilution 1:125, Imgenex, Bio-TECHNE, Milano, Italy), anti- β -tubulin (cat. T8328, Sigma Aldrich, dilution 1:5000) and anti- β -ATP synthase (cat. MABS1304, EMD Millipore, dilution 1:1000) antibodies. Membranes were rinsed three times in TBS-Tween 20 0.1% and incubated with either antimouse (cat. G-21040, dilution 1:2000, ThermoFisher Scientific, Life Technologies Italia, Monza, Italy) or antirabbit (cat. AP307P, dilution 1:2000, EMD Millipore, Sigma Aldrich) antibody. Blots were revealed using Clarity Western ECL Substrate (cat. 170-5060, Bio-Rad) through UVITEC Cambridge Chemiluminescence Imaging System.

4.5. Cytochrome c Oxidase Activity Measurements

To estimate cytochrome c oxidase (Complex IV) activity, we performed spectrophotometric assays with or without mitochondrial treatment with selective 5-HT7R agonist LP-211 (1 μ M) or 5-HT7R antagonist SB-269970 (1 μ M), using a standard method [29] with some modifications. LP-211 or SB-269970 was dissolved in 10% ethanol in H₂O because of low solubility in pure H₂O. To evaluate the effect of ethanol in the medium, the activity of cytochrome c oxidase was measured by incubating mitochondria for 3 min using H₂O or 10% ethanol in H₂O. No significant difference in cytochrome c oxidase activity was observed between the two tests. Mitochondria, obtained as described above, were subjected to three cycles of freeze and thaw in hypotonic potassium phosphate buffer (20 mM, pH = 7.4) to maximize the enzymatic rates. Then, 50 µg of mitochondria was incubated for 3 min with LP-211 (1 μ M) or SB-269970 (1 μ M) in 10% ethanol in H₂O or the medium alone, as the control condition in a solution composed by 250 μ L of potassium phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH = 7.5), 5 μ L of n-dodecyl- β -D-maltoside (150 mM), and H₂O to reach the volume of 950 μ L in cuvette. The reaction began by adding 50 μ L of reduced cytochrome c (1 mM). The decrease in absorbance at λ = 550 nm due to the oxidation of cytochrome c was monitored. Cytochrome c oxidase specific activity was checked by adding 20 μ L of KCN 60 mM.

4.6. SH-SY5Y Membrane Preparation for Saturation-Binding Assay

The membrane preparation was carried out as described by Colabufo et al. with minor modifications [32]. Briefly, SH-SY5Y cells were cultured to 80% confluence; then, the medium was removed, and cells were rinsed in PBS. After detaching, cells were suspended in ice-cold 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), containing 0.32 M sucrose and homogenized in a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer

(Teflon pestle). The homogenate was centrifuged at 31,000 g for 15 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was discarded. The final pellet was resuspended in ice-cold 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) and stored at -80 °C until use.

4.7. Saturation-Binding Assay

Saturation experiments were carried out as previously reported with minor modification [18]. 5-HT7Rs were radiolabeled using [³H]-SB269970 (PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA, USA) at concentrations in the range of 0.1–20 nM. Samples containing 100 μ g of SH-SY5Y cells membranes or 70 μ g of SH-SY5Y cells mitochondrial-enriched fraction, radioligand, and 10 μ M SB-269970 (Tocris Bioscience, Bristol, UK) to determine nonspecific binding were incubated in a final volume of 0.5 mL (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 4 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% ascorbic acid, 10 μ M pargyline hydrochloride) for 20 min at 37 °C. The suspension was filtered through a Whatman GF/C glass microfiber filter (presoaked in 0.3% polyethylenimine for at least 20 min prior to use). Filters were washed 3 times with 1 mL of ice-cold buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4). Scatchard parameters (K_d and B_{max}) and Hill slope (n_H) were determined by nonlinear curve fitting, using Prism version 5.0 GraphPad software.

4.8. Statistical Analysis

Scatchard analysis data were analyzed by applying one-way repeated-measures analysis of variance (ANOVA test), and unpaired t test followed as a post hoc test. Results were reported as mean \pm SEM (standard error of the mean) of at least two to three independent experiments, performed in triplicate. Statistical significance was accepted at *p* < 0.05. Similarly, cytochrome c oxidase activity data represent mean rates (nmol/min/mg) \pm SEM obtained from at least four independent experiments. *, *p* < 0.05, nonparametric Wilcoxon test between mitochondria administered with LP-211 and SB-269970, and nontreated mitochondria.

5. Conclusions

The data presented here are the first evidence that 5-HT7R is expressed in mitochondria on the human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cell line. These results are of great relevance in future studies to investigate the expression and functional role of 5-HT7R on the mitochondria of primary neuronal cultures. These aspects are particularly fascinating considering the role of 5-HT7R in neural circuit development and structural plasticity [33], and the role of mitochondria in synaptic transmission [34] in physiological conditions and pathologies characterized by mitochondrial dysfunction, such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and Fragile X syndrome.

Author Contributions: M.L., E.L., and C.L.P. conceived the study and designed the experiments. M.L., E.L., and C.L.P. supervised the study. A.T., L.L., and L.T. prepared the mitochondrial membrane; A.T. and M.F. performed Western blotting experiments; M.N. performed saturation binding experiments; A.T., D.M., and G.P. performed experiments on MRC cytochrome c oxidase activity. L.C. revised the statistical analysis. E.L., M.L., and C.L.P. wrote the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was partially support by a grant from the Alzheimer's Association (AARG-NTF-18-565227) to E.L.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Abbreviations

5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine
cAMP	cyclic Adenosine MonoPhosphate
CNS	Central Nervous System
GPCR	G-protein-coupled receptor
MCR	Mitochondrial respiratory chain

References

- Sriram, K.; Insel, P.A. G Protein-Coupled receptors as targets for approved drugs: How many targets and how many Drugs? *Mol. Pharmacol.* 2018, 93, 251–258. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jong, Y.I.; Harmon, S.K.; O'Malley, K.L. Intracellular GPCRs play key roles in synaptic plasticity. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 2018, 9, 2162–2172. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Belous, A.; Wakata, A.; Knox, C.D.; Nicoud, I.B.; Pierce, J.; Anderson, C.D.; Pinson, C.W.; Chari, R.S. Mitochondrial P2Y-Like receptors link cytosolic adenosine nucleotides to mitochondrial calcium uptake. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 2004, 92, 1062–1073. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abadir, P.M.; Walston, J.D.; Carey, R.M. Subcellular characteristics of functional intracellular renin-angiotensin systems. *Peptides* 2012, 38, 437–445. [CrossRef]
- Wang, Q.; Zhang, H.; Xu, H.; Guo, D.; Shi, H.; Li, Y.; Zhang, W.; Gu, Y. 5HTR3 and 5-HTR4 located on the mitochondrial membrane and functionally regulated mitochondrial functions. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, 37336. [CrossRef]
- Suofu, Y.L.W.; Jean-Alphonse, F.G.; Jia, J.; Khattar, N.K.; Li, J.; Baranov, S.V.; Leronni, D.; Mihalik, A.C.; He, Y.; Cecon, E.; et al. Dual role of mitochondria in producing melatonin and driving GPCR signaling to block cytochrome c release. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2017, *114*, E7997–E8006. [CrossRef]
- Modica, M.N.; Lacivita, E.; Intagliata, S.; Salerno, L.; Romeo, G.; Pittalà, V.; Leopoldo, M. Structure-activity relationships and therapeutic potentials of 5-HT7 receptor ligands: An update. *J. Med. Chem.* 2018, *61*, 8475–8503. [CrossRef]
- Crispino, M.; Volpicelli, F.; Perrone-Capano, C. Role of the serotonin receptor 7 in brain plasticity: From development to disease. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2020, 21, 505. [CrossRef]
- Costa, L.; Sardone, L.M.; Bonaccorso, C.M.; D'Antoni, S.; Spatuzza, M.; Gulisano, W.; Tropea, M.R.; Puzzo, D.; Leopoldo, M.; Lacivita, E.; et al. Activation of Serotonin 5-HT7 Receptors Modulates Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity by Stimulation of Adenylate Cyclases and Rescues Learning and Behavior in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 2018, *11*, 353. [CrossRef]
- Hedlund, P.B.; Leopoldo, M.; Caccia, S.; Sarkisyan, G.; Fracasso, C.; Martelli, G.; Lacivita, E.; Berardi, F.; Perrone, R. LP-211 is a brain penetrant selective agonist for the serotonin 5-HT7 receptor. *Neurosci. Lett.* 2010, 481, 12–16. [CrossRef]
- Valenti, D.; de Bari, L.; Vigli, D.; Lacivita, E.; Leopoldo, M.; Laviola, G.; Vacca, R.A.; De Filippis, B. Stimulation of the brain serotonin receptor 7 rescues mitochondrial dysfunction in female mice from two models of Rett syndrome. *Neuropharmacology* 2017, 121, 79–88. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vigli, D.; Rusconi, L.; Valenti, D.; La Montanara, P.; Cosentino, L.; Lacivita, E.; Leopoldo, M.; Amendola, E.; Gross, C.; Landsberger, N.; et al. Rescue of prepulse inhibition deficit and brain mitochondrial dysfunction by pharmacological stimulation of the central serotonin receptor 7 in a mouse model of CDKL5 Deficiency Disorder. *Neuropharmacology* 2019, 144, 104–114. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rangaraju, V.; Lewis, T.L., Jr.; Hirabayashi, Y.; Bergami, M.; Motori, E.; Cartoni, R.; Kwon, S.K.; Courchet, J. Pleiotropic mitochondria: The influence of mitochondria on neuronal development and disease. *J. Neurosci.* 2019, 39, 8200–8208. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Yusuf, M.; Leung, K.; Morris, K.J.; Volpi, E.V. Comprehensive cytogenomic profile of the invitro neuronal model SH-SY5Y. *Neurogenetics* 2013, 14, 63–70. [CrossRef]
- Samarajeewa, A.; Goldemann, L.; Vasefi, M.S.; Ahmed, N.; Gondora, N.; Khanderia, C.; Mielke, J.G.; Beazely, M.A. 5-HT7 receptor activation promotes an increase in TrkB receptor expression and phosphorylation. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 2014, *8*, 391. [CrossRef]
- Vasefi, M.S.; Kruk, J.S.; Liu, H.; Heikkila, J.J.; Beazely, M.A. Activation of 5-HT7 receptors increases neuronal platelet-derived growth factor β receptor expression. *Neurosci. Lett.* 2012, 511, 65–69. [CrossRef]
- Yuksel, T.N.; Yayla, M.; Halici, Z.; Cadirci, E.; Polat, B.; Kose, D. Protective effect of 5-HT7 receptor activation against glutamate-induced neurotoxicity in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells via antioxidative and antiapoptotic pathways. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 2019, 72, 22–28. [CrossRef]
- Lacivita, E.; Niso, M.; Stama, M.L.; Arzuaga, A.; Altamura, C.; Costa, L.; Desaphy, J.F.; Ragozzino, M.E.; Ciranna, L.; Leopoldo, M. Privileged scaffold-based design to identify a novel drug-like 5-HT7 receptor-preferring agonist to target Fragile X syndrome. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2020, 199, 112395. [CrossRef]

- Heidmann, D.E.; Metcalf, M.A.; Kohen, R.; Hamblin, M.W. Four 5-hydroxytryptamine7 (5-HT7) receptor isoforms in human and rat produced by alternative splicing: Species differences due to altered intron-exon organization. J. Neurochem. 1997, 68, 1372–1381. [CrossRef]
- Lovenberg, T.; Baron, B.; de Lecea, L.; Miller, J.; Prosser, R.; Rea, M.; Foye, P.; Racke, M.; Slone, A.; Siegel, B.; et al. A novel adenylyl cyclase-activating serotonin receptor (5-HT7) implicated in the regulation of mammalian circadian rhythms. *Neuron* 1993, *11*, 449–458. [CrossRef]
- 21. Gorinski, N.; Ponimaskin, E. Palmitoylation of serotonin receptors. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 2013, 41, 89–94. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mahé, C.; Bernhard, M.; Bobirnac, I.; Keser, C.; Loetscher, E.; Feuerbach, D.; Dev, K.K.; Schoeffter, P. Functional expression of the serotonin 5-HT7 receptor in human glioblastoma cell lines. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2004, 143, 404–410. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fanibunda, S.E.; Deb, S.; Maniyadath, B.; Tiwari, P.; Ghai, U.; Gupta, S.; Figueiredo, D.; Weisstaub, N.; Gingrich, J.A.; Vaidya, A.D.B.; et al. Serotonin regulates mitochondrial biogenesis and function in rodent cortical neurons via the 5-HT2A receptor and SIRT1-PGC-1α axis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2019, *116*, 11028–11037. [CrossRef]
- Lovell, P.J.; Bromidge, S.M.; Dabbs, S.; Duckworth, D.M.; Forbes, I.T.; Jennings, A.J.; King, F.D.; Middlemiss, D.N.; Rahman, S.K.; Saunders, D.V.; et al. A novel, potent, and selective 5-HT7 antagonist: (R)-3-(2-(2-(4-methylpiperidin-1-yl)ethyl)pyrrolidine-1-sulfonyl) phen ol (SB-269970). *J. Med. Chem.* 2000, 43, 342–345. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Thomas, D.R.; Atkinson, P.J.; Ho, M.; Bromidge, S.M.; Lovell, P.J.; Villani, A.J.; Hagan, J.J.; Middlemiss, D.N.; Price, G.W. [3H]-SB-269970–A selective antagonist radioligand for 5-HT7 receptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2000, 130, 409–417. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hevner, R.F.; Wong-Riley, M.T. Brain cytochrome oxidase: Purification, antibody production, and immunohistochemical/histochemical correlations in the CNS. J. Neurosci. 1989, 9, 3884–3898. [CrossRef]
- Hüttemann, M.; Lee, I.; Grossman, L.I.; Doan, J.W.; Sanderson, T.H. Phosphorylation of mammalian cytochrome c and cytochrome c oxidase in the regulation of cell destiny: Respiration, apoptosis, and human disease. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 2012, 748, 237–264. [CrossRef]
- Hebert-Chatelain, E.; Desprez, T.; Serrat, R.; Bellocchio, L.; Soria-Gomez, E.; Busquets-Garcia, A.; Pagano Zottola, A.C.; Delamarre, A.; Cannich, A.; Vincent, P.; et al. A cannabinoid link between mitochondria and memory. *Nature* 2016, *539*, 555–559. [CrossRef]
- 29. Spinazzi, M.; Casarin, A.; Pertegato, V.; Salviati, L.; Angelini, C. Assessment of mitochondrial respiratory chain enzymatic activities on tissues and cultured cells. *Nat. Protoc.* **2012**, *7*, 1235–1246. [CrossRef]
- 30. Valsecchi, F.; Ramos-Espiritu, L.S.; Buck, J.; Levin, L.R.; Manfredi, G. cAMP and mitochondria. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 2013, 28, 199–209. [CrossRef]
- Palacino, J.; Sagi, D.; Goldberg, M.; Krauss, S.; Motz, C.; Wacker, M.; Klose, J.; Shen, J. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage in parkin-deficient mice. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 18614–18622. [CrossRef]
- Colabufo, N.A.; Berardi, F.; Contino, M.; Niso, M.; Abate, C.; Perrone, R.; Tortorella, V. Antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects of some sigma2 agonists and sigma1 antagonists in tumour cell lines. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 2004, 370, 106–113. [CrossRef]
- 33. Volpicelli, F.; Speranza, L.; di Porzio, U.; Crispino, M.; Perrone-Capano, C. The serotonin receptor 7 and the structural plasticity of brain circuits. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* **2014**, *8*, 318. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Lee, A.; Hirabayashi, Y.; Kwon, S.K.; Lewis, T.L., Jr.; Polleux, F. Emerging roles of mitochondria in synaptic transmission and neurodegeneration. *Curr. Opin. Physiol.* **2018**, *3*, 82–93. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge my supervisor Prof. Lucia Ciranna for giving me the opportunity to take part to this Ph.D program and for passing down her love for research. Her knowledge, guidance and advice have encouraged me in all the time of my academic research.

I am extremely grateful to Dr. Lara Costa for her support during all these years and for offering encouragement with a perfect blend of insight and humor.

Special thanks to Prof. Marcello Leopoldo as well as Prof. Enza Lacivita for their guidance during my first PhD year and for providing valuable guidance and feedback. I am deeply indebted to Dr. Maria Favia, who taught me to trust myself.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Barbara Bardoni for all the support during my abroad period and wise suggestions for my future carrier in this field. I am looking forward to working with you again. I warmly thank Marielle Jarjat, for each constructive scientific advice and comments. She always encouraged me and she made me feel in the laboratory as in a family.

I could not have undertaken this journey without my colleagues Mariarita Spampinato, Giuseppe Carota, Alfio Distefano, Lia Emma and Virginia Fuochi who have been friends and siblings. Words cannot express my gratitude to Serena Abatematteo and Margherita Mastromarino: thank you for being there during this journey. My thanks also go to my colleagues Asma Boulksibat and Sébastien Delhaye, I promise that I will correctly pronounce "Globules".

Finally, I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents and to my sister Elena. Their trust in me has kept my spirits and motivation high during these years. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them. Thank you.